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S. 219-REGULATORY TRANSITION ACT OF 1995

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 22, 1995

U.S. Senate,
Committee on Governmental Affairs,

Washington, DC.

The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:04 a.m., in room
SD-342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. William V. Roth, Jr.,

Chairman of the Committee, presiding.

Present: Senators Roth, Glenn, Levin, and Lieberman.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN ROTH
Chairman RoTH. The Committee will please be in order.

Today, at the request of the minority, we are holding a hearing
on S. 219, the Regulatory Transition Act of 1995. Senator Nickles,

the prime sponsor of S. 219, has modified the bill to address some
of the concerns raised about it and the House counterpart, H.R.
450. Major modifications include limiting the scope of the legisla-

tion to significant rules, as defined in the President's Executive
Order 12866, as well as increasing the President's authority to

make exceptions to the moratorium and providing some limitation

on judicial review.
I want to express my appreciation to the witnesses for making

themselves available today, and I would ask that each witness
limit his or her oral testimony to 7 minutes. The written statement
of each witness will be included in the record, and the warning
light will go on when one minute remains.
Senator Glenn?

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR GLENN
Senator Glenn. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
As you have indicated, we did request this hearing. We were

going to markup without what I thought was adequate hearing,
and I appreciate very much your calling this hearing this morning,
because I think this regulatory moratorium legislation has very sig-

nificant consequences for the Federal Government and for the
American people.

At our first regulatory reform hearing, on February 7, I ex-
pressed sympathy for many of the reform goals mentioned by Sen-
ator NicMes, the sponsor of S. 219. Federal regulations are often
promulgated with inadequate attention to their costs, and too few
appear ever to be reviewed once they have been implemented.
As it came out at our hearing that day, much of the fault lies

right here in Congress in the laws we pass and some of the statu-
tory requirements we put on. I hadn't heard that case put forward
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quite as well and as strenuously as it was at that particular hear-
ing. It indicates that maybe the fault isn't quite as much over in

0MB and OIRA and some of the agencies, as most of us had
thought.

It also stressed that what we are tr5dng to deal with in these
rules and regulations is basically common sense, more than any-
thing else, just plain old common sense that people don't go off and
write rules and regulations in a way that was never intended here
on the Hill.

When we come to putting a complete moratorium on rules as a
way of solving this, I just don't think that is the way you do it. I

have to draw the line on that one. Stopping the regulatory process
is neither a substitute for reform nor an aid to such reform, and
I believe it will only add to gridlock. I think it will employ more
lawyers.

I think it will harm the public when important rules are held up,

and this will further damage the government's reputation in the
eyes of the public. I don't think it will make things better. The peo-
ple want a government that works better. They don't want a gov-
ernment that does nothing at all, and that is basically what this

legislation would say that we should do.

I think there are many unintended results of this legislation that
can happen, and let me just give one example. I think, probably,
most people here saw in the paper a few days ago in the Washing-
ton Post, "Bird Hunters Face Loss of Their Season". This is one ex-

ample, out of the Washington Post, on the 17th. "Unintended re-

sults seen in regulation moratorium."
Who would ever think that the duck hunters would have a prob-

lem if we would go into a moratorium, and yet, I believe the paper
says it is a $3.6 billion a year industry and 43,000 jobs depend on
it. Because you have to put these regulations out every year after

consultation with the States, there won't be regulations this year
if we go through with a moratorium. So that is one thing that gets

wiped out. That is just one little example.
Another one is subsistence hunting in Alaska, where the Eski-

mos, Native Alaskans, and others have subsistence hunting there.

That has been held to be their right, but it is done with regula-
tions. There will be no regulations now, so they won't be able to

do that. I hope Senator Stevens shows up in a little bit. I know he
will have a few words to say about that; I would be surprised if

he didn't.

There is another one. A moratorium, it says, would short-circuit

regulations governing last month's experimental reintroduction of
wolves in Idaho and Yellowstone National Park. Those rules allow
the wolves to be shot by ranchers if they prey on livestock, but with
a moratorium in place, Interior officials say, the wolves would
enjoy the full protection of the Endangered Species Act. A rancher
who shot a wolf would then be subject to a $100,000 fine and a one-
year jail term.
These are just some of the examples of things. These I bring up

just to show how their unintended consequences. And that doesn't
even cover things that we will have testimony later on today about,
which are much more important, where human life is involved if

some regulations are not permitted to go into effect.



I know the administration has set a goal of having their review
of regulations done by the 1st of June. I hope that that can be
done. I think the President made a statement about that, and I am
sure Ms. Katzen will have some comment on that in her testimony,
in having the regulation review and the recommendations for

changes.
A moratorium itself doesn't change anything. If we just stop ev-

erything, then it requires regulatory review legislation later on.

What if we don't get the regulatory review legislation? We just stop
things for a year, and still no regulatory review legislation, I think
it is very fortunate that the administration, the President, has gone
ahead with an Executive Order a year ago, so that whole process
is underway right now.
As the President also said yesterday, I think some of the pro-

ponents of S. 219 are trying to get by moratorium what they could
not get by amendment or changes when the laws were originally

passed.
My view of it right now, at least, and I am open to having my

mind changed on it, is that what we have set up is a moratorium
and no regulatory review. If the intention of this legislation is to

shut government down, this is a great bill. Outside of that, I guess,
I like it all right, outside of that.

I agree with the intention of going back and checking all the
rules and regulations. I think that is good. We need that; there is

no doubt about that. But doing it this way, with such a sledge-
hammer approach, I think, is just flat wrong. I think it is a mis-
guided effort.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ROTH. Senator Lieberman?

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR LIEBERMAN
Senator Lieberman. Mr. Chairman, I just walked in, but having

heard just the last few sentences of Senator Glenn's comments, I

think I should limit my opening remarks to, "Amen, Brother."
Obviously, none of us should have a response here of defending

the regulatory status quo, because all of us know from our own ex-
periences out in real life, outside of the beltway, when we go and
visit our constituents, that the accumulation of regulation, most of
it so well motivated when it started out here as legislation, not cre-

ated out of the evil intention of Members of Congress but created
in response to real problems that have been perceived, nonetheless,
one goes from these responses to problems to legislation to regula-
tion and then to enforcement, and the end product is often not rea-
sonable. The cumulative effect is often quite burdensome on those
who are regulated.

I think there is a broad bipartisan consensus to that effect, but
to just say, "stop" endangers a lot of values and undercuts one of
the fundamental roles of government, which is protection of the
public from threats that they cannot protect themselves from.
We have to figure out a way to do this better, but the answer

is not to stop doing it altogether. This would not be a very safe or
happy society if we did that, and it is in that spirit that I want
to begin this hearing.

I thank you, Mr. Chairman.



Chairman ROTH. Thank you, Senator Lieberman.
I think it is important that it be understood that the legislation

before us does not stop all regulatory action. In fact, the new legis-

lation is limited to significant rulemaking actions.

I would just point out that while there isn't a broad consensus

at this stage as to exactly how to address the problem, there is a

pretty broad consensus that there are bad regulations on the books.

I just point out that in the President's press conference yester-

day, he, himself, admitted that there are good regulations, bad reg-

ulations, and in between regulations. He made the statement that

it would stop the government from authorizing burials at Arlington

Cemetery. I think if you looked at the new language before us, and
one of the purposes of this hearing is to determine the adequacy
of the modified language, it does not stop what are normally some-

what routine administrative actions, but it is limited, as I said, to

those that are significant regulatory reforms.

As the President himself says, while there are good regulations,

there are bad regulations. I think the question we want to ask the

administration is how we address and deal with those bad regula-

tions.

Senator Glenn. Mr. Chairman, could I respond just a moment?
You mentioned the burials at Arlington. Let me talk about that for

just one second, since you brought it up.

The rule would extend eligibility for internment at Arlington Na-
tional Cemetery to any former P.O.W. who, while a P.O.W., served

honorably in the active military, naval, or air service. They have
been denied that before. This is not a routine administrative action.

It was a brand new rule required. They are prohibited, by law,

from going in there right now.
All former P.O.W.'s who die after the authorization, under a mor-

atorium, would be denied eligibility. This would needlessly dis-

honor deserving veterans who died after the 1994 Authorization

Act was implemented. The interim rule was published in Novem-
ber.

You say that is just a normal administrative action. It is prohib-

ited, by law, to take that administrative action unless you make
this change, so that is a good example.
Chairman ROTH. There is no question that, the point you made

earlier, some of the laws need to be revised.

Senator Glenn. Absolutely.

Chairman ROTH. I think we share that concern. It was the hope
of some of us that the President, like his predecessors, would have
brought about an executive moratorium, because then he would
have had the discretion and authority to avoid some of the pitfalls

you are now raising.

But I think we are all in agreement, that whatever we do, what-
ever we finally enact, should not create the kind of problems that

are raised by some of the anecdotes brought up by you, as well as

others.

Senator Levin, would you like to make some opening remarks?

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR LEVIN

Senator Levin. Mr. Chairman, let me be very brief.



I think this bill has some massive problems, substantive, prac-

tical, theoretical, procedural. It is going to tie up huge amounts of

time and resources which could be better placed in working on sub-

stantive and lasting regulatory reform. We are going to see our
agency personnel tied up in knots for the length of this morato-
rium, trying to figure out what its meaning is, answering litigation,

trying to figure out ambiguous terms. I just think that it is not a
common sense approach to regulatory reform.

We need regulatory reform. We have some significant regulatory

reform bills before us. But I am afraid that, instead of addressing
those regulatory reform bills over the next year, we are going to be
tied up trying to figure out the meaning of this moratorium, in-

stead.

It also, I think, will do damage to a host of industries and organi-

zations who have played by the rules, who have followed the proc-

ess, and, deservedly, expect some action on rules that they have
been working on.

We have a fishing industry that, I believe, is waiting for rules

to be promulgated. We have a textile industry that is waiting for

rules to be promulgated, that they want. At least the way I read
these rules, we have rules here that are needed by many industries

in order that they can proceed in ways that are important to them.
We have the fishing industry in the Great Lakes that is trying

to stop ballast from being dumped into the Great Lakes from for-

eign sources. It has created major problems for the Great Lakes,
the so-called zebra mussel, which came in in ballast, dumped into

the Great Lakes. We want to stop it. There is a pending rule which
will prevent that from happening with other kinds of so-called ex-

otic species. If you put a moratorium on that, you are doing signifi-

cant damage to the fishing industry in the Great Lakes.
You have shrimpers down in Alabama, Mississippi, and Louisi-

ana who are waiting for a rule that they, at least the way I read
it, want, which will prevent foreign shrimpers fi'om having a com-
petitive advantage over them.
We have a textile industry that is trying to prevent the rules on

textiles fi-om being circumvented by so-called country-of-origin

rules. We need those rules for our own industries.

So in the name of trying to reduce regulatory burdens, we have
this moratorium, which may sound good because it sounds like it

is slowing down or it is anti-regulation. But it has some very nega-
tive effects on our economy, not just on the environment. That is

another whole area. I am talking about our economy, the busi-

nesses that have waited and worked very hard to get rules passed
which will assist them.

Mr. Chairman, again, I really hope that we will take the time to

analyze this, that we will not rush to a markup and rush a bill to

the floor which can have the kind of unintended consequences that
I am afi-aid this legislation will have.
Chairman Roth. Thank you. Senator Levin.
With that, let me welcome and thank you for being here today,

the three witnesses representing the administration. Ms. Katzen,
we appreciate your being here, and I would ask you to begin.



TESTIMONY OF SALLY KATZEN, ADMINISTRATOR, OFFICE OF
INFORMATION AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS, OFFICE OF MAN-
AGEMENT AND BUDGET
Ms. Katzen. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, Members of

the Committee.
I am Sally Katzen, the Administrator of the Office of Information

and Regulatory Affairs at 0MB. I appreciate the opportunity to dis-

cuss with you S. 219, the Regulatory Transition Act of 1995.

Two weeks ago, on February 7, at the request of the ranking
member. Senator Glenn, I submitted a statement for the record on
S. 219. That statement tracked the testimony I had given in the
House on H.R. 450, which was virtually the same as S. 219, as
originally introduced.

Since then, H.R. 450 has been marked up and reported out of

government Reform and Oversight and will be coming to the House
floor tomorrow.
The President spoke yesterday about the regulatory system and

he talked specifically about the moratorium proposal. He said it

was unacceptable. He expressed his commitment to regulatory re-

form and he outlined a series of specific actions that he was direct-

ing agency officials to take to bring back common sense and to re-

duce the hassle of regulation.

There are too many regulations. Some are too costly, too
invasive, and some are simply outdated. But the solution is to look
at those regulations and the statutes that produced them. A mora-
torium, he said, is not reform. It is rigor mortis.

As the Chairman mentioned, he also said it would stop all regu-
lations. It would stop good regulations, bad regulations, in between
regulations, all regulations.

I would like to use my limited time in oral testimony to follow

up on several of the points that the President made yesterday, rec-

ognizing that, yesterday afternoon, along with your invitation to

testify, I received what I understand is a staff draft of proposed re-

visions to S. 219 that the Chairman mentioned in his opening
statement, which incorporates some changes that are responsive to

some of the issues that we had identified in our earlier testimony.
First, it is important, as all of you have recognized, to acknowl-

edge that not all regulations are bad, nor are they all good. In fact,

a regulation is not inherently good or bad. It depends on how it is

chosen, how it is written, and, as Senator Lieberman was mention-
ing, how it is enforced. Those are all part of the puzzle.

President Clinton cited yesterday his Executive Order No. 12866,
which is built on two basic premises. First, the government has the
responsibility to govern, including the responsibility to protect the
public, through regulation, when the American people, acting in ac-

cordance with their constitutional processes, decides that it should.
That is what regulation does. It implements Congressional intent.

Second, the government has the responsibility to govern wisely
and carefully, regulating only when necessary, no more than need-
ed, and only in the most cost-effective manner.
Without revisiting the past, what happened before our watch, I

can say that I am proud of what this administration has been
doing to begin to reform the regulatory system, but we recognize
that a lot more needs to be done. We have indicated our interest



in working with the Congress to craft legislation that would im-
prove the regulatory system. We want to move forward.

Regrettably, S. 219 does not move us forward in correcting the
underlying problems. Each of you have said, there are bad regula-

tions on the books. S. 219 will not touch one of those regulations.

It will not help find them, it will not help analyze them, and it will

not help eliminate them. It would substitute an arbitrary adminis-
trative process for substantive improvements. Moreover, it creates

a number of traps that will only divert us from the more important
work that we both want to accomplish.
The first general issue that we have discussed is coverage. Which

regulations would be trapped in the moratorium? Though the staff

draft limits coverage to significant regulatory action, it is still a
large set, nearly 900 rules a year, under the 0MB definition of that

term.
And, questions will still arise about the exceptions written into

the text. Does international affairs include Department of Com-
merce rules affecting domestic manufacturers who export products?
Does public property include public lands administered by the De-
partments of Agriculture and Interior? Is a regulation establishing

auditing procedures for tracking Federal funds an action related to

grants or loans? And, does the exclusion for contracts include all

procurement-related regulation?
Consider, also, the exception process. The agency head must peti-

tion, in writing, the President of the United States and send copies

to the Congress, and the President must make a written finding
that a waiver is appropriate under the terms of the bill, one of

which is an imminent threat to human health and safety. How im-
minent is imminent? What are the other emergencies that are in-

cluded here?
But in any event, in addition to elevating these issues to the

Presidential level, the bill calls for various inventories and reports
and reports and reports. This is all paperwork. This Committee,
more than any other, has demonstrated its commitment to reduce
paperwork, not just to save trees, but to focus our resources on
what needs to be done instead of writing about it.

Part of the coverage issue is also the duration, starting well over
3 months ago, on November 9, 1994, and possibly extending until

December 31, 1995, one-half of the time left until the next election,

a long time.
And consider the retroactivity. The moratorium is to begin on

November 9, the only significance of which is that it is the day
after the last election, not even the day that the newly-elected Con-
gressmen were sworn in. And, indeed, their predecessors recon-
vened and passed legislation approving the GATT treaty during the
moratorium period.
How will the retroactivity work? According to the text here, for

final rules, they will be suspended 30 days after enactment of this

bill, which is sometime in the future. So for a final rule, it will al-

ready be in effect. Then it will be suspended, and the moratorium
period will end and it will be reinstituted. I think that is going to

introduce a fair amount of confusion, uncertainty, and chaos.
It also can create unfairness. Senator Levin was mentioning

those who play by the rules. Some will have invested, will have
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taken steps to comply. Then their competitors will be at an advan-
tage. That is hardly the right signal to send the American people.

It is better not to play by the rules.

There may even be situations where what was done cannot be
undone. Senator Glenn mentioned the wolves, and he was com-
menting on the status of a rancher who may have shot a wolf dur-

ing the moratorium period. What about the wolves themselves?
They are, for better or worse, they have been released. This is in

all the newspapers. Are we now to try to, during the suspension
period, recapture them and put them back in their pens, keep them
there until December 31? Some things, once done, cannot be un-
done.
My time is expiring, I see, but I wanted to emphasize that a mor-

atorium is a distraction. It is a detour. We believe the regulatory
system should be improved and we are committed to that objective.

We have been working to that end on our own and we want to

work with you. We want to spend the next few weeks, few months,
working together to find the bad regulations and eliminate them
and to improve new regulations, not to argue about what is in or

out of a moratorium.
I would hope that our shared goal can be to focus on the underly-

ing issues and join forces to bring the American people a regulatory
system that improves the quality of life, promotes our health and
safety, and protects the environment without undue costs, without
undue burden, without undue hassle.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would be happy to answer any ques-
tions you may have.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Katzen follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF SALLY KATZEN

Mr. Chairman and Members of this Committee—I am Sally Katzen, the Adminis-
trator of the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs within the Office of Man-
agement and Budget, and I appreciate your request to submit a statement for the

record regarding S. 219, the "Regulatory Transition Act of 1995." The stated purpose
of the bill is to establish a moratorium on new rulemaking to promote "the eiiiciency

and proper management of government operations." Improving the nation's regu-

latory system is a subject about which this administration cares very much and on
which I look forward to working with you cooperatively.

Before focusing on any specific legislative proposals, I would like to comment on
a word that is being used a lot, but that means different things to different people.

The word is "regulation." Some say regulations are all bad; some say they are all

good. In fact, regulations are not inherently good or bad. They have the potential

to be either. Well chosen and carefully crafted, they can protect consumers from
dangerous products, assure equal access to markets, limit pollution, govern oper-

ation of our prisons, control immigration, provide uniform interpretations of customs
and export^import laws, protect workers, and ensure that Americans have informa-
tion to make informed choices. Excessive or poorly designed, however, they can
cause confusion and delay, generate unreasonable compliance costs, retard innova-
tion, reduce productivity, or distort private incentives.

Some regulations carry out legislative policies adopted by previous Congresses
and signed by Presidents from both parties. Several of these policies were or are
controversial, and they can and should be debated on their merits, not retarded or

advanced through the guise of procedural requirements. Equally important is the
fact that, in-other cases, regulations are routine, administrative or ministerial, and
noncontroversial. These regulations unobtrusively serve the public day in and day
out, and are seldom included in what most people mean when they argue about the
value of regulations. Examples include rules that establish: traffic lanes for air-

planes; opening and closing times for drawbridges; reporting requirements to help
trace money laundering from the drug trade; eligibility and timing requirements

—

as well as financial accountability practices—for small business and other loan pro-



grams; safe practices at nuclear power plants; and quarantine areas to prevent the
spread of pests such as the medfly.

Regrettably, the regulatory system that has been built up over the past five dec-

ades—under both Republican and Democratic administrations—is subject to serious

criticism. This administration has stated (well before the election—indeed, since its

inception) that there are too many regulations, that many are excessively burden-
some, that many do not ultimately provide the intended benefits, and that, con-
sequently, many members of the public are justifiably frustrated and angry with the
federal regulatory system. It was for this reason that one of the first executive or-

ders that this President signed was Executive Order No. 12866, "Regulatory Plan-
ning and Review," which declared at the outset that the American people deserve
a system that works for them, not against them.
The administration's regulatory philosophy and principles that are set forth in the

Order are built upon two basic premises. First, the government has the basic re-

sponsibility to govern, including the responsibility to protect the public, through
Federal regulation, where the American people—through our Constitutional rep-

resentative process—decide that it should. Second, the government has the basic re-

sponsibility to govern wisely and carefully, regulating only when necessary and only
in the most cost-effective manner, with full recognition of the proper role of State,

local, and tribal governments.
To implement this philosophy, the Order sets forth principles emphasizing the im-

portance of private markets; the critical role of analysis (of costs, benefits, and risks)

and the use of that analysis for decisionmaking; consideration of alternatives; exten-
sive consultation with those affected by regulation; and better consideration for the
needs of small businesses and the role of State, local, and tribal governments.

In the year and a half since the Order was signed, we have made a lot of progress.
We have opened the rulemaking process and increased its accessibility to the public;

for example, agencies are making greater efforts, early in the rulemaking process,

to seek comment from those affected by regulation. We have increased cooperation
and coordination among the Federal agencies, between the Congress and the Execu-
tive Branch, and between the Federal Government and State, local, and tribal gov-
ernments, businesses, and individuals. And we have seen good processes produce
good decisions, both in improving new regulations and in looking back at existing
regulations that may have outlived their usefulness or never operated as expected.
For example, the Department of Transportation's National Highway Traffic Safety

Administration rulemaking on side-impact protection for light trucks was accom-
panied by a first-rate regulatory analysis that led the agency to delete a significant,

expensive component of the proposed rule. In designing its rules under the Mam-
mography Quality Standards Act, the Food and Drug Administration made the
standards less burdensome on mammography facilities, which are nearly all small
businesses, by incorporating existing industry standards to the maximum extent
possible. The Coast Guard, in promulgating rules to alert crews about the likelihood
of unanticipated oil spills, proposed allowing the use of lower cost signalling devices
{i.e., overfill stick gauges) rather than more costly and sophisticated alarm systems.
One of the best examples of a review of existing regulatory programs is the work

currently being done by the Department of Commerce's Bureau of Export Adminis-
tration to rewrite the Export Administration Regulations (EAR). This comprehen-
sive review is intended to simplify and clarify this lengthy and complex body of reg-
ulations that establishes licensing regimes for dual-use products—i.e., those that
may have both commercial and military appHcations—and to make the regulations
more user-friendly, which they currently are not. This effort will fundamentally
change the EAR by reversing the regulatory presumption—from requiring a license
unless specifically exempted to authorizing export without a license unless specifi-

cally provided otherwise.
While we have done much to improve the regulatory system, there is much more

that needs to be done. That is what we are talking about when we say that there
is common ground and that there is a lot—both particular regulatory programs as
well as regulatory methods—that we need to address. In the administration's view,
S. 219 does not do this. To the contrary, a regulatory moratorium will contribute
to the very problem that we are all trying to fix—overly complex administrative sys-
tems, gridlock, and endless debate on process instead of substance. In fact, the con-
cept of a moratorium suffers from some of the same problems that oft;en plague reg-
ulations, and, for that matter, legislation—its intentions, even if laudable, are lost
in the administrative nightmare of implementation and the unintended con-
sequences that no one in this room would want to impose on the American public.

Let me be more specific. S. 219 does not purport to place a moratorium on all reg-
ulation. It acknowledges that in certain cases regulation is necessary for the Federal
Government to be able to meet its responsibilities, and in other instances it reflects
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a judgment that some regulations are particularly beneficial or otherwise desirable.

For example, the legislation—by its terms—excludes from the moratorium activities

related to: military or foreign affairs; agency management, personnel, or public
property; loans; grants; benefits; contracts; granting licenses; registrations; permit-
ting new or improved applications of technology; and, in general, activities to

streamline or narrow rules, including those that provide tax relief authorized by
statute. In addition, the bill establishes an emergency exception process for activi-

ties associated with an imminent threat to health or safety or other emergency, or

necessary for the enforcement of criminal laws.

This framework creates a net through which certain regulations pass and in

which others are caught. However, people may disagree about whether these are the
right criteria and even if they are, how do they apply in particular cases. Does "for-

eign affairs" include Department of Commerce rules affecting domestic manufactur-
ers who export products? Does "public property" include public lands administered
by the Departments of Agriculture and Interior? Is regulation establishing auditing
procedures for tracking federal funds an action related to "grants" or "loans'7 Does
the exclusion for "contracts" include procurement related regulation? What exactly

is "new and improved" technology (since virtually all inventors believe their inven-
tions are new and improved)? Is a proposed regulation, 75 percent of which stream-
lines an existing body of rules but 25 percent of which strengthens existing require-

ments, subject to the moratorium? Is the 75 percent exempt, but the 25 percent
caught? What if the two are viewed as a package that together provides a net reduc-
tion of 15 percent of the burden? If a rule does not fall into one of the exemption
categories but is based on a rigorous cost benefit analysis and the quantified bene-
fits clearly outweigh the quantified costs, is it to be caught in the moratorium?
The agency head will have to answer questions like these, and many others. If

he or she concludes that a rule falls within one of the exclusion categories enumer-
ated in Section 6(3)(B), the bill provides that the agency head is to certify that the
moratorium is waived and to publish that finding and the waiver in the Federal
Register. Such an action would presumably trigger the provisions of Section 7, Civil

Action, which permit anyone "adversely affected" to seek relief in a civil action

against the agency, thus involving the courts in the micro-detail of administering
the moratorium. In other words, even where we believe the bill does not apply, the
issue will not be resolved until any judicial proceeding is concluded.
The bill also provides for emergency exceptions (Section 5). Where there is an im-

minent threat to health or safety or other emergency, or activities necessary for the
enforcement of criminal laws, the agency head must submit a written request to the
President, with copies to the appropriate committees of Congress, and the President
must issue an Executive Order to waive the requirements of the moratorium for

that rule (Section 5(a)). This is paperwork run wild. Each year, hundreds of air-

worthiness directives are issued by the Federal Aviation Administration, as well as
other air safety rules, such as the recent actions regarding icing on commuter
planes. The Animal Plant Health Inspection Service issues scores of rules to quar-
antine certain regions to prevent the spread of pests that would affect our food sup-
ply. These are just two examples of the many frequent and routine regulations is-

sued by agencies to protect public health and safety. Is the President to issue an
Executive Order waiving the moratorium for each of them?

In addition, is the scope of the emergency procedure clear? Exactly how imminent
is "imminent," regarding health and safety regulations? What constitutes "other
emergencies'? Are emergencies that we estimate are 4 or 5 weeks distant included?
Emergencies that are 4 or 5 months distant? The proposed bill would inappropri-
ately elevate these questions to the Presidential level, creating more—rather than
less—inefficiency and delay.
Furthermore, here, as above, the bill provides that the President's decision can

be second-guessed by the courts, since anyone who is "adversely affected" can bring
a civil action. Now, we will have all three branches micromanaging all aspects of
the government's operations—clearly a costly and time consuming step backwards
from the call for less government, more efficient government, and more effective

government.
In addition, the bill, as drafted, does not enumerate categories for waiver or ex-

ceptions that we believe should properly be included. For example, it appears that
some regulations related to the tax code (i.e., those not providing "relief") would be
caught in the moratorium. Is this really what we want to do? I understand that
those who work in this area have argued that whether or not there are regulations,
the tax code exists and the function of tax regulations is to provide clarity (and con-
sistent interpretation) for both individuals and businesses. They assert that not only
do they want tax regulations to be issued, they want them issued expeditiously.
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The moratorium would also catch notices of inquiry, advance notices of proposed
rulemaking, and notices of proposed rulemaking. With rare exceptions, these actions

do not have a binding effect on anyone, but instead seek the involvement of all those

affected by a regulation—soliciting information on how best to meet mandates estab-

lished by statute or, in some cases, by judicial interpretations of statutory require-

ments. Will delaying these efforts for several months help regulatory reform? Or
will such delay instead place more strain on the system by preventing the receipt,

review, and analysis of information from those most affected by the proposed rule,

including those in the best position to help the government devise more sensible,

less costly, and more effective rules?

The retroactivity of the moratorium (Section 6(2))—starting nearly 3 months ago,

on November 9, 1994—would also create significant administrative problems, tie up
resources, and create confusion and inefficiency. In some cases, people will already
have started complying with rules that were issued and/or became effective within
the period between November 9th and the present. In some such cases, those who
have made an effort to comply and invested resources to comply will find themselves
at a competitive disadvantage with those who made no effort to comply. Moreover,
in many instances, the questions associated with the moratorium will create uncer-

tainty in the private sector, and the costs that result from the lack of certainty. Now
everyone has to ask, "Are these regulations within the scope of the moratorium? Are
they within one of the exceptions? Are they subject to Agency Head/Presidential Re-
view because they implicate health, safety, or another emergency? Who will provide
clarification of the situation? And when will that occur?"

There may even be situations where what was done pursuant to a validly issued
regulation cannot now be undone without inordinate expenses or adverse con-

sequences. There has been substantial press coverage concerning the gray wolves
captured in Canada and reintroduced in the wilds of Idaho. Whether or not you
agree with the decision, the wolves have now been let loose. Are we to recapture
them and, if successful, keep them in holding pens until June 30? Consider also the
position of individuals who made year-end decisions based on tax regulations issued
after November 9th. If these regulations are suspended, how are these individuals'

1994 income taxes to be calculated? And, once again, the prospect for civil litigation

means that any answer will be subject to judicial review, and the absence of cer-

tainty will plague both proponents and opponents of any particular federal action.

The provisions of Section 4—waiving regulatory, statutory, and judicial dead-
lines—may also add to the confusion. First, waiving judicial deadlines between date
of enactment and June 30th will require further administrative and legal action,

again tying up resources. Second, extending deadlines that have passed by the date
of enactment would create confusion in the cases where legal or judicial action has
already started regarding those deadlines.
My point is that the bill raises numerous questions, some raised above and others

not yet thought of, on which reasonable persons will differ. Both legislative branch
and executive branch staffs will spend much of the moratorium debating what is

covered and what is not, what was intended to be covered and what was not within
the intent of Congress, and what should be covered and what should not. The people
who will be caught up in these debates are the same officials who would otherwise
spend their time working on substantive solutions to the real problems with the reg-

ulatory system. The moratorium; therefore, instead of ensuring "economy and effi-

ciency of Federal Government operations" will generate litigation, more bureauc-
racy, and, in the meantime, delay the work necessary to actually change the system
for the better.

Regulatory reform is underway. But it will not happen overnight, and will not be
completed during the next several months. A moratorium only puts off dealing with
significant issues, both in the regulatory process and in particular regulatory pro-
grams. As I noted in my response to Senator Dole, Representative Gingrich, and
others regarding this issue, a moratorium is a blunderbuss approach that delays
rules based on necessarily arbitrary categories rather than based on their merits.
During the next few weeks and months, we should be working together to improve
current regulations and the regulatory process, not arguing about what should be
or should have been exempted from a moratorium. A moratorium is merely more
procedure and more bureaucratic administration, diverting our collective time and
energy from the difficult tasks ahead. It makes more sense to focus on the sub-
stantive sources of that frustration and try to reduce them than it does to devote
our resources to the artificial promise of a moratorium, creating in effect yet another
program to administer.

I am concerned that my statement raises questions emphasizing where we dis-

agree, rather than showing where there is agreement. As I stated at the outset, we
believe the regulatory system should be improved. We have been working to that
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end on our own and we want to work with you. S. 219, however, is a distraction

and detour from where we ought to be going. I would hope that we can join forces

to bring the American people a rational regulatory system that improves the quality

of life, promotes our health and safety, and protects the environment without impos-
ing undue costs or burdens. We are committed to that objective and we hope you
will join us in working towards those goals.

Thank you again for the opportunity to comment on these issues.

Chairman Roth. Thank you, Ms. Katzen. We will have the entire

panel speak first, and then ask questions.

I call next on Stephen Kaplan, who is General Counsel of the De-
partment of Transportation.

TESTIMONY OF STEPHEN H. KAPLAN, GENERAL COUNSEL,
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Mr. Kaplan. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Good morning, mem-
bers.

My name is Stephen Kaplan and I am General Counsel of the
Department of Transportation, the department which, by the way,
is responsible for approximately 20 percent of all Federal regula-

tions. Therefore, we are pleased to be able to be here today to share
with you some of our concerns about S. 219, a bill which, however
well intended, we believe will create significant problems which
may not be fully appreciated by the Congress.
We take our rulemaking responsibilities very seriously at the De-

partment of Transportation. We were the first Federal agency to

use negotiated rulemaking, reaching a consensus with the affected

interests. We use advance notices, advisory committees, and public

meetings in and out of Washington on a regular basis. W^e use
evening hearings. We are implementing an electronic docket so

that those outside of Washington can communicate with us on a
regular basis.

We take many actions not mandated, on a process basis, by stat-

ute or Executive Order. For example, we do economic analyses on
virtually every rule, whether they are of major impact or not.

At the same time, we recognize, also, that there is room for im-
provement. At DOT, under the leadership of the President and Sec-

retary Pena, we have placed an emphasis on performance and part-

nership. Our regulatory goals are compliance and results. I can as-

sure you, having sat through many, many meetings on rulemaking
issues, that although the decisions are difficult, our process is fair

and thorough.
One reason that the decisions are often so difficult is that the

statutory mandates directing our actions are either highly prescrip-

tive, or, with all due respect, sometimes vague and confusing.

We would like to work with you to identify ways to further im-
prove the quality of our rulemaking, to identify those particular

rules which are not viewed as useful or helpful.

To that end, by the way, I should advise you that the Federal
Aviation Administration is in the midst of a look-back process in

which it has asked industry to identify its top three problem rules.

We received hundreds of comments on that, and those are being re-

viewed now.
The Federal Highway Administration, approximately every 2 to

3 years, does an evaluation of those rules previously promulgated
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to, in fact, see whether they are working as intended and whether
the costs are as predicted.

We know that well-crafted regulations can have a positive impact
on a number of problems. We also know that many of our regulated

industries are asking for or appreciate the need for certain rules.

Let me share with you some examples.
In certain cases, we believe that rules protect and increase

consumer confidence. For example, as a result of a recent series of

accidents, ridership on commuter airlines fell precipitously. In re-

sponse to these accidents. Secretary Pena directed an intensive ef-

fort to develop proposed rules on an expedited basis which calls for

their publication on March 24, 1995. S. 219 would prevent or make
it more difficult for DOT to issue such safety standards.
Without Federal regulations, many regulated industries would be

subject to multiple, inconsistent State regulations that would other-

wise be preempted.
There are other examples, which include harmonization with

international standards, for which we have been requested to take
action by industry, whether it is 3-M on hazardous materials
transportation or automobile manufacturers on harmonization of

brake standards.
Mr. Chairman, we know that there is a need to bring common

sense into rulemaking, and Secretary Pena demonstrated that
when he unilaterally decided that salad oil was not a hazardous
material. We hear the American people saying, stop adopting un-
necessary, burdensome, costly regxilations, but we also hear the call

for safer cars and planes, for oceans and rivers fi-ee from pollution

spills, and for enhanced pipeline safety to prevent explosions.

As we serve the American people, we will be mindful of President
Clinton's directives to listen and negotiate, to understand what
people outside of Washington are saying, and we look forward to

working with you. I will be more than happy to answer any ques-
tions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Kaplan follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF STEPHEN H. KAPLAN

My name is Stephen H. Kaplan, and I am the General Counsel of the Department
of Transportation (DOT). I appreciate very much the opportunity to share with you
our views on S. 219, a bill that would establish a moratorium on rulemaking ac-

tions. This bill would cause significant problems, many of which may not be fully

appreciated by those supporting this legislation.

We at the Department of Transportation take our rulemaking responsibilities se-

riously and are proud of the job we do. We were the first federal agency to use the
regulatory negotiation process to help us develop rules that were reached with the
"consensus" of the affected interests. We use advance notices, advisory committees,
and public meetings and hearings to get earlier and/or more effective public partici-

pation. We are in the process of creating an electronic docket that, among other
things, will greatly ease public access to our docket and participation in our rule-
making.
We also require many actions of ourselves beyond those mandated by statute or

executive order. For example, we do economic analyses of virtually every rule, not
just those with major impacts. At the same time, we believe that there is room for

improvement in our rulemaking process as well as the resulting rules. We recently
participated in a small business forum sponsored by the Office of Management and
Budget and the Small Business Administration in which we worked with other
agencies and representatives of the small business community to identify improve-
ments to make our rulemakings better for small businesses. As a result of this proc-
ess, I recently wrote to each agency of the Department providing a list of steps to
improve our ability to respond to the concerns of small businesses.
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DOT'S emphasis is on performance and partnership. Our regulatory goals are re-

sults and compliance. I can assure you—having personally sat through many meet-
ings on a variety of rulemaking issues—that although the decisions are often very
difficult, our process is fair and thorough. I must stress that one reason the deci-

sions are often so difficult is that the statutes that mandate our rules leave us little

discretion and, with all due respect, can be vague and confusing.

We would like to work with you to identify ways to further improve the quality
of our rulemaking as well as the legislation on which it is based. But I strongly be-

lieve that imposing a moratorium, such as that suggested by S. 219, may cause
damage to those it is intended to help, and will result in unnecessary and unin-
tended injuries and loss of life.

We are an agency that primarily regulates safety and environmental matters. To-
gether, the Congress and the Department of Transportation have taken steps to ad-
dress those areas. No one wants to have another Exxon Valdez accident where 10.8

million barrels of oil were spilled into Prince William Sound. That is why Congress
passed the Oil Pollution Act of 1990 mandating Federal rulemaking. Nor do we
want another subway accident like the one in New York City in 1991 believed to

be caused by a driver impaired by alcohol; that accident resulted in 5 deaths, 200
injuries and significant damage to rail cars and the structure of the station and
track. These accidents were among the reasons Congress passed the Omnibus
Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991, mandating that DOT issue alcohol

and drug testing rules. The moratorium would be a major set back for implementa-
tion of the drug and alcohol safety rules.

Well-crafted regulations can have a significant positive impact on problems such
as those addressed by the Oil Pollution Act and the Testing Act. We recognize that
if we are not careful, we can impose unnecessary burdens on regulated entities. This
administration is committed to working closely with our regulated industries and
the affected public. This led to our holding safety summits with a number of trans-
portation industries such as rail, pipelines, and most recently aviation. We Eire form-
ing partnerships with those affected by our rules to ensure that, when it is deemed
necessary to issue rules, those rules are even better than they have been in the
past.

Many of our regulated entities recognize the value of federal rules. For example:

• They help to increase consumer confidence. For example, as a result of a re-

cent series of accidents, ridership fell on commuter airlines. In response to the
accidents, Secretary Pena directed an intensive effort to develop proposed
rules on an expedited basis; our schedule calls for their publication by March
24, 1995. S. 219 would prevent or make it more difficult for DOT to issue pro-

posals or rules to increase safety standards for, and consumer confidence in,

this industry.
• Without federal regulations, many regulated industries would be subject to

multiple, inconsistent State regulations that would otherwise be preempted.
For example. Congress has specifically provided for preemption of State and
local requirements to ensure uniformity in hazardous materials transpor-
tation. Under S. 219 we could not issue such rules.

• Federal regulations can simplify matters for businesses and make it easier for

them. One example involves an FRA proposed rule that we are about to issue,

on the installation of grade crossing warning devices. Each State has a plan
that establishes priorities for grade crossing installation. However, in the
Easterwood case last year, the Supreme Court let stand a tort judgment
against a railroad for failing to install a grade crossing at a location that was
not even on the State priority list. Railroads try to comply with state prior-

ities but in Easterwood the railroad was found negligent because there had
been an earlier accident at the crossing involved. As a result, railroads are
currently torn between the state program requirements and their need to

limit their tort exposure. Our proposal would make railroad compliance with
state programs mandatory. Not only would this assist safety, but it would
ease the railroads burden and tort exposure. Under the moratorium, we could
not issue a proposed or final rule.

• We also often must harmonize our standards with those of other countries.
Overall uniformity is better, which is highly desired by industry, and for our
international companies, this is a real cost savings. For example, 3M recently
wrote to us supporting our proposal to align our hazardous materials regula-
tions with international standards and authorize compliance on January 1,

1995, the effective date of the international standards, so that they would not
have to comply with two sets of standards. We did so, but the moratorium
would bar this.
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• Many of our rules essentially establish "rules-of-the-road." Although these are

not "routine administrative functions" (as that termed is used in Sec.

6(3)(B)(iii) of H.R. 450), they are needed by our regulated entities. For exam-
ple, the Coast Guard may need to issue or adjust opening times for draw-
bridges, or establish special navigation rules to permit the America's Cup
races. The FAA must issue rules about the use of airspace near airports.

Some of the FAA airspace actions are issued in response to requests by the

Department of Defense to create temporary zones free of civil aviation. These
zones are needed so that DOD can conduct training exercises and other de-

fense activities. S. 219 would prevent these actions.

Some of our rules achieve tremendous safety benefits at relatively low costs. For
example, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration estimates that just 1

year's delay in implementing a new vehicle standard concerning head impacts in ve-

hicle interiors would result in a loss of 1,150-1,400 lives and in 680-820 injuries

over 20 years. The cost for compliance would be $29-$49 per car and $45-$68 per

light truck
The Senate bill does establish procedures for obtaining very limited exceptions

"because of an imminent threat to health or safety or other emergency." However,
these procedures are quite cumbersome and could result in serious harm. Even if

the term "imminent threat" were greatly expanded to include the broad range of

safety rules that we issue, these cumbersome procedures would still cause problems.
For example, as a result of an accident, the FAA may identify a problem that needs
to be remedied overnight by the issuance of an airworthiness directive. Indeed, they
do not wait to publish some of these in the Federal Register before making them
effective; they send them to affected persons by telegram or electronic means. Fi-

nally, the moratorium would bar us from working on rulemakings that would pre-

vent deaths and injuries after the moratorium. This would considerably delay those

rules and their resulting benefits.

Retroactive application of a moratorium simply creates more problems than it

solves. To start requiring regulated parties to comply with a rule, stop requiring
compliance for several months, then start requiring compliance again is too disrup-

tive. It wastes resources, causes confusion, and results in lost safety, environmental,
and other benefits. We do not need a retroactive moratorium to examine and, if need
be change, recently-issued rules. President Clinton has committed the administra-
tion to reviewing existing rules, and this review will encompass rules effective since

November of last year as well as older rules. This is the approach we should take
to ensuring that only sensible rules remain in effect. Indiscriminately suspending
all rules issued in the past is not sound policy.

However well-intended this legislation may be, the serious problems it will cause
should be understood before it is rushed through the legislative process. We also be-

lieve that there are significant unknown and unintended consequences of this legis-

lation which might well adversely affect the health and safety of the American peo-
ple. At the speed at which the legislation has been moving, many of these problems
will not even become evident until it is too late to correct them.

Secretary Pena has repeatedly stressed the need to bring common sense into rule-

making. We hear the Ainerican people saying stop adopting unnecessary, burden-
some, costly regulations. We hear small businesses asking us to structure our rules

to focus on performance standards, on negotiated outcomes, and to consider their
special circumstances. We also hear the call for safer cars and planes, for oceans
and rivers free from oil spills, and for enhanced pipeline safety to prevent explo-
sions. As we serve the American people, we will be mindful of President Clinton's
directives to listen and understand, and to negotiate, not dictate.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify today. I am ready to answer any ques-
tions you may have at this time.

Chairman Roth. Thank you, Mr. Kaplan.
Mr. Schultz?

TESTIMONY OF WILLIAM B. SCHULTZ, DEPUTY COMMIS-
SIGNER FOR POLICY, FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION
Mr. Schultz. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Members of the

Committee.
My name is Wilham Schultz and I am Deputy Commissioner for

Policy of the Food and Drug Administration. I appreciate the op-
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portunity to testify about the impact of this very important legisla-

tion.

The FDA is charged with ensuring the safety and efficacy of a
wide range of products, including drugs, blood and CAT scans,

mushrooms, hair spray and seafood. I think the message that I

want to give today is that regulations are essential to this agency
to allow it to carry out its mission of protecting the public health.

Let me give you two examples of regulations we have issued in the
last 2 years.

In 1990, Congress made a policy decision that food sold in this

country should have nutrition labeling, and that legislation was
adopted unanimously in both the House and the Senate, signed by
the President, and the regulations were issued 2 years ago. As a
result, today, virtually every can of food you buy in the store, every
package of processed food, has on it a labeling giving consumers in-

formation about fat, calories, and other nutritional information.
The legislation has wide consumer support and it is expected to

contribute enormously to healthier diets and lower incidence of dis-

ease in the coming years, and yet, if this moratorium had been in

place, the agency could not have issued those regulations.

Another example in a somewhat different category, a year ago,

FDA investigators identified imported tissue that was inadequately
screened for the HIV virus and hepatitis. This tissue posed a sig-

nificant threat to patients awaiting bone, ligament, and other tis-

sue transplants. The most effective way for us to deal with the
problem was to issue regulations requiring that tissue be screened,

and that was done, but there are real issues about whether it could
have been done under this legislation.

S. 219 would prohibit the promulgation of similar regulations
and would stop a number of important FDA initiatives that are

planned for the coming year. I would like to use the rest of my tes-

timony to just quickly give you five examples.
The first is iron toxicity. Iron pills, dietary supplements of iron,

are the leading cause of poison-related deaths in infants and tod-

dlers in this country. There are about 8,000 cases of accidental in-

gestion a year. The answer is not to ban iron supplements. The an-
swer is labeling and a change in the packaging that will protect

children. That regulation was worked out with the industry and
with comments from consumer groups and the final regulation was
published in December of 1994. Yet, that regulation could be with-
drawn due to this bill.

The second example is seafood safety. There are recurrent out-

breaks of seafood-related illness in this country and they have be-

come a major concern. We have proposed regulations to ensure safe

processing and importation. They are widely supported by consum-
ers and industry. The rule would save thousands of illnesses a
year, and yet would be blocked by S. 219.

The third example is mammography quality standards. A half-a-

million women will die in the 1990s from breast cancer. In 1992,
Congress directed us to issue regulations that would require cer-

tain standards for these exams. Those regulations would be in jeop-

ardy.
The fourth example relates to lead in cans. American manufac-

turers have eliminated lead in cans in this country. Foreign manu-
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facturers have not. This is an unnecessary risk to children. It is un-
fair to our companies, who have spent the money. We have regula-

tions in place that would be blocked by S. 219.

The final example is bottled water standards. Bottled water
ought to be at least as good and meet the same standards as the
water that most of us get out of the tap. We issued final regula-

tions in December. They are supported by industry. They would be
blocked by S. 219.

In summary, if S. 219 is enacted, the Food and Drug Administra-
tion will be severely handicapped in responding to known risks

that we are currently addressing and unforseen risks that we will

inevitably learn about in the future.

I would be happy to answer any questions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Schultz follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF WILLIAM B. SCHULTZ

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committees: I am WiUiam B. Schultz, Deputy
Commissioner for PoUcy of the Food and Drug Administration. I appreciate the op-

portunity to discuss the impact of S. 219, the "Regulatory Transition Act of 1995,"

on the programs and activities of the Food and Drug Administration (FDA).
As the Members of the Committee are well aware, the FDA is a public health

agency. The main statute that we are charged with implementing, the Federal Food,
Drug and Cosmetic Act, is designed to ensure that products ranging from drugs,

blood and CAT scans to mushrooms, hair spray and seafood, are safe, and in many
cases effective. The products that we regulate account for 25 cents of every dollar

that consumers in the United States spend. We do this job with fewer than 10,000
employees, and a budget of less than $1 billion per year.

As you know, FDA must often use rulemaldng to carry out its mission as a
consumer protection agency. Two years ago we published new regulations that im-
plemented the Nutrition Labeling and Education Act, which instructed FDA to re-

quire nutrition labels on most food products sold in this country. Those regulations
have received broad public support for providing a much needed service to ordinary
consumers, and are expected to contribute enormously to healthier diets and low-

ered incidence of diet-related disease in the coming years.

Last year, we learned of efforts to import human tissues intended for transplan-
tation into this country. Through our investigation we learned that many of those
tissue imports were inadequately screened for the HIV virus and for Hepatitis, pos-

ing a potentially extraordinary threat to American citizens awaiting bone and liga-

ment grafts, hip replacements, and many other such procedures. We prepared and
published regulations to require donor screening and testing of such tissues, and ef-

fectively put a stop to a major public health threat.

S. 219 is intended to stop federal agencies in their tracks. If enacted, the FDA
would be prevented from pursuit of a number of important initiatives. I would like

to spend the remainder of my testimony providing the Committee with some exam-
ples of important regulations that could be affected by the moratorium.

Iron Toxicity Prevention—Despite child-resistant packaging, elemental iron used
as a dietary supplement is the leading source of poison-related deaths in infants and
toddlers. From 1986-1992, there were nearly 63,000 reports to poison control cen-
ters involving accidental ingestion of adult iron-containing products, with over
47,000 involving children under 6 years of age. FDA has proposed regulations to re-

quire label warning statements for products that supplement the dietary intake of
iron, and we are now working to complete final regulations. The purpose of these
regulations is to require for iron-containing products a label warning that would
alert parents to the seriousness of accidental ingestion of excessive amounts of iron
by small children and to warn them to keep these preparations out of reach. The
regulations would also require unit-dose packaging for products that contain 30 mg.
or more of iron per dosage unit. It is estimated that this rulemaking would save
approximately 185 cases of childhood level poisoning per year, and yet would no way
impede the use of iron supplements by adults.

Seafood Safety—The public has been concerned for years about recurrent out-
breaks of seafood-related illnesses. FDA is developing final regulations to ensure the
safe processing and importation of fish and fish products through the use of indus-
try-chosen, risk-based controls in accordance with Hazard Analysis Critical Control
Point (HACCP) principles. It is estimated that this final rule, which is broadly sup-
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ported by the food industry and by consumers, would prevent an estimated 33,000
illnesses each year from improperly processed seafood.

Mammography Quality Standards—Nearly half a million women will die from
breast cancer in the 1990's, and more than IV2 million new cases will be diagnosed.

Mammography is currently the most effective method for detecting breast cancer

early, and the importance of assuring high quality mammography to as many
women as possible is clear. FDA is preparing final regulations to fully implement
the Mammography Quality Standards Act, which requires that standards be estab-

lished for mammography clinics, including quality of films produced, training for

clinic personnel, recordkeeping and equipment. This legislation resulted from public

response to concerns about breast cancer and to the concerns about the quality of

mammography services that are relied upon for early detection of breast cancer.

Using the most conservative estimate, some 200 women's lives would be saved each
year by these regulations.

Medical Device User Facility Reporting—In 1990, Congress instructed FDA to pro-

mulgate regulations overseeing the reporting by hospitals and other medical device

"users" of serious injuries and deaths resulting from defective devices. FDA pro-

posed a regulation in 1991, but received many constructive comments from the af-

fected industry. With those comments in hand, the agency has been able to prepare

a new regulation that will reduce, streamline, and eliminate certain requirements

in its previous proposal without compromising the quality of this important pro-

gram. The new regulation is planned for publication later this year.

Lead in Food Cans—The continuing findings on the effects of lead exposure, even
at low levels, on pregnant women, infants, and children have raised genuine public

health concerns. In a final step toward removing one source of lead exposure, FDA
is developing a final rule that would prohibit the use of lead solder to close the

seams of food cans. Technological advances have made the use of lead-soldered food

cans unnecessary, and American manufacturers have abandoned the use completely.

The regulation would assure that imported foods are no longer packaged in lead-

soldered cans, thus removing one final source of exposure and leveling the playing

field for American manufacturers.
Pediatric Labeling for Drug Use—The great majority of human drugs are tested

in adults, even though they are frequently used to treat children. In December 1994,

FDA addressed this problem by publishing a final rule that would allow the Agency
to approve drugs for use in children based on clinical studies in adults, if FDA con-

cludes that the course of the disease is sufficiently similar in children and adults

to permit extrapolation from the adult data to children. The final rule also requires

the inclusion of information in drug labeling on specific hazards associated with the

drug's use in children and any limitations on the pediatric indications.

Bottled Water Standards—To help ensure that bottled water is free from pes-

ticides, heavy metals, and other contaminants, FDA published a final regulation in

December 1994 that amended the standard of quality regulations for bottled water.

These regulations are intended to make sure that the minimum quahty of bottled

water remains comparable with the quality of public drinking water prescribed in

standards issued by EPA. These regulations establish or modify allowable levels of

a number of organic and inorganic chemicals in drinking water and have the strong

support of the bottled water industry. Additional regulations to insure that bottled

water is free of hazardous contaminants are being prepared for publication this

spring.

In conclusion, S. 219 would seriously impede the ability of the Food and Drug Ad-
ministration to take appropriate action to reduce or eliminate risks to public health.

It will freeze virtually all rulemaking in place, even where the action being proposed
is urgently needed, or where it is the result of extensive consultation with the regu-

lated industry, or where the rule has been subjected to extensive public comment
and carefully tailored to reduce or eliminate risks to the public health in the most
cost effective and flexible manner. We will be unable to respond both to known risks

on which resources have already been devoted, and unforeseen risks that will come
to light in the future. Rulemaking is the tool that we use to do that.

Chairman RoTH. Thank you, Mr. Schultz.

Let me just start out by saying that, as I hstened to each and
every one of you, I am somewhat concerned because the general
thrust seems to be that we need more regulation, not less. I think
we all agree that regulation is essential to government and there
is much good that can be done, but I think there is also a general
concern that the current situation leaves much to be desired, with
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even the President himself admitting that many of the regulations

are bad, in between, and, yes, some are good.

I think what we are trying to find is some solution that will help

ensure that those regulations that continue are for the benefit of

the public and that, in the process, we eliminate the bad.

I would point out that under the modified language of the legisla-

tion, it is not intended to cover those that are an imminent threat

to health or safety. Perhaps the language can be improved upon,

but I think that is what we are here for today, is to see how we
address this problem in an intelligent fashion that will eliminate

the unnecessary and bad, which, as I said, even the President ad-

mits exist.

I would like to ask you, Ms. Katzen, in the Nickles modification

of S. 219, there appears in Section 6 a definition of "significant reg-

ulatory action", and that definition tracks the phrase in the Presi-

dent's Executive Order 12866. In other words, the regulatory mora-
torium would only apply to significant regulatory action, as defined

by the Executive Order.
In the last calendar year, in 1994, how many regulations were

issued and how many significant regulations were issued?
Ms. Katzen. In the last calendar year—actually, I could speak

to the last fiscal year, September 1993 to September 1994. There
were roughly 900 regulations that were classified as significant,

i.e., warranting 0MB review. There were several thousand regula-

tions in total, and what this definition does do is it eliminates the
controversy with routine administrative or ministerial that haven't
been a problem, with S. 219. So in that sense, this definition is

clearly a step in the right direction.

The problem comes, I think, directly fi-om your comment that
some regulations are good and some are bad. We want to stop the
bad. We don't want to stop the good. It is hard to legislate only
good regulations. If you could write a piece of legislation

Chairman RoTH. Let me ask you this question. It is the Presi-

dent who would be doing the decision making under whatever rules
and regulations we enact as part of this legislation. Would you feel

differently if it provided, as I think it should, that the President's
decision is not subject to judicial review? Does that change your
mind?
Ms. Katzen. That is an important step. Right now, it is cast in

terms of Federal agency action is not subject to judicial review, and
if you were to include the President and his appointees, that would
be helpful as well. That answers the question about judicial review.
Chairman RoTH. You say there were 800 significant regulatory

actions during the last fiscal year. How many thousand regulations
were issued?
Ms. Katzen. My recollection is that we run roughly 4,000 a year.

You have to understand that the regulations, in that sense, could
be not only the 900 that we review but what I am calling ministe-
rial or administrative. Changing the times for opening or closing
the drawbridges on the Woodrow Wilson Bridge is a regulation.
Those kinds of things, if you look through the Federal Register, you
will find a whole host of administrative, ministerial types of regula-
tions.
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So the number 4,000 sounds enormous, even to me, but as you
look through these, you see many of them are inconsequential or,

in fact, helping the economy function as it should. Of the 4,000, 900
are significant within the terms of the Executive Order and as re-

flected here.

Chairman ROTH. I have heard the figure as high as 7,000, includ-

ing what are characterized as administrative. I would note, also,

that in the revised S. 219 that many of these areas are exempted
from the regulations.

Ms. Katzen. That is correct.

Chairman Roth. We are only talking now about the significant

regulatory proposals.

Ms. Katzen. If I just could add one other comment, on the issue

of the good regulations or the bad regulations and the President's

power, with all respect, I think that is what we are doing. We may
not be doing a perfect job, we may not be doing an excellent job,

but we are certainly tr3dng very hard to make those value judg-
ments.
We do it both at the agencies, when they craft regulations, par-

ticularly those mandated by statutes, when they come to our office,

we raise those questions. Is this good? Is it as good as you can do?
Can you make it better? It is only when we have satisfied ourselves
that we are truly implementing Congressional intent and doing it

in a way that is the most sensible way that we let the regulations

go.

People will differ as to whether it is a good or a bad regulation.

Probably those who bear some of the burden will not see that it is

a good regulation, and those who receive the benefits will not ap-
preciate the burdens that are imposed. It is a balancing. It is a
judgment factor. That is what we do every single day.

When you say, how can we make sure that the new regulations
are going to be good, I think the answer has to be, to hold us to

our task, you have the oversight function, which is a very impor-
tant and potent force, and if we have a regulation which does not
satisfy your standards of goodness and soundness of judgment, you
call us to task, as you properly should. But not just say, no more
regulations until we figure out a way to enact legislation that will

set in concrete management techniques. It is very difficult to legis-

late good judgment.
Chairman ROTH. My time has run out. I have just one further

question I would like to ask you. The proposed legislation does con-

tain a definition of significant regulation. It contains four para-
graphs. The first paragraph is commonly referred to as defining
those which are economically significant. I know you are familiar
with that phrase.
Ms. Katzen. Yes, sir.

Chairman ROTH. How many economically-significant rules were
there issued in that same fiscal year?
Ms. Katzen. I would have to get that figure for you, but it is well

less than half of the number review. I would want to supply that
for the record, if I could, and I will try to get it while you are still

sitting this morning, so that I could give you that information.
Chairman RoTH. I would appreciate that, Ms. Katzen.
Ms. Katzen. Certainly.
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Chairman ROTH. Senator Glenn?
Senator Glenn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I think your point that there are good laws, bad laws, good regu-

lations, bad regulations, is a point well taken, Mr. Chairman. You
point out that even the President said that in his statement yester-

day, but that makes the case for regulatory review, so we pick and
choose. We have a regulatory review process that sets that up. We
don't say just have a moratorium on ever5^hing, good and bad.

That is what this legislation proposes.

There is an Executive Order dealing with this. The list of regula-

tions that will be proposed for doing away with are supposed to be
out by the 1st of June, and I think that is quite adequate for this.

Ms. Katzen, how would this affect the China sanctions? Would
that be exempted somehow, or do we know? Those are being put
out, rules and regulations to implement the China sanctions.

Ms. Katzen. We were looking at the China sanctions in the light

of H.R. 450 at the time, which used the term "international agree-

ment", and this is not being imposed as an international agree-

ment. It has a separate category for trade, but it talks about trade
agreements. The China sanctions were being imposed because of

the piracy of intellectual property rights, and, therefore, is not an
implementation of even foreign affairs, as I read these definitions

strictly.

This is part of the issue that we have. Some will argue it is cov-

ered. Others will argue it is not. The precision with which one goes
about this will depend upon how much judgment there is, how
much judicial review there is

Senator Glenn. So the reading of the legislation, the way you
see it right now, you don't know whether we would be prevented
from implementing the China sanctions or not?
Ms. Katzen. I haven't looked at the revised S. 219 for that pur-

pose, but based on my earlier reading, my quick reading last

night
Chairman ROTH. I don't want to interrupt, but
Senator Glenn. On my time.

Chairman Roth. On my time, but I think it is important to un-
derstand that S. 219 now provides, issued with respect to matters
relating to military or foreign affairs or international trade agree-
ments, so those are an exempted category.
Ms. Katzen. But as I understand USTR's position on this, this

is not an international trade agreement.
Chairman RoTH. But this says, "matters relating to."

Senator Glenn. Maybe that is covered, then.
Ms. Katzen. I see. If it were clarified, then that would answer

that question. As it is written now, the question is present.
Chairman RoTH. It is certainly not intended to apply there.

Senator Glenn. Let me continue. We have another one. Ala-
bama, Mississippi, Florida, Louisiana, and Texas all are affected by
fishing and by shrimping in the Gulf of Mexico. We have a rule
that has been proposed that would increase the domestic quota for

certain types of shrimp being harvested out of those States and
eliminate foreign fishing for royal red shrimp in that area.
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Obviously, that is of great benefit to American fishermen. Would
it be in your interpretation that this would stop implementation of

that change in the regulations?

Ms. Katzen. It would have been stopped by the original S. 219.

I see in the revised S. 219, there is something about economic
growth. If it is intended by "economic growth" to apply to that,

then the answer would depend on what is intended by the legisla-

tion. Again, we were given this last night, and I see that they have
expanded the exemptions, so it may cover that, but it would de-

pend, I think, on the interpretation provided or the clarity of the
written word.
Senator Glenn. I have another one, the scope of the nuclear non-

proliferation treaty, NPT, trade ban. Some of those rules are being
changed and lifted. U.S. companies feel it is going to be a benefit

to them. Would this legislation stop that?

Ms. Katzen. It would have been stopped under the original lan-

guage. As the Chairman is explaining what is intended by the word
"relating" here, if that were clarified to mean that, it would resolve

that kind of an issue. But otherwise, as originally drafted, it would
have been a problem.
Chairman Roth. And, again, with the President having the final

say.

Senator Glenn. I have another one. Senator Wellstone stopped
by and asked me to put a letter in, Mr. Chairman. I would ask con-

sent to put Senator Wellstone's into the record. It involves migra-
tory bird hunting.
Chairman ROTH. Without objection, it will be included.

[The letter fi-om Senator Wellstone follows:]
February 21, 1995

Honorable William V. Roth, Jr.
Chairman

Honorable John Glenn
Ranking Minority Member
Governmental Affairs Committee
U.S. Senate
Washington DC 20510

Dear Chairman Roth and Ranking Member Glenn: I am writing to you regarding
the regulatory moratorium bill, S. 219, to ask for your assistance in eliminating
what I believe would be a harmful effect of this legislation.

As you are aware, S. 219 would impose a moratorium on governmental rule-

making retroactive to last November. While I do agree that some federal rules may
be needlessly intrusive, I want to bring to your attention the extreme impact this

blanket moratorium would have on my state's hunting enthusiasts.

Under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act of 1918, the hunting season is closed unless
the responsible federal agency opens it by regulation. Each year the U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service completes a long, complex rulemaking that opens the waterfowl
hunting season and specifies the limits of the hunt. Under S. 219, the USFWS
would be delayed in proceeding with this rulemaking and in opening the season in

Minnesota this fall.

As Minnesota is home to some of America's best waterfowl hunting, I must oppose
any legislative measure that would limit or eliminate the annual migratory bird

hunting season. As introduced, S. 219 would have the effect of delaying the 1995
migratory bird hunting season for at least a month; such a delay would be tanta-
mount to cancellation of at least part of the season (the "local shoot," when the vast
majority of Minnesotans do their hunting), since Minnesota's colder climate means
that the birds would likely have already migrated south.
This result would be unacceptable to Minnesotans. In Minnesota, the waterfowl

hunting season is eagerly awaited by hundreds of thousands of hunting enthusiasts,
in addition to being responsible for millions of dollars of economic activity. There-
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fore, I request that when the Grovernmental Affairs Committee considers this legis-

lation, it attach an amendment to exempt from the moratorium any rulemaking nec-

essary and appropriate to allow the annual migratory bird hunting season to go for-

ward as usual.

Sincerely,
Paul D. Wellstone

U.S. Senator

Ms. Kj^tzen. That is an implementation of a treaty which pre-

cludes shooting birds on their migratory paths, and then you have
the regulations which allow that to occur. It imposes bag limits, I

think is the technical term, or maybe it is the jargon term, how
many of these birds you can bag or put in a bag. It is that restric-

tion that precluded it from being covered by the original language,
which was limited to, and then there were some other words.
For that reason, we thought that that would have been covered

by the moratorium. Whether there is a category in here that is in-

tended to cover that that I haven't yet seen, I don't know, but I

would be willing to look through this.

Senator Glenn. What would be your interpretation of the one I

mentioned earlier on Alaskan hunting? The rule would allow sub-

sistence harvesting of fish and wildlife resources on Federal lands
in Alaska by native Alaskans. Obviously, they want that. That has
been their custom for many generations. A moratorium would halt

that subsistence fishing season, is that correct, the way you inter-

pret it?

Ms. Katzen. Yes. We had not been aware of an exemption under
the earlier language that would have covered that. I don't know
whether there is one crafted here for that particular type of activ-

ity.

Part of the issue here is we don't know. I feel as though, in some
sense, we should be able to say, we know everything that is being
done every day by every agency, but it is a large government with
many, many mandates imposed by this body and many, many mis-
sions found in lots of statutes that the agencies faithfully carry out.

When you have something like an across-the-board moratorium,
one of the problems is you don't know what you are getting.

Senator Glenn. My time is running out here, but let me ask an-
other one. Air worthiness directives, the Federal Aviation Adminis-
tration puts these out. They are put out for the design of aircraft,

design of wing structure, things like that. There is no imminent
threat, but they are very necessary for the long-term safety. There
is no imminent threat to health or safety involved. There are such
things as modifications to the flight manuals that are used by pi-

lots on certain model aircraft, all sorts of things, changes that
make flight manuals more readable and so on, inspection and
modification of tail cone release assemblies of McDonnell Douglas
DC-9s and 980s, and so on. There is no imminent threat to health
or safety.

I would presume that the rule that was published January 24,
1995, involving these and a number of other things, would be inop-
erative if this moratorium was put into effect. Is that correct?
Would that be your interpretation?
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Ms. Katzen. That was our judgment. Steve may want to address
it.

Mr. Kaplan. Senator, I think that is correct. Again, under the

previous version, I think that would be correct. It certainly creates

some uncertainty. Under the new language, again, depending on
how it is interpreted, those type of air worthiness directives may
be viewed as exempt, but that is something that we are still look-

ing at.

Senator Glenn. My time is up. Are we going to have a second
round, Mr. Chairman?
Chairman RoTH. Yes, we will have a second round, and, of

course, the record will also be open to written questions.

Senator Glenn. Thank you.

Chairman ROTH. I do want to point out that there is very broad
language with respect to routine administrative actions that are an
exception to the moratorium.
You can try to issue anecdotes that make it look like it won't

work, but when you look at the language, which gives broad discre-

tionary power to the President, plus the fact that it would not be
subject to judicial review, I think it is pretty clear that in most of

these cases, there is not a problem.
Again, one of the purposes of this hearing is to raise questions,

so that if the language isn't adequate, we can ensure that it is.

Senator Glenn. Mr. Chairman, I would submit, if we are making
loopholes so big that the President can dismiss anything that

means anything, then we don't need the legislation. We need regu-

latory review.
Chairman RoTH. I would just point out that OIRA only reviews

those significant regulations. There has to be a cutting back. Real-

ly, what we are trying to direct our attention and concern to are

those that are significant.

Senator Lieberman?
Senator Lieberman. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Schultz, I came today opposed to this proposal for a morato-

rium, but you said something that gave me pause to reconsider my
position on the thought that a moratorium might suspend those

nutrition labels, which have been making it hard for me to go
ahead and eat those glazed doughnuts, knowing how much satu-

rated fat is in them. [Laughter.]

Notwithstanding that momentary weakness on my part in this

hearing, I feel very strongly that, even that, of course, is good for

me, that regulation and those labels.

It seems to me that the questions that have been brought out on
particiilar cases, as well as the statement that the President made
yesterdjay, showing specifically that the moratorium would put at

risk regulations that will protect people fi*om unsafe drinking
water, from unsafe food, that will prohibit the implementation of

the Family and Medical Leave Act, because regulations are nec-

essary there, all of those make the point, and we could go on and
probably will, that though we ought to reform the regulatory proc-

ess, that a moratorium is a crude instrument, because it does catch
the good with the bad.
As one begins to try to make it less crude, as some of the amend-

ments that have been proposed to the original bill have, it, in itself,
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becomes a potential regulatory nightmare to implement. In fact,

just following the last conversation, it seems to me that the final

rule issued under one of the exceptions during the moratorium pe-

riod would be subject to judicial review as to whether it was appro-

priately exempted from the moratorium.
My own conclusion is that not only is this wrong, but even if you

try to make it more sensible, it is a waste of time. From the point

of view of this Committee, I would certainly hope that we would
focus our time on the bill which the Chairman has introduced, I

think it is S. 291 as opposed to S. 219, which provides a vehicle

for, as opposed to a moratorium, a longer-term reform of the whole
way in which we do the business of regulation. I think that is real-

ly a better investment of our time, and, ultimately, it will produce
a much more workable series of reforms.

Ms. Katzen, I did want to ask you, though, in terms of what the
President said yesterday, is it possible that your office and the var-

ious executive agencies will actually be able to implement a page-
by-page review of all existing rules by June 1?

Ms. Katzen. We certainly hope so. This is not a new idea. In the
Executive Order, there was a provision for a look-back, and many
of the agencies have already begun to do this. He cited yesterday
the examples of the Office of the Control of the Currency, which is

doing an A-to-Z review, and I have been told that they are some-
where in the G's, H's, or I's and moving quickly.

The Department of Commerce has taken its export control regu-
lations and is completely redrafting them. We are not asking that
they have the process completed, because for many of these regula-

tions, if there is to be a modification, you would have to follow the
notice and comment procedures to implement that, but to go
through and be able to State that these truly are appropriate or

necessary and identify those that are not.

We have two representatives here from two different agencies
who can speak to that question, but it is our assumption that it can
and should be done.
Senator LlEBERMAN. Let me ask you, in terms of OMB's ongoing

review of rules, whether you see any patterns emerging.
Ms. Katzen. I do. I see an increased sensitivity to sensible regu-

lations, an increased receptiveness to think twice before regulating.

The Department of Education, for example, has a program called

Red Light, which they have a series of questions. Before they even
think about drafting word one, they will raise the question, can we
do this other than through regulation? They have an entire series

of steps that they go through. That is what one department has
done.
Our government is very varied. Departments use different tech-

niques. Steve was talking about the Department of Transportation,
its look-back of analysis. Those kinds of efforts are ongoing and in-

creasing.

Senator LlEBERMAN. Let me ask you about whether there are any
emerging patterns in the review of existing rules that is going on.

In other words, to what extent are people concluding, in what they
have already gone through, that rules are no longer necessary or
that they are badly drafted?
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Ms. Katzen. There is a substantial body that is developing of

regulations that are, at least, questionable. Part of them are tied

to statutes. Is it worth the time and effort?

In some instances, if a regulation was promulgated 20 years ago
and the capital investments have all been made, to go through the
process of coming to the Congress, getting new legislation that
eliminates that requirement that could eliminate the regulation

may not be worth it.

We talk a lot about cost-benefit analysis. This is one area where
there is a serious question. We have been discussing that with
some of the agencies. Which areas are worth pursuing for net social

benefits and which are on the books, they don't make a whole lot

of sense, but they are not bothering anybody at this point. Those
are, again, judgment calls of where you want to use your resources,

how you want to approach the particular problems.
Senator LlEBERMAN. I take it that some substantial portion of

the regulations that you are finding questions about really would
require repeal of the initial legislation that created them, as op-

posed to just the reform of the particular regulations?
Ms. Katzen. Yes, sir.

Senator LlEBERMAN. Thank you.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ROTH. Senator Levin?
Senator Levin. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I want to go over some examples of rules that would be caught

by this moratorium, or at least, arguably caught by the morato-
rium.
You, Mr. Schultz, mentioned a rule about cans. Would you repeat

what you said about that, just very briefly?

Mr. Schultz. Yes. It used to be that canned food had a solder

to hold the pieces together that had lead in it. The lead would
leach into the food and that was a problem. American manufactur-
ers spent a lot of money to eliminate the lead years ago. Foreign
manufacturers have not. The regulation that we had intended to do
this year would have made the same rules apply to everybody.
Senator Levin. We have an administrative process which gives

notice to parties that are aflected prior to a rule going into effect,

is that correct, Ms. Katzen?
Ms. Katzen. Yes, we do.

Senator Levin. Everyone has a chance to comment, is that cor-

rect?

Ms. Katzen. Yes, sir.

Senator Levin. We have what we call due process, so that, for

instance, the people who want to send in those cans can argue
against the rule if they want to.

Ms. Katzen. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. I assume the people who are lobbying for foreign
canners participated fully, making their point that we should not
restrict foreign cans. Isn't that part of the process?
Ms. Katzen. Yes, it is.

Senator Levin. Now, all of a sudden, a bill comes along, which,
I gather, the most recent version is as of last night. There is a
hearing today. There was a proposed markup, as I understand it,

for tomorrow, which has been delayed all of a week, at the request
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of the ranking member. Are we going to be giving due process no-

tice to the parties that are affected by our legislation so that the
domestic can manufacturers can make their point, so that they can
argue against Congress coming in and doing what we don't allow
administrative agencies to do?
Do you know whether or not we have given notice to all of the

interests affected by this moratorium so that they can come in and
make their points? Do you know whether the Committee has done
that?
Ms. Katzen. I think that it is only now beginning to reach the

press within the beltway, let alone outside the beltway
Senator Levin. My question is, do you know whether the Com-

mittee has notified all of the people who would be affected by this

moratorium so that they could express their opinion on the impact
of the moratorium?
Ms. Katzen. I don't know that.

Senator Levin. We will ask the Committee staff whether they
have done so. It seems to me, if we are going to require agencies
to apply fairness, and we should, that is the reason for the Admin-
istrative Procedures Act, so that people whose lives are affected by
these rules can have a chance to comment, that before we rush pell

mell into legislation which was introduced in its most recent ver-

sion last night and is heard today, we should give notice to people
whose lives are affected, including those can manufacturers, includ-

ing the fishing industry in the Great Lakes that has been fighting

against the dumping of these foreign species, which have damaged
the Great Lakes, including those shrimpers down in the South, in-

cluding the water bottlers and everybody else who is affected by
this.

I am going to ask that the Committee, if it has not already, no-
tify the parties and give them a chance to express their views be-
fore we have such an impact on their lives, because, I think, that
is what we require agencies to do and we ought to comply with a
similar approach. That is not a question. I am just telling you that
I will be asking the Committee to do that before this gets to the
floor.

Let me give you another example. I understand there is a rule
which will restrict housing assistance to American citizens and to
people who are here legally, that there is a pending rule. Do you
know anj^hing about that?
Ms. Katzen. There are two rules out of HUD that I have a very

vague familiarity with. One of them implements a Congressional
intent to limit public housing to illegal immigrants.
Senator LEVIN. The restriction is so that illegal immigrants do

not get public housing assistance.
Ms. Katzen. Yes.
Senator Levin. The public wants us to restrict benefits to people

who are here legally. We have a pending rule which will restrict

housing assistance to legal immigrants. This moratorium, appar-
ently, would just stymie that effort, which the public very strongly
supports. Is that your understanding?
Ms. Katzen. That was our understanding, yes.
Senator Levin. We have a proposed rule which is going to re-

strict the import of certain kinds of meat from Portugal. The rea-
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son it is being proposed is to try to prevent the spread of a certain

kind of illness to American cattle.

The U.S. beef producers want this rule. I presume the Por-

tuguese folks don't want this rule. We have given everybody notice.

There is a proposed rule. Are we going to notify the Ainerican beef
manufacturers before we now put a moratorium on a rule which
they have been clamoring for? I sure hope so. I would like to hear
from them. Again, I will be asking the Committee to do that.

We can go on and on with this. You can give example after exam-
ple of where we are having a negative effect on people without giv-

ing them notice of what we are doing, at least in terms of a reason-
able period of time to deliberate. In the administrative process, we
would not tolerate that for one minute.
We would never tolerate an agency promulgating a rule which

has a negative effect or an impact on people's lives without giving

a period for comment after public notice, and yet, some are propos-
ing that we rush pell mell into this kind of a moratorium with all

kinds of consequences on people's lives without the same kind of

reasonable, deliberative notice to people who are affected that we
require the agencies to give.

My time is up, and I hope there is a second round because I want
to ask about some of the process problems with this, not just the
substantive ones.

Chairman RoTH. Thank you, Senator Levin.
I would, of course, point out that this legislation has been much

in the media and much in the press. I think most private sector

companies are pretty much aware of the proposed legislation, just

as a general comment. It never has been the practice of this or any
other Committee to necessarily notify each and every part of the
private sector that may or may not be impacted. But in any
event
Senator Levin. If the Chairman would 5deld, we have never had

a
Chairman ROTH. Let me just finish. Senator Levin.
Senator Levin. We have never had a proposal like this.

Chairman RoTH. I would point out that the legislation was made
available late Friday. But in any event, the thing that concerns me
is what we are tr3dng to address here is the means of eliminating
the bad, not the good. I think that is important to keep in mind.

I have two or three questions I would like to ask you, Ms.
Katzen. Is there any form of the moratorium legislation that you
believe the President would sign and would not veto?
Ms. Katzen. It is very difficult to answer such an abstract ques-

tion. Is anj^hing possible? Something is always possible. He was
commenting yesterday on language and a bill that had been
marked up and is about to be voted on the floor of the House to-

morrow. We had pointed out a number of serious concerns with
that piece of legislation, and what was reported out did not address
any, or virtually any, of those concerns.
The legislative process is a long one, and I can't, at this point,

comment on what his receptiveness would be if substantial modi-
fications were made. But this morning, I noted that, even with the
revisions, we still continue to have concerns with what is before
you.
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Incidentally, I have the information that you had asked for, try-

ing to be responsive, of the number of economically significant as
opposed to significant regulations.

Chairman RoTH. Yes.
Ms. Katzen. For calendar year 1994, 135, and the figure I had

given you of 900 was for the fiscal year, but they are probably fair-

ly comparable. So of roughly 900 regulations that we review for sig-

nificance, about 135 or 150 are economically significant.

Chairman RoTH. Of those, 135 are economically significant?

Ms. Katzen. Right.
Chairman RoTH. Let me ask you this question. You State that

there is increased sensitivity before deciding whether to regulate
now, and yet, how do you respond to the complaints that this ad-
ministration is regulating more heavily than ever before?
Ms. Katzen. There are a number of statutes that have been

passed in recent years that have produced a large number of regu-
lations. These are statutes that were passed with bipartisan sup-
port in the previous Congress and signed by previous Presidents,
who were of both parties. But the last 12 years, they were all Re-
publican Presidents who signed these pieces of legislation, and we
are seeing, in the environmental area, for example, the Clean Air
Act is producing, right now, a lot of regulations. In other areas, the
Oil Pollution Act of 1990 has produced a significant number of reg-
ulations.

Chairman ROTH. Let me ask you this. Has this President submit-
ted any requests for these laws that are bringing about the in-

creased regulation to be modified or changed?
Ms. Katzen. Yes. In the last session, we sent up administration

proposals for modification of the Superfund law. Safe Drinking
Water reauthorization, pesticides
Chairman RoTH. Would they have reduced regulations?
Ms. Katzen. Yes, sir, and they also would have made them more

cost effective. One of the greatest concerns with the Superfund pro-
gram is that we are spending resources and we are not receiving
benefits. We proposed a reform of that which had environmental-
ists' support and which had industry support, and it got through
virtually all of the Senate and it got stymied in the last days of a
contentious Congress. But otherwise, that would have made a seri-
ous advancement in this area.
The Safe Drinking Water was
Chairman Roth. Many of us were supportive of the Superfund

legislation.

Ms. Katzen. And we appreciate that. But the Safe Drinking
Water law that is on the books now requires, and I believe I am
correct, EPA to come up with maximum contaminant levels of pol-
lutants in water, 25 every 3 years. Those can have enormous costs
for State and local governments, among others. Our proposed revi-
sion was, I think at one time, cast in terms of no more than 3 every
3 years, or only the most risky, or some other screen that was put
on it. It was widely debated in the Committees here and on the
floor, and a compromise was reached which would have substan-
tially reduced the amount of regulatory activity that was called for.
That bill, also, was not passed in the last days of the Congress, un-
fortunately.

88-554 - 96 - 3
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Chairman RoTH. I am not here to defend the role of the last Con-
gress. I do have to say, one of my concerns is that the complaints
are increasing that this administration is regulating more heavily.

Let me go back to the immediate legislation, however. Should
Section 5, which authorizes the President to exclude certain regula-

tions, be exempt from judicial review? Should the exercise of Presi-

dential authority be final?

Ms. Katzen. I believe, absolutely no judicial review of Presi-

dential actions in this regard.

Chairman RoTH. I agree with you, and I appreciate that answer.
Senator Glenn?
Senator Glenn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I don't know whether I heard right, but I would have to take ex-

ception with the Chairman's statement that this administration is

regulating more heavily. I think you have taken action over there
to get things in place to go through these regulations.

As you indicated, you had proposals in last year that were caught
up in that 90-day Republican filibuster in the last part of the last

Congress and stopped everything dead in its tracks. Maybe we
would have had this review through. I know we would have had
Congressional coverage through and unfunded mandates through,
had we not had that delay on the floor last fall, and maybe we
would have had some of these other things through, too.

So I just can't accept the statement that this administration is

regulating more heavily. I think where we saw the big increase in

regulation was back in the mid-1980s when we had the Clean Air
Act, Clean Water, and some of those, where there were a lot more
regulations put in. I think any charting of the number of regula-

tions would show that that is where some of these things occurred.

It has been said repeatedly here that we ought to eliminate the
bad and not the good. That is what regulatory review is supposed
to do. We should not just put in a whole moratorium. This ap-
proach is like the classic throwing out the baby with the bath
water. You have some stuff you want to get rid of. You don't want
to get rid of the baby. You want to get rid of the bad regulations.

You don't want to get rid of the good regulations, and that is basi-

cally what a moratorium does.

I brought this up before, and I am not sure we finished on this

one yet. Do you figure that the Alaskans can hunt or can they not
hunt under the way you would interpret the regulation?
Ms. Katzen. I haven't seen an exception in the revised draft that

would allow that regulation to go forward. We thought it would
have been barred under the original language.

Senator Glenn. There is no threat to imminent safety and
health for issues like that, so I would presume that the Native
Alaskans are no longer going to be able to hunt. That rule cleared
the Department of the Interior, as I understand it, the week of
February 6. I don't know whether it has been published in the Fed-
eral Register yet or not, but that would be stopped dead in its

tracks since it occurred after the election, is that correct?
Ms. Katzen. Yes, I believe so.

Senator Glenn. I think so, too.

Another one is the personal communications system. Everybody
has a cellular phone these days. Bidding for these PCS services, as
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they are called, brought in over $6 billion to the Treasury. As I un-
derstand the new bidding that will be coming up, the moratorium
would require a suspension of the auction rules and a return to

those previous methods. Bidders have been preparing their bidding
strategies weeks and months in advance of the auction. In particu-

lar, small businesses really can't afford to get into something like

this, if there is going to be a delay.

Is it your interpretation that these PCS systems, personal com-
munication systems, would be held up, also?

Ms. Katzen. It was our understanding under the earlier version
that it would have been delayed. This raises a very interesting
question that we have not discussed so far, the difference between
executive branch agencies and independent agencies. 0MB reviews
the proposed regulations, the proposed final regulations, of execu-
tive branch agencies but not the independent agencies, and so the
number that I gave the Chairman, 135 economically significant,

are only for executive branch agencies.

This regulation comes from the FCC. We do not review it—I did
not have it on my list—so there would be that additional incre-

ment. One of the issues with the moratorium is that we do not
know what would be covered among the independent agencies,

even though the independent agencies are covered.
So was the FCC's interpretation under the previous statutory

language that it would have been precluded. Whether they would
find that maybe fostering economic growth or some other phrase in

here that has been inserted would cover that would be for them to

decide, and that would, again, depend on the Chairman's interpre-

tation, any other legislative history that would support that.

Senator Glenn. I guess the new regulations on textile import
fraud would also not go into effect, so the Customs Service would
not be able to do as good an investigation on textile import fraud.

Is that your interpretation? That rule was published December 2.

Ms. Katzen. That is my understanding.
Senator Glenn. San Francisco has a problem, as does all of Cali-

fornia, with their water allocation. They have what they call a Bay
Delta agreement among competing interests. It has taken years to

be negotiated. It manages fresh water supply, minimizes water
quality impacts on the Bay, and so on.

The final rule was published January 24. That involves billions

and billions of dollars and is, in some respects, the fruit and vege-
table basket of the U.S. Forty-five percent of the Nation's fruit and
vegetable production comes out of there, and 20 million Califor-

nians are dependent upon this agreement.
Would that final rule be negated?
Ms. Katzen. Apparently. I sort of breathed heavily when you

talked about the Bay Delta, because we spent weeks and months
pulling that together, and even Governor Wilson was applauding
what had finally been worked out between the users for the Bay
Delta. It involved not only EPA regulations, DOI regulations. State/
Federal participants, private sector. It was a great success of bring-
ing everyone together, and I had not remembered that one particu-
larly, but yes, I don't see

Senator Glenn. EPA also intends to publish the standards for
nuclear waste disposal in June of 1995. I suppose those standards
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for nuclear waste disposal would be out of order if this passes, is

that correct?

Ms. Katzen. Under the original terms of the language, yes.

Again, I haven't gone through carefully all of the new exemptions.
Senator Glenn. There was another rule submitted in February

of 1994 for drug and alcohol testing that went into effect January
1, 1995. Is it your interpretation that these new rules that require
drug and alcohol testing and the means of testing, as I understand
it, which is part of this, would be knocked out? It is the new proce-

dures more than anj^hing else.

Mr. SCHULTZ. Senator Glenn, both would be under the morato-
rium.
Senator Glenn. My time is up.

Chairman ROTH. Senator Levin?
Senator Levin. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Ms. Katzen, let me see if I understand the process which would

be used here. First of all, does the bill, as you now read it, just stop
pending significant rulemakings, or does it apply retroactively to

rules that are already in effect, in some cases?
Ms. Katzen. It applies retroactively to some that are in effect

and to those that were finalized before November 9 but didn't have
an effective date until after November 9. So it could have been
something that was made final in August with a 90-day effective

date. I think I have my time right there, or at least the basic idea.

Yes, it would be retroactive.

Senator Levin. So it could apply to rules that were promulgated
even years ago if their final phase-in effective date, for instance,

came after November 9, is that correct?

Ms. Katzen. Correct.

Senator Levin. It is not just like last August. It literally could
apply, for instance, to a court order of a couple of years ago which
said, you have to phase in certain things over a period of time and
the final phase, let us say, was January 1, 1995. Then that would
be undone, too, or would be under the moratorium, is that correct?

Ms. Katzen. Correct.

Senator LEVIN. Do you know what percentage of regulations,

generally, are required by law and what percentage are discre-

tionary under law? Would you be able to give us any kind of an
estimate on that?
Ms. Katzen. A very rough guess would be well over 80 percent.

Senator Levin. Are?
Ms. Katzen. Are required by statute. In some instances, the stat-

utes are highly prescriptive and they tell you exactly what the reg-

ulations have to look like. In other instances, they will be less so,

and there is some discretion within the agency or department for

formulating the response.
All regulations, ultimately, come from statutes, because the exec-

utive branch is not on its own folly carrying out whatever it wishes
to do. So, ultimately, all are covered, but the 80 percent figure is

where what we call specifically mandated by statute, by either a
particular time or a particular result or a particular process.
Senator Levin. Is it true that after a rule has been issued, or

even in preparation for its being issued, that you have people that
spend money in reliance on its being issued or having been issued?
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Ms. Katzen. Yes, that is frequently the case.

Senator Levin. So, for instance, let us take the rule that sets cer-

tain limits in bottled water. That was published December 1 of last

year. Is it possible that the water bottling companies have made
investments in order to comply with that rule? Mr. Schultz?
Mr. SCHULTZ. I think it is very possible.

Senator Levin. So we would be telling people who relied on the
rule and have made investments in it, in fact, some people who
may have very much favored the rule, that now there is a morato-
rium on this whole thing for some unspecified period of time? Is

that your understanding?
Mr. Schultz. Yes.
Senator Levin. Senator Glenn has said, what we are involved in

is some regulatory reform. We have had a regulatory reform bill

over here where we are trjdng to do certain things in order to im-
prove regulation, and that is what we ought to keep our focus on.

The moratorium is going to be a massive and a chaotic distraction

fi-om our ongoing regulatory reform effort.

But now, let us focus on regulatory reform. If we pass regulatory
reform, which will put into law what is now in the Executive Order
in terms of cost-benefit analysis, that may have some risk analysis

in it, for instance. Is it your understanding that the regulatory re-

form bills would be prospective?
Ms. Katzen. Yes, they are.

Senator LEVIN. What is the purpose, then, of the moratorium? If

the rules that are being held up are not going to be subject to

whatever new regulatory reforms we put into law, what, then, be-

comes the purpose of the moratorium?
Ms. Katzen. I am not sure I am the best witness to answer that

particular question.
Senator Levin. What would you understand, then, the purpose to

be? It would seem to me that one argument might be that if you
have a moratorium, if you can figure out something that works,
that you want to then subject whatever rules have been held up
to that regulatory reform. But if the future regulatory reform
which incorporates the Executive Order or something like it on
cost-benefit analysis and has some risk analysis isn't intended to

apply to what you are holding up, what do you understand, then,
to be the argument for the moratorium?
Ms. Katzen. I think part of the motivation for a moratorium is

to give additional time to try to begin to change some of the laws,
but that, too, would be prospective, so we would be in the same po-
sition that you were describing. The sole effect would be on regula-
tions which are in the proposed state—a notice of proposed rule-
making has already been issued, the parties have already com-
mented, the agency is about to go final. The moratorium would
cease regulatory activity in that regard.
Then, presumably, under your hypothesis, the new legislation

would be passed, and, apparently, at that point, the agency would
be sent back, told to return to "go"

Senator Levin. Just to complete that line, then, do you know of
any regulatory reform legislation which is retroactive in that way?
Ms. Katzen. No.
Senator Levin. Thank you.
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Chairman ROTH. Thank you, Senator Levin.

We will keep the record open for 2 days for additional questions.

Let me underscore the fact that this legislation only involves the

significant regulatory rules. I think you said that there are some-
thing like 900 of them, is that correct?

Ms. Katzen. Nine hundred a year.

Chairman ROTH. Nine hundred a year. And under this legisla-

tion, the President is able to exempt on any number of reasons, in-

cluding those which principally involve international military

events, routine administration, and so forth, so that the legislation

does recognize and provides for situations that have been raised by
a number of the Senators in their questions.

I would ask that particularly you, Ms. Katzen, but all three of

you, any suggestions you have on this legislation that would im-
prove upon it, the language and so forth, would be most helpful

and we would appreciate working with you on this matter.

Ms. Katzen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Kaplan. Thank you.

Mr. SCHULTZ. Thank you.
Chairman ROTH. Thank you very much.
Senator Glenn. Mr. Chairman, may I make just one statement?
Chairman Roth. Yes.
Senator Glenn. I would presume, and I don't ask your response

to this, that personal use of campaign funds by a Federal can-

didate, as defined in the Ethics Reform Act of 1989, would also be
affected. The FTC recently created rules to avoid confusion over

club memberships, clothing, tuition payments, mortgage and rent

payments on a candidate's personal residence. These rules also

would be knocked out by a moratorium, and the rules have already
been submitted.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman ROTH. I am not sure whether that would be classified

as a significant rule or not.

Senator Glenn. I think it is on Capitol Hill.

Chairman RoTH. But under the legislation.

Thank you all very much.
Chairman Roth. At this time, it is my pleasure to call forward

the second and final panel. We have C. Boyden Gray, who is Chair-
man of the Citizens for a Sound Economy; Thomas Donohue, who
is President and CEO of the American Trucking Association; Dean
McGrath, Senior Attorney, American Automobile Manufacturers
Association; Sal Risalvato, who is a small business owner rep-

resenting the National Federation of Independent Business, fi'om

Riverdale Texaco in Riverdale, New Jersey; David Hawkins, Senior
Attorney for the Natural Resources Defense Council; and Rainer
Mueller, who represents Safe Tables Our Priority.

Gentlemen, it is our pleasure to welcome each and every one of

you. We would ask you to keep your statements to 7 minutes or
less. Your full statement will be included as if read.
Mr. Gray, welcome. It is nice to have you here.

TESTIMONY OF C. BOYDEN GRAY, CHAIRMAN, CITIZENS FOR A
SOUND ECONOMY

Mr. Gray. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much.
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I will try to be very, very brief, because I think most of the issues

that I would raise have been covered, but I have just three quick

points.

I think that moratoria are not that difficult to manage. President

Reagan did one. President Bush did another. There were no dif-

ficulties that I am aware of, no hunting bans, no fishing bans. I be-

lieve if these exceptions are administered with common sense and
they are not subject to judicial review, I don't see why there would
be a huge problem in administering this.

Why is it necessary to do or why is it important to do? I think

it is very important to have a time out to begin the process of re-

viewing existing regulations. I gather yesterday President Clinton

announced that this was all going to begin, but I do think it is use-

ful in commencing, in embarking on a process of reviewing inher-

ited regulations that you stop, at least for a while, work on new
ones, unless, of course, there is a health and safety or administra-

tive or foreign policy reason to do so.

What are some of the rules that would be caught? I really don't

believe that most of the stories that I have heard this morning
would be caught, but there has been little discussion of what would
be. Two examples that I would just like to mention briefly came out

of the Clean Air Act and represent distortions of what I think you
intended and what I think President Bush intended when the stat-

ute was enacted.
One is one that was also referenced by Dean McGrath in his tes-

timony, the so-called California car rule, the OTC rule which af-

fects, Mr. Chairman, your State. I believe it is a very expensive,

very anti-competitive rule. It really ought to be stopped. It really

ought to be looked at. If it goes into effect before your legislation

or some other regulatory reform legislation is adopted, I am afraid

that it will be lost forever, and many of the reforms that you have
proposed would simply be lost. This is too big a rule, too important
a rule, involves too much money, many, many billions of dollars.

It is too important to let go into effect before it can be reviewed
under your legislation.

The same is true of the permitting rule. The flexibility portion

of it was reproposed in the current administration. If you are wor-
ried about regulating regulators, which there is some concern this

bill would do, take a look at the permitting rule and see how regu-

lators will be regulating everj^thing that businesses do. You
couldn't expand, you couldn't put on an additional shift without
having notice and comment, even if the increase in emissions,

which always accompanies any expansion, would not violate any
existing standards.
So I think these rules should be looked at very, very carefully,

and they should be subject to the legislation that you will be con-

sidering this year. Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Gray follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF C. BOYDEN GRAY

Good morning. Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee: My name is C.

Boyden Gray, and I am a partner at Wilmer Cutler & Pickering, and I am Chair-
man of Citizens for a Sound Economy, a 250,000 grassroots research and education
organization that advocates market-based solutions to public policy problems. Thank
you for inviting me here today to discuss the importance of regulatory reform and
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the "Regulatory Transition Act of 1995." This legislation would implement a morato-
rium on regulations that would suspend certain significant regulator actions by fed-

eral agencies. The moratorium would end on December 31, 1995 or when Congress
enacts comprehensive regulatory reform legislation (whichever is earlier).

Regulatory reform has a long history of bipartisan support, as was evidenced by
efforts in the previous Congress to reduce the regulatory burden on consumers and
businesses in the United States through sound risk assessment and other reforms.

The new 104th Congress is continuing these reform efforts with regulatory reforms
bills in both the House and Senate. The "Regulatory Transition Act of 1995" in-

cludes a temporary moratorium on new regulations so that agencies may more care-

fully assess the impact of their regulatory agendas. Agencies would have the oppor-

tunity to take stock of their current regulatory programs while, at the same time,

Congress would have time to enact new tools for regulatory reform that will improve
the regulatory review process and rationalize the regulatory burden imposed on the

public. However, the moratorium legislation is careful to allow those regulations re-

quired for imminent health or safety problems, for administrative regulations, for

military or foreign affairs, and for rules that are necessary to streamline the govern-
ment.

A Temporary Hold on Regulations Makes Good Sense

Americans currently face an annual regulatory burden of more than $500 billion,

or $5,000 per household. In addition, the public spends more than six billion hours
a year complying with federal information requests. Excessive paperwork and bur-

densome regulations can thwart economic growth and hamper the global competi-
tiveness of the U.S. economy. The Clinton Administration's Regulatory Plan and
Unified Agenda of Federal Regulations, issued November 14, 1994 identifies over

4,300 rulemakings throughout the Federal Government. With such a large number
of rulemakings underway, it is difficult for agencies to allocate the personnel and
resources necessary to conduct a thorough review of existing regulations. The regu-

latory moratorium would provide federal regulators the time to review existing regu-

lations without the pressure to simultaneously move forward with rulemakings in

the agenda. (It also eliminates the pressure created by judicial and statutory dead-
lines by extending them for five months.) A moratorium would be the ideal oppor-
tunity to prune unnecessary and outdated federal regulations.

President Reagan and President Bush relied on a regulatory moratorium to re-

view existing regulations before undertaking any further regulatory initiatives.

President Bush's regulatory moratorium, which was announced in his January 1992
State of the Union address, identified opportunities for a number of regulatory im-
provements. The moratorium generated substantial benefits for consumers, includ-

ing: accelerated approval of new drugs by the FDA, improved regulation of bio-

technology products, and the development of market-based incentives to comply with
the Clean Air Act. The Regulatory Transition Act of 1995 will allow another look

back at regulatory burdens.

Improving the Regulatory Review Process

Both the Senate and the House are moving forward with a series of regulatory
reforms, such as risk assessment and the use of sound science, enhanced cost-bene-

fit requirements, a stronger Paperwork Reduction Act, and the use of market-based
incentives in the regulatory process. A moratorium would allow Congress the oppor-
tunity to enact these regulatory reforms. In turn, federal agencies could then use
these important tools when reviewing current rulemakings.
When regulatory review was first formalized by the Reagan Administration in Ex-

ecutive Order 12291, benefit-cost analysis provided the foundation for evaluating
federal regulations. Coupled with centralized review of agency regulations by the Of-
fice of Information and Regulatory Affairs (OIRA) within the Office of Management
and Budget, the regulatory burden was reduced substantially, saving consumers bil-

lions of dollars. In effect, regulators were required to demonstrate a clear need for

regulatory action, determine that the benefits of regulation were commensurate to

their costs, and that the least-cost alternative was used to achieve regulatory objec-

tives.

President Clinton continued the tradition of centralized regulatory review with
presidential oversight in his Executive Order 12866. However, an expanded defini-

tion of benefits increases agency discretion and weakens the benefit-cost analysis.

Procedural changes also reduced the number of rules submitted to OIRA by the
agencies. Although the executive order required agencies to use risk assessment and
market-based incentives when developing regulations, there appears to be some re-

luctance to adopt these regulatory tools.
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A regulatory moratorium provides an opportunity to determine the extent to

which the federal agencies are implementing market incentives and risk assess-

ments required by President Clinton. The Clinton executive order also included re-

quirements to review existing regulations; to date, the review has not been com-
pleted. While evaluating these concerns under the moratorium, the regulatory re-

form agenda in Congress will be moving forward with new approaches to regulation

that will provide greater benefits to the public.

Risk Assessment

The new Congress understands the importance of risk assessment as a means of

reducing the hidden tax of regulation. Establishing a risk assessment process that
incorporates the best available scientific knowledge while clearly explaining the un-
derlying assumptions will provide an important addition to cost-benefit analysis

that can be used to reduce tne burden of excessive regulations that provide marginal
reductions in negligible risks at very high prices. Risk assessments will ensure that

scarce resources are allocated towards reducing those hazards that pose the greatest
risk to the public. Reforms currently underway in Congress require agencies to de-

vote their regulatory resources to just such problems.
Risk assessment should be viewed as an important complement to benefit-cost

analysis. Health and safety regulations are the fastest growing component of the
federal regulatory burden. While benefit-cost analysis was successful in identifying

excessive economic regulations, it is not as well suited for identifying excessive
health and safety regulations. Risk assessment allows a more careful evaluation of
hazards and the benefits of regulation that can be used in conjunction with benefit-

cost analysis to develop sensible regulations.

Market-Based Incentives

Properly designed market incentive programs provide the flexibility needed to ful-

fill regulatory objectives in the most cost-effective manner. Traditional command-
and-control regulations establish broad programs that cannot take into account the
particular circumstances of individual firms or different production processes. Mar-
ket-based regulations, on the other hand, reward innovations that reduce the cost

of regulatory compliance. Typically, market-based regulations encourage voluntary
exchanges and entrepreneurial responses to meeting regulatory goals. The Reagan
and Bush Administrations had a number of programs that relied on market-based
incentives: takeoff and landing rights at congested airports, allocating the radio
spectrum, and the uniform lead content standard, which allowed the EPA to acceler-

ate the phaseout of lead while generating $250 million in savings.
Perhaps the best known example of a market-based approach to regulation is the

Acid Rain Allowance Trading Program. The Clean Air Act of 1990 established a cap
of 8.95 million tons of SO2 emissions per year, which is 10 million ton per year re-

duction over 1980 levels. By establishing an allowance market based on trading, this

regulatory objective was achieved at a greatly reduced cost and much quicker than
was possible using traditional command-and-control regulatory policies. The cost per
unit of emissions was initially estimated at $1,500 per ton in the statute. However,
through market trades, significant innovations have emerged and the cost has fallen

to $150 per ton, saving consumers billions of dollars. In addition, the clean up is

40 percent ahead of the statutory schedule.
Market-based incentives provide an alternative to command-and-control regula-

tions that can provide much lower compliance costs in the marketplace and fewer
administrative costs within the federal agencies. The record to date suggests signifi-

cant gains can be made through a greater reliance on market incentives.

Identifying Substantive Regulations

Another important reason to implement a moratorium is to revisit current
rulemakings using the regulatory reforms being examined by the Congress. There
are a number of significant rules in the 4,300 rulemakings listed in the administra-
tion's regulatory agenda. Incorporating risk assessment and market-based incen-
tives into the regulatory review process and avoid unnecessary regulations that do
not provide benefits commensurate to their costs. Some examples of current rules
that would benefit from the review and application of new procedures are as follows:
The California car regulation for the Northeast, issued by the EPA just before

Christmas and thus covered by the proposed moratorium, is a rule that demands
careful scrutiny whether or not the moratorium is enacted. Although the agency has
endorsed trading programs in the past, its comments on the California car suggest
a different approach: "EPA believes that information is not yet sufficient to support
an intersector trading approach." The rule ignores the regulatory lessons of the last
two decades, especially the experience with the Acid Rain program, and it violates
the spirit of the 1990 Amendments to the Clean Air Act.
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The rule mandates that the Northeast require the sale of the so-called California

car to address ozone levels. In so doing, it encourages the car companies to trade

their resulting emission reduction responsibilities among themselves, but prohibits

them from trading with utilities, who are elsewhere encouraged also to trade among
themselves, but not with the care companies. By thus artificially fragmenting these

emission markets, EPA has engineered one of the costliest rules in history. EPA's
refusal to use market-based incentives represents a significant departure from ear-

lier statements by the EPA support for market based trading: "The Agency is very
supportive of efforts to trade emission reductions among mobile and stationary

sources. . . .

The leading broker in SO2 allowances under the Acid Rain Program, CACM, has
calculated the costs as follows, using data published by the car companies, oil com-
panies, and utilities themselves. By the year 2007, when the California car rule will

be fully effective, the cost to the Northeast will be $4.7 billion a year. The cumu-
lative cost to that date will be $20 billion. CACM calculates, however, that if the

car companies could purchase their reductions in the marketplace as utilities are

entitled to under the Acid Rain Program, the California car would cost only $157
million annually beginning in 2007. This represents a savings of $4.6 billion per

year.

By ignoring the lessons of the Acid Rain Program, the EPA rule will also lose all

the benefits of innovation that market incentives provide. It is thus a throwback to

1960s-style command-and-control regulation, and a most discouraging precedent for

those seeking the most cost-effective solutions to environmental problems.
A preliminary list of additional burdensome regulations should also include

(among others):

1. The Great Lakes Initiative Clean Water Quality Guidance. This EPA rule-

making would establish uniform water quality standards for eight different

states. EPA estimates the costs between $190 million to $505 million per
year, although some economists predict the costs could be as high as $2.7 bil-

lion. In addition, many have raised concerns that this rulemaking will not

provide significant environmental benefits. The rulemaking has a court-or-

dered deadline of March 13, 1995.

2. Race and Gender Disclosure Requirements. The Federal Reserve Board
would not be allowed to move forward with a requirement that thrifts and
banks collect race and gender information for business loans less than $1
million. The rulemaking has its origins in the Community Reinvestment Act;

however, it contradicts other Federal Reserve requirements that prohibit col-

lecting such data on loan applications.

3. Clean Air Enhanced Monitoring Rule. The EPA is working to meet an April

30, 1995 deadline to complete a rulemaking that would revamp 25 years
worth of state emissions monitoring standards. The EPA estimates compli-

ance costs of $1 billion per year, but private sector economists suggest the

costs will be much higher.
4. OSHA Ergonomics Protection Standard. A Notice of Proposed Rulemaking is

expected this spring that would implement dollar rule new standards to re-

duce repetitive motion injuries. Among other things, this multi-billion dollar

rule would require employers to modify work stations and develop written
plans.

5. Indoor Air Quality. The Occupational, Safety, and Health Administration
would not be able to move forward with indoor air quality rulemaking that

was first proposed in April 1994. The rule would require restaurants, retail-

ers, and others to implement indoor air quality programs and ventilation

plans. The rule is estimated to cost over $8 billion per year.

6. Clean Air Permitting Rule. The moratorium would keep EPA from finalizing

a costly permitting rule that goes far beyond the congressional purpose be-

hind Title V of the 1990 amendments to the Clean Air Act. Changes made
by EPA over the last two years make this a prime example of a costly and
burdensome regulation. While providing few, if any, environmental benefits,

the rule would stifle industrial innovations, impede economic growth, and
empower state and federal bureaucrats to micro-manage industrial produc-
tion.

A regulatory moratorium would allow these rules to be re-assessed in light of the
regulatory review initiatives being considered by Congress. This will allow the agen-
cies to improve their rulemakings, ensuring Americans that identifiable and harm-
ful risks are being addressed, and that the regulations to control these risks gen-
erate benefits commensurate to their costs.
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Conclusion

"The Regulatory Transition Act of 1995" provides the opportunity to move forward

with refinements in the regulatory process. Congressional initiatives for regulatory

reform can be debated and enacted before the end of the moratorium. In turn, these

new regulatory tools would be in place to review the regulations on hold during the

moratorium. This would facilitate the identification of potentially costly rules while

providing the public with greater information concerning the benefits of any given

rule. With enhanced tools for regulatory review, the rules under discussion during

the moratorium can be implemented in a more beneficial manner. The regulatory

moratorium provides the time necessary to introduce new tools for regulatory review

while allowing agencies the time to review their current regulatory agendas. I will

be happy to answer any questions you have on these issues. Thank you, Mr. Chair-

man and Members of the Committee.

Chairman Roth. Thank you, Mr. Gray.

Mr. Donohue?

TESTIMONY OF THOMAS J. DONOHUE, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER, AMERICAN TRUCKING ASSOCIATIONS,
INC.

Mr. Donohue. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me just tell you a little bit about the trucking business. We

are the Nation's largest transportation mode. We employ 7.8 mil-

lion people. We represent 5 percent of the gross domestic product,

earning more than $312 billion in 1993. Eighty percent of all the

trucking companies in your State and in our country are small,

very small entrepreneurial businesses.

Yesterday, Mr. Chairman, something very special happened that

doesn't happen very often in our industry. The entire transpor-

tation community, land, sea, and air, joined together to speak with

one voice on the subject of regulatory reform. Our forum was a live

press conference and discussion broadcast over Transat, the Amer-
ican Trucking Associations satellite network. In addition to the

leaders from trucking, railroad, automobiles, ports, and air trans-

port, four former Secretaries of the Department of Transportation

participated, as did Representative David Mcintosh and a distin-

guished Member of the Senate, Senator Don Nickles.

What brought this vast array of leaders together is very simple:

the fact that Federal regulators are strangling transportation in

this country. The Federal rulemaking process has spun out of con-

trol and it is costing American jobs, strangling small businesses,

and raising prices for every one of us. Confusion and contradiction

have infected the Federal rulemaking process, and some regulators

approach their task like punishers when they should be acting like

problem solvers. They have created, in my opinion, a crisis in con-

fidence between the people and the government, and the cynicism

and distrust felt by everyday Americans is growing day by day.

From the perspective of the trucking industry, trucking pays $8.5

billion annually just to comply with regulations. That is more than
$6,500 per large truck. But more than that, the future is what con-

cerns us. However, I am convinced through a little more sensible

approach to Federal rulemaking, trucking could create tens of thou-

sands of additional good-pa3dng jobs for Americans without jeop-

ardizing the health and safety of the drivers or the drivers of cars

on our roads.
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That is why we support S. 219, a bill to freeze implementation
and promulgation of Federal regulation and put the brakes on run-
away Federal rulemaking.
But once that is done, we need to move forward, Mr. Chairman,

and complete an overhaul of the Federal regulation process that in-

cludes cost-benefit analysis, risk assessment, and private property
protection.

We recognize fully that some regulation is always going to be
necessary. In fact, the trucking industry has a solid record of ag-

gressive action to improve safety. We fought hard for the commer-
cial drivers license. We pushed for random drug testing for drivers

and a ban on the use of radar detectors. These regulations not only

make sense, but have led to a 37 percent decline in the fatality rate

while the amount of miles we drive have gone up 41 percent.

There are three examples of the type of thing that is significantly

affecting our business.
The California Federal implementation plan put out by the Envi-

ronmental Protection Agency, which would have cost that State $50
billion and 500,000 jobs, would basically have shut down trucking

in that part of the country and would have impeded air and rail

travel. It made no sense. We have spent a fortune in time and en-

ergy on that, and, thankfully, last week, it appears we are begin-

ning to get some reprieve from EPA.
OSHA, an organization that has affected, particularly in Senator

Glenn's State, the activities of many companies and manufacturers,
was about to come out with a rule dealing with ergonomics, a very
complicated subject, but it was going to say that nobody in our in-

dustry could pick up something, unaided, that weighed more than
25 pounds. Senator Glenn's briefcase weighs more than 25 pounds.
We can't have this kind of foolishness.

At DOT, we support drug and alcohol testing. In fact, we had to

fight hard to get drug testing. But the alcohol testing rules, which
contain pre-employment alcohol testing, were put out in a way that

forced us to begin testing before the DOT even finished their own
rulemakings of how we were to go about this. By the way, when
you employ 7.8 million people and you hire as many as we do every

year, testing is a matter of a couple hundred million dollars. When
you get down to a pre-employment alcohol test, it is a stupidity

test. If you are going to come looking for a job drunk, you are not

going to get it.

We think it is time to stop and pause a minute and say, S. 219,
if put in place, will accelerate the process of passing meaningful
regulatory reform.

I did pause for a minute as I listened this morning to a lot of

the questions from a group of members of the panel who are prob-

ably opposed to the legislation and from representatives of the
President, who have clearly been told to be opposed to the legisla-

tion. A few points were missed. Generally, if the cost of the regula-

tion is not more than $100 million, it doesn't get covered, and most
of the things I heard talked about are not $100 million.

This issue stops regulations that have not yet been put out, like

that 25-pound OSHA regulation. If that doesn't get out because of

S. 219, I am happy, because then it would have to pass a cost and
reasonable science test before it could be implemented.
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I think it is a very simple issue here. By passing S. 219, we hold
off unnecessary regulation, we accelerate the process of review and
consideration, and we move forward to doing something in this

country that is very, very important. Let us restore the confidence
of those who are regulated in the government who is regulating us.

Thank you very much, sir.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Donohue follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THOMAS J. DONOHUE

I. INTRODUCTION

A. ATA REPRESENTS THE TRUCKING INDUSTRY

I am Thomas J. Donohue, President and Chief Executive Officer of the American
Trucking Associations (ATA), the national trade association of the trucking industry.
The ATA federation includes over 34,000 motor carriers, an affiliated association in

every State, and 11 conferences representing individual segments of the industry.
The ATA federation represents every type and class of motor carrier in the country.
Thank you for moving ahead on the proposal to freeze the implementation and

promulgation of federal regulations. This freeze is absolutely essential to give Con-
gress the window of opportunity to fundamentally improve Federal rulemaking.
ATA is committed to work with you to enact the freeze and to require cost-benefit

analysis, risk assessment with good science, and private property protections in all

regulations issued at the Federal level.

In our view, there is nothing you could do this year that would leave a stronger
legacy for our country or produce more economic opportunity for our people than
regulatory reform.

B. THE TRUCKING INDUSTRY SERVES AMERICA

Trucking is the nation's largest freight transportation mode. The trucking indus-
try employs 7.8 million people throughout the country in jobs that relate to trucking
activity—a number that exceeds the population of 42 of our 50 States. The industry
has gross freight revenues equal to nearly 5 percent of the Gross Domestic Prod-
uct—a total of $312 billion in 1993. Trucks account for 78 percent of the Nation's
freight bill and transport 45 percent of total tonnage shipped by all modes—3.1 bil-

lion tons of freight annually.

C. THE TRUCKING INDUSTRY IS HEAVILY REGULATED

This year alone, government regulations will cost the trucking industry $8.5 bil-

lion (an average $6,571 per truck, or 7.5 percent of the truck's annual gross re-

ceipts). The Federal Government regulates virtually every aspect of how we operate
our business, focusing on three major areas: safety and engineering, the environ-
ment, and labor and human resources. There are rules telling us how to mark our
trailers, how to maintain our trucks, how to determine if our drivers are qualified,
and how our drivers must operate their vehicles. There are even regulations that
make truckers responsible for water pollution caused when it rains on our prop-
erties.

The trucking industry is committed to safety and a clean environment and we
have a record of voluntary action to prove it. ATA has consistently supported rea-
sonable regulations such as the Commercial Driver's License, random drug testing
of drivers, and clean air provisions. We recognize that in the pursuit of those goals
some regulation is necessary. However, our industry cannot sustain the burden of
continued excessive regulation that does nothing to improve safety or productivity.
Nor can the country.

Right now, the U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) has more than 500
people who work just on trucking issues. They write rules, publish rules, enforce
rules, and change rules. Similar people are working at a host of other Federal agen-
cies that have the power to regulate the trucking industry, including: the Depart-
ment of Labor, the Interstate Commerce Commission, the Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA), and the Internal Revenue Service, to name just a few.
Equipment standards alone cost the industry over $430 million a year. New emis-

sion standards to meet clean air requirements will raise the price of a vehicle 10
to 20 percent, costing our industry $2 billion a year. And if the government man-
dates anti-lock brakes for heavy trucks, you can add another $120 million in annual
expense.
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In addition to these truck-specific costs, there are others—like labor costs—which
all businesses share, but which fall harder on labor-intensive industries like truck-

ing. We suffer disproportionately the cost of complying with regulations governing
employment, workplace safety and health, and benefits.

Because 75 percent of the nation's communities depend exclusively on trucks for

their freight, the economy cannot prosper without a healthy trucking industry.

Trucking companies, on average, eke out just a 2 percent profit margin.
Overregulation is especially difficult for the 88 percent of trucking companies that

are small businesses.

II. ATA SUPPORTS SWIFT PASSAGE OF S. 219

A. ATA SUPPORTS THE MORATORIUM

ATA supports S. 219, which would freeze promulgation and implementation of

federal regulations from November 9, 1994 until December 31, 1995 and delay dead-

lines by 5 months, or until comprehensive regulatory reform legislation is enacted.

This freeze would provide Congress the time to consider and enact comprehensive
regulatory reform that would require agencies to make sure that the benefits of the

regulation will exceed the costs and that there will be an assessment of risks that

incorporates peer review and good science.

Let me give you some examples of the kinds of foolish and shortsighted regula-

tions that have been promulgated or will be made effective between November 9 and
last December 31 that directly affect the trucking industry.

1. Random Alcohol Testing Required Before the Rules were Written.

On January 1, 1995, trucking companies with over 50 drivers were required to

begin randomly testing drivers for alcohol. Unfortunately for the industry, USDOT
had not finished writing the rules establishing how the test must be administered.

This has led to confusion and unnecessary costs. Motor carriers have been forced

to implement an expensive testing system when decisions made in the next few
months could allow a much cheaper—and just as effective—solution.

USDOT had been petitioned in October to delay implementation for all types of

alcohol testing until the rules were finished. The Department did not act on that

petition until the 11th hour—just 2 days before implementation of the regulation

—

and they did not publicize their action until January 5. USDOT agreed that its fail-

ure to finalize the rules was justification for delaying the beginning date for pre-

employment alcohol testing until May 1, 1995, but did not agree to delay random
testing, which must be done by motor carriers at their own expense.
USDOT's response to these objections was illogical and would not survive a cost-

benefit test. We have given DOT a reasonable option by supporting random, road-

side testing, which proved successful in a four-state pilot program in 1993.

2. Documentation of Forbidden Tests.

If you're looking for a prime example of the contradictory and confusing nature
of federal rulemaking, consider this: on December 2, 1994, USDOT prohibited truck-

ing companies from using blood to test for alcohol impairment. This decision went
against our recommendation and left thousands of motor carriers with fewer options

to use to test their drivers.

Yet USDOT went a step further by requiring companies to document the name,
address, and telephone number of blood testing facilities they could have used if

USDOT had allowed it. Over 500,000 trucking companies will be required to un-
cover this information and produce it at any time that they are unable to use a
breath testing device for reasonable suspicion or post-accident testing. Of course, be-

cause USDO"! prohibited blood testing in the first place, the number of testing facili-

ties carriers can find does not reflect what would be available if blood testing were
permitted!
We believe that freezing this requirement and then subjecting it to cost-benefit

analysis would reduce our costs without impairing safety.

3. Micro-managing Physical Activity.

OSHA is planning to issue new regulations on ergonomics in the near future.

OSHA had sought in the last Congress to obtain specific legal authority for a provi-

sion that would require employers to redesign or completely eliminate work-related
tasks that cause so-called "repetitive strain injuries," or "cumulative trauma dis-

orders." Congress did not act favorably on the legislation, so the agency is now using
its regulatory powers.
Among the tasks that OSHA could require employers to eliminate is lifting more

than 25 pounds. My briefcase weighs more than 25 pounds and imagine yours does
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too, Mr. Chairman. Such an intrusion into the operations of American business is

unprecedented. Even the Americans With Disabihties Act doesn't go that far. In

fact, we beheve that if issued, OSHA's ergonomics standard will be one of the most
costly and complicated regulations ever issued by the Federal Government. We esti-

mate the costs of compliance to the trucking industry alone will be in the billions

of dollars—not only in direct compliance costs, but also in additional costs associated

with workers' compensation claims.

We believe that this regulation should be delayed and should be subjected to a

rigorous assessment of the science behind the risk and a demonstration that the

benefits of this regulatory intrusion are worth the costs.

4. Irrational Clean. Air Dictates.

EPA is under a court order to issue a "Federal Implementation Plan" for parts

of California. EPA estimates these rules will cost the California economy $6 billion

a year. The "FIP" that was proposed by EPA earlier this year would require trucks

to drive out of California and return before they could make a second pick-up or

delivery. It would have cut back on the number of aircraft flights by Vs and even
require the gas from cows eating grass to be controlled.

I am pleased to say that EPA recently agreed to a 2 year delay in the effective

date in the start of the FIP. If nothing else, this gives California's state plan, which
contains many features supported by the industry, a chance to go forward. However,
EPA still issued final rules last week that will, in effect, put the industry in a hos-

tage situation if the government fails to approve the California plan.

B. THE CONGRESS MUST ACT QUICKLY

We urge Congress to enact S. 219 as soon as possible. We understand that S. 219
would freeze regulations that we're promulgated or made effective even before the

bill becomes law. However, as each day goes by, the number of regulatory burdens
on industry increases. We do not want to incur the problems and the costs of com-
plying with these new regulations if the impact of the regulatory reform provisions

will require them to be totally reanalyzed.

III. RECONSIDER JUDICIAL REVIEW

We encourage the Committee to take a closer look at the proposal in the latest

staff draft that would prohibit judicial review of the President's decisions to exempt
certain regulations from the moratorium. We believe the latest draft of the bill pro-

vides a great deal of flexibility to the administration by listing eight types of regula-

tions that the President can exclude from the moratorium. However, we are con-

cerned that the President's decisions cannot be reviewed in court, and are therefore

"above the law." And nobody should be above the law.

This is more than just a philosophical issue. For example, the President can ex-

clude a regulation from the moratorium that "has as its principal effect fostering
economic growth." This could be construed to mean practically anything, and yet the
President's decision—or interpretation—could not be challenged in court.

The current Regulatory Flexibility Act has a provision that insulates the Execu-
tive Branch from court review of its decisions as they affect small business rules.

The regulatory reform proposals before Congress would close this loophole. We think
judicial review is an important element of overall regulatory reform.

IV. CONCLUSION

ATA supports S. 219 which would freeze promulgation and implementation of fed-

eral regulations until December 31 and extend deadlines for 5 months. We encour-
age the Congress to move swiftly on this legislation.

Let me underscore a point I made at the outset. If you do nothing else this year,
enact the moratorium followed by comprehensive regulatory reform legislation. This
would be far more significant than any tax cut because it would permanently
change the relationship between government and business. Change that relation-

ship, and you will trigger an explosion of economic opportunity for Americans with-
out compromising health or safety.

That would be a real revolution.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify. I would be pleased to answer any ques-
tions.

Chairman ROTH. Thank you.
Mr. Mueller, thank you for being here.
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TESTIMONY OF RAINER MUELLER, BOARD MEMBER, SAFE
TABLES OUR PRIORITY

Mr. Mueller. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Hello. My name is Rainer Mueller and I have traveled here from

Oceanside, California. I am currently on the National Board of Di-

rectors of Safe Tables Our Priority. STOP is a grassroots organiza-
tion headquartered in Carlsbad, California, which was started in

the wake of the Jack-in-the-Box E. coli outbreak on the West Coast,
when hundreds of people became sick and over half-a-dozen died
from eating contaminated hamburger meat.
Thank you for the opportunity to address this panel on S. 219,

the Regulatory Transition Act of 1995. I am here to tell you about
the dire consequences that would result in the enactment of this

moratorium.
In the fall of 1993, my 13-year-old son died from eating a cheese-

burger. A new meat inspection rule which could have prevented his

death would be stopped by this legislation. My son paid the ulti-

mate price for eating one of his favorite foods.

This is in a country rapidly approaching the 21st century, consid-

ered by many to be a world leader, but its meat inspection laws are
holdovers from the 19th century. The meat industry currently uses
the old-fashioned poke-and-sniff meat inspection system, which
does not adequately detect deadly bacteria. There are nearly five

million illnesses and 4,000 deaths every year due to the ingestion
of tainted meat and poultry.

Could you imagine if the FAA still utilized the same aviation reg-

ulations from the age of the Wright brothers with todays jet trav-

el? Consumers wouldn't stand for it. Now, it is the same with gov-

ernment meat inspection.
Death by E. coli and hemolytic uremic syndrome is a very painful

and torturous death. As a parent, standing by and watching my
only son go through incredible agony and pain before he lost con-
sciousness and died was something I don't even want to wish on
my worst enemy. Immediately before slipping into unconsciousness,
my son screamed, "Get my dad." Those were the last words he ever
said. I couldn't do an3rthing for him. I am haunted daily by this in-

credible, totally senseless tragedy.
The day Eric came down with bloody diarrhea, I rushed him to

our clinic, where he was diagnosed with appendicitis. He was im-
mediately admitted to our local hospital, where an appendectomy
was performed. His appendix was normal. Two days later, he was
sent home.
Two days later, he was admitted to the hospital because his

health was steadily declining. His kidneys were beginning to fail.

As I was to learn much later, this is the first sign of hemolytic
uremic syndrome, also known as HUS.
After 2 days, Eric's pediatrician ordered him transferred to Chil-

dren's Hospital in San Diego, where he was admitted to the pedi-
atric intensive care unit under the care of the chief of pediatrics.
He was placed on a respirator, and that evening, he was again op-
erated on, this time for an ileostomy and a brain shunt to relieve
pressure from brain swelling. By the time they were finished with
Eric, he had over a dozen different tubes, IVs, and monitors stuck
into his body.
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Eric, who was his class president, on the school's honor roll, cap-

tain of his soccer team, assistant coach of his sister, Nikki's, soccer

team, a member of the school surfing team, a member of the school

band, and a member of the city all-star Little League baseball

team, was now a vegetable.

After a conference with the doctors and our family, on November
3, 1993, we decided to remove Eric's life support systems. He died

a short time later.

I used to serve on the board of directors of the local Jaycees, the

Chamber of Commerce, and the soccer club. I even served two
terms as the president of Nikki's and Eric's elementary school PTA.
Today, I am only affiliated with one organization, STOP.

Eric's life was needlessly and tragically cut short, but I have
made it my mission that Eric will not have died in vain. I never
want to see another person go through the suffering that Eric did.

I never want to see another family go through the terrible agony
our family continues to go through today whenever we walk past

Eric's bedroom, see his photograph, or even hear the name "Eric".

Eric's friends no longer stop by. I know it is too hard for them.
On January 31, 1995, the USDA released a proposed Hazardous

Analysis Critical Control Point, or HACCP regulations, to improve
meat and poultry inspection. This rule would mandate rigorous

sanitation requirements and scientific testing for bacteria in meat
and poultry processing.

Ten years ago, the National Academy of Sciences, in its "Meat
and Poultry Inspection: The Scientific Basis of the Nation's Pro-

gram" report, recommended that the USDA adopt HACCP for meat
and poultry inspection. The meat industry petitioned USDA to

mandate the program. Now, the implementation of HACCP is

threatened by S. 219, the proposed regulatory moratorium bill.

S. 219 would freeze regulation, effectively maintaining a broken
meat and poultry system taxpayers do not deserve. S. 219 would
sanction government inaction where delay has already been too

costly. S. 219 is the affirmation of the status quo, that it is good
enough. But, as you can see today, it definitely is not.

I am a Republican, but yesterday, I gladly sat in the front row
as President Clinton addressed the Nation on this issue. I sat with
a father and son whose lives were saved by air bags. I sat with a
woman whose brother died needlessly because worker protection
laws on enclosed places had not yet been enacted. I sat with a
mother who lost her son due to cancer and whose family members
continue to suffer from the horrible effects of cancer in a region of

Long Island known as the cancer center of the United States. Laws
that would prevent the exposure to cancer-causing pollution were
not in place.

These citizens are an excellent example of the necessity of gov-
ernment safeguards, but, clearly, the laws that are needed to pro-

tect them from preventable death and injury may not be caused by
something a court would find to be an imminent threat to health
and safety. Any delay on such vital laws which can save lives is

absolutely not tolerable. Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Mueller follows:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF RAINER MUELLER

Hello, my name is Rainer Mueller and I have traveled here from Oceanside, Cali-

fornia. I am currently on the national board of directors of Safe Tables Our Priority.

Thank you for the opportunity to address this panel on S. 219, the Regulatory Tran-

sition Act of 1995. I am here to tell you about the dire consequences that would re-

sult in enactment of this moratorium. In the fall of 1993 my 13 year old son died

from eating a cheeseburger. A new meat inspection rule which could have prevented

his death would be stopped by this legislation.

More than anything in the world, I wish I didn't have to be here . . . but I do.

No, I'm not afraid of Washington, D.C. or public speaking. I wish I didn't have to

be concerned about E. coli 0157:H7 or this organization called S.T.O.P. I wish I

could be home with my family enjoying the warm California sunshine. But I can't.

You see, I'm a victim of E. coli. Oh, you can't see any outward signs? You probably

won't. Why? Because on November 3, 1993, my thirteen-year-old son, Eric Jackson

Mueller, died after eating an E. coli infested cheeseburger from one of the national

burger chains in his own hometown of Oceanside.

Eric's Story

My son paid the ultimate price for eating one of his favorite foods. And this is

in a country rapidly approaching the 21st century, considered by many to be a world

leader. But its meat inspection laws are holdovers from the 19th century. Could you
imagine if the FAA still utilized the same aviation regulations from the age of the

Wright brothers with today's jet travel? Consumers wouldn't stand for it! And so it

is now with government meat inspection.

Death by E. coli and hemolytic uremic syndrome is a very painful and tortuous

death. As a parent standing by and watching my only son go through incredible

agony and pain before he lost consciousness and died, was something I don't even
wish on my worst enemy. Immediately before slipping into unconsciousness, Eric

screamed, "Get my dad!" Those were the last words he ever said. I couldn't do any-

thing for him. I am haunted daily by this incredible, totally senseless tragedy.

The day Eric came down with bloody diarrhea, I rushed him to our clinic where
he was diagnosed with appendicitis. He was immediately admitted to our local hos-

pital where an appendectomy was performed. His appendix was totally normal. Baf-

fled, the doctors ordered culture tests which then erroneously detected amebiasis.

With this diagnosis Eric was prescribed the powerful drug, Flagyl, and 2 days after

his appendectomy, he was sent home. This was a Friday night. He wasn't getting

any better during the weekend, in fact he was getting sicker and sicker.

On Monday morning my wife called the doctor's office, informing him that Eric

wasn't getting any better, and seemed to be getting worse. These concerns were dis-

missed as postoperative symptoms. Finally after the third phone call to the doctor's

office, the doctor relented and told her to bring him to his office. Upon examination,

Eric was immediately readmitted to the hospital. His health was steadily declining,

and his kidneys were beginning to fail.

As I was to learn later, this is the first sign of hemolytic uremic syndrome, also

known as HUS.
The doctors at our local hospital were still baffled as to what was happening with

Eric. In desperation we called in Eric's pediatrician who had known him all his life.

He knew things weren't going right, and that the drug Flagyl wasn't doing anything
for him. And after 2 days he ordered Eric transferred to Children's Hospital in San
Diego. Where he was admitted to the pediatric intensive care unit, under the care

of the chief of pediatrics.

That first evening in P.I.C.U., the chief of pediatrics and another doctor consulted

with me at the foot of Eric's bed. He's got HUS they said, but nowhere in the medi-
cal records anywhere could they find a single confirmed case of amebiasis causing
HUS. They remained baffled.

He was placed on a respirator, and that evening he was again operated on, this

time for an ileostomy and a brain shunt to relieve pressure from brain swelling. By
the time they were finished with Eric, he had a dozen different tubes, IV's and mon-
itors stuck in his body.

Eric, who had been his class president, on the school's honor roll, captain of his

soccer team, an assistant coach of Nikki's soccer team, a member of his school's surf-

ing team, a member of the school band, and member of the city's all-star Little

League baseball team, was now a vegetable.
After a conference with the doctors and our family, on November 3, 1993 we de-

cided to remove Eric's life support systems. He died a short time later.
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I used to serve on the board of directors of our local Jaycees, our chamber of com-
merce, and soccer club. I served two terms as the president of Eric and Nikki's ele-

mentary school PTA. But today I am only affiliated with one organization, S.T.O.P.

Eric's life was tragically and needlessly cut short. But I have made it my mission
that Eric did not die in vain. I never want to see another person suffer like Eric

did. I never want to see another family go through the agony our family continues

to go through today whenever we walk past Eric's bedroom, see his photograph or
hear the name Eric. Eric's friends no longer stop by, I know it's too hard for them.

What is HACCP?
On January 31, 1995, USDA released proposed Hazardous Analysis Critical Con-

trol Point (HACCP) regulations to improve meat and poultry inspection. The
HACCP System is a quality control management program. Under HACCP, likely

hazards in a production system are regularly monitored on the basis of risk. Risks
are identified, their controls determined and monitored, and end products are peri-

odically sampled to check the HACCP process.

Under HACCP, emphasis is placed on the process rather than the end product.

Instead of monitoring every carcass for a defect, plant employees will regularly mon-
itor the processing of carcasses: the temperature of the storage areas, the cleanli-

ness of the equipment, or the consistency of carcass washes or other solutions used.
The employees will keep records of their observations. Samples of end products will

be tested to ensure that the process is working properly and the government will

review company HACCP records.

HACCP has been endorsed by the United Nations, World Health Organization,
the General Accounting Office, National Food Processors Association, National
Broiler Council, American Meat Institute, and the Safe Food Coalition. Ten years
ago the National Academy of Sciences, in its Meat and Poultry Inspection: the Sci-

entific Basis of the Nation's Program report, recommended that USDA adopt
HACCP for meat and poultry inspection. Industry petitioned USDA to mandate the
program. Now the implementation of HACCP is threatened by S. 219, the proposed
regulatory moratorium bill.

How S. 219 Would Affect the Implementation ofHACCP
USDA's meat and poultry inspection laws were written in 1906. Federal inspec-

tors are limited to touching, smelling, and visually inspecting carcasses to determine
whether they are fit for consumption. Everyone knows inspectors are not going to

find harmful bacteria without microscopes and microbial tests. Clearly, the nation's

meat and poultry inspection program should be updated. Americans currently pay
$600 million for an inefficient and ineffective meat and poultry inspection program.

I think meat and poultry inspected under the current system poses a threat to

American consumers. Unfortunately, policy makers and the meat and poultry inter-

est groups have not shared my concern. There were 20 E. coli 0157:H7 outbreaks
between 1982 and 1992, yet USDA did not promulgate regulation to improve the
system. After the massive 1993 West Coast E. Coli 0157:H7 outbreak, USDA offi-

cials continued to insist that E. coli 0157:H7, Salmonella, and other food borne bac-
teria were not adulterants. When USDA declared E. coli 0157:H7 an adulterant in

October 1994 and implemented a sampling program, meat and poultry interest
groups sued USDA to prevent sampling and recall the adulteration definition.

House Agriculture Committee Chairman Pat Roberts says he will try to prevent im-
plementation of the sampling program.

S. 219 would freeze regulation, effectively maintaining the broken meat and poul-
try system taxpayers do not deserve. S. 219 would sanction government inaction
where delay has already been too costly. S. 219 is an affirmation that the status
quo is good enough. But as you see today, it definitely is not.

Yesterday I sat in the front row as President Clinton addressed the Nation on this

issue. I sat with a father and son whose lives were saved by air bags. I sat with
a woman whose brother died needlessly because a worker protection law on enclosed
spaces had not yet been enacted. I sat with a mother who lost her son to cancer
and whose family continues to suffer the horrible effects of cancer in a region of
Long Island referred to as the cancer capital of the United States. Laws which pre-
vent exposure to cancer causing pollution were not in place. These citizens are an
excellent example of the necessity of government safeguards. But clearly the laws
that are needed to protect them from preventable death and injury may not be
caused by something a court would find to be an "imminent" threat to health and
safety. Any delay on such vital laws which can save lives is absolutely not tolerable.

Chairman ROTH. Thank you, Mr. Mueller.
Mr. McGrath?
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TESTIMONY OF C. DEAN McGRATH, JR., SENIOR ATTORNEY,
AMERICAN AUTOMOBILE MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION

Mr. McGrath. Mr. Chairman, Senator Glenn, my name is Dean
McGrath and I am here today on behalf of the American Auto-
mobile Manufacturers Association. Our members are Chrysler,
Ford, and General Motors.
The auto industry is one of the most heavily regulated industries

in the country, and that is why we have long supported efforts to

reform our government's regulatory system. Quite simply, the way
our government implements and administers its laws is extremely
costly and ineffective.

Our industry is rife with examples of good legislative intentions

gone awry in the regulatory process. Implementation of the Clean
Air Act comes quickly to mind.

If we are to achieve a smaller, less intrusive, and more efficient

government, it is clear that the U.S. Government's regulatory re-

gime must be reformed. There must be better analysis and jus-

tification for regulatory actions. This includes balancing the costs

and benefits, setting regulatory priorities, coordinating the often-

conflicting regulatory mandates of different agencies, evaluating
the impact on international competitiveness, and ensuring that col-

lateral consequences are considered before acting. A regulatory
moratorium is an important first step towards such reforms.
Unless there is a clean break with past practice, the current reg-

ulatory process will simply grind on. It is clear to us that the focus
of the regulatory process must change so that the burden is on the
government to show why a particular regulation is needed. The
presumption should not be on industry to prove that further regu-
lation is not necessary, yet that is precisely the current State of af-

fairs.

Virtually every agency presumes that additional regulation of the
auto industry is justified. No matter what the subject, no matter
what the cost, no matter what the benefits, the presumption has
been that additional regulation is justified and that the industry
can simply bear the cost. That is simply unrealistic, particularly for

an industry like ours that faces intense foreign competition.
This is not to say that many, or even all, regulations are not ca-

pable of being justified, but that justification must be made on the
merits of the particular regulation, not the fact that it involves a
particular industry or issue.

While we applaud the President's efforts to improve the regu-
latory process, we believe that the moratorium, coupled with the
prospect of real regulatory reform, is needed to help change the
current regulatory environment.
We are fully aware of the fact that there are concerns that a

moratorium could undermine legitimate health and safety con-
cerns. That is why we wholeheartedly support the proposed legisla-

tion's exception for regulations dealing with imminent threats to
health and safety.

We also support appl3ring the moratorium retroactively. This will

address the concern that has been expressed that some rules were
issued simply to avoid contrary direction from the new Congress.
Eliminating this potential political perception problem can only en-
hance the integrity of the regulatory process.
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One regulatory action covered by the moratorium that is of vital

interest to the auto industry is EPA's approval of the petition sub-

mitted by the Northeast States and the District of Columbia that
would mandate the adoption of California's auto emissions program
in the Northeast States. The rule has been characterized by one of

my fellow panelists as one of the most cost-ineffective, anti-com-
petitive, and anti-market rules ever issued by an agency.
EPA approved this rule, despite the fact that the auto industry

has proposed a Nationwide alternative that even EPA has acknowl-
edged is environmentally superior. This is exactly the type of regu-

latory action that would have benefitted from more careful review
and analysis.

I would also like to comment briefly on EPA's enhanced monitor-
ing rulemaking. The proposed rule would impose substantial addi-

tional monitoring requirements without regard for cost, technical

feasibility, or environmental benefit. Industry and the States have
been working with EPA to improve this proposal, and the morato-
rium would permit these discussions to continue by extending the
court-imposed deadline for EPA action.

In closing, I would like to emphasize that the auto industry be-

lieves that the time has come to rethink the regulatory process,

and we believe the moratorium is a useful step toward that end.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee.
[The prepared statement of Mr. McGrath follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF C. DEAN MCGRATH, JR.

Good morning. Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, my name is C.

Dean McGrath, Jr. and I am here today on behalf of the American Automobile Man-
ufacturers Association (AAMA). Our members are Chrysler Corporation, Ford Motor
Company and Greneral Motors Corporation.
The auto industry is one of the most heavily regulated industries in the country.

We have long supported efforts to reform our government's regulatory system. Quite
simply, the way our government implements and administers its laws is extremely
costly and inefficient. Our industry is rife with examples of good legislative inten-

tions gone awry in the regulatory process (implementation of the Clean Air Act, par-
ticularly EPA's approval of the petition of the Northeast States and the District of
Columbia relating to adoption of California's auto emissions program and EPA's ac-

tion on enhanced monitoring are two examples that come quickly to mind). If we
are to achieve a smaller, less intensive and more efficient government, it is clear

that the U.S. Government's regulatory regime must be reformed. There must be bet-

ter analysis and justification for regulatory actions. This includes balancing the
costs and benefits; setting regulatory priorities; coordinating the often conflicting

regulatory mandates of different agencies; evaluating the impact on international
competitiveness; and ensuring that collateral consequences are considered before
acting. A regulatory moratorium is an important first step toward such reforms.
Unless there is a clean break with past practice, the regulatory process will grind

on. It is clear to us that the focus of the regulatory process must change so the bur-
den is on the government to show why a particular regulation is needed. The pre-
sumption should not be on industry to prove that further regulation is not nec-
essary. Yet that is precisely the current state of affairs. Virtually every agency pre-
sumes that additional regulation of the auto industry is justified. No matter what
the subject, no matter what the cost, no matter what the benefits, the presumption
has been that additional regulation is justified and that the industry can simply
bear the cost. This is simply unrealistic, particularly for an industry like ours that
faces intense foreign competition.
This is not to say that some, many or even all regulations are not capable of being

justified; but that justification must be based on the merits of the particular regula-
tion—not the fact that it involves a particular industry or company. While we ap-
plaud the President's efforts to improve the regulatory process, we believe that the
moratorium, coupled with the prospect of real regulatory reform, is needed to help
change the current regulatory environment.
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We are fully aware of the fact that there are concerns that such a moratorium
could undermine legitimate health and safety concerns. That is why we support the

proposed legislation's exception for regulations dealing with imminent threats to

health and safety and other emergencies.
We also support applying the moratorium retroactively. This will address the con-

cern that has been expressed that some rules were issued simply to avoid contrary

direction from the new Congress. Eliminating this potential "political" perception

problem can only enhance the integrity of the regulatory process.

One regulatory action covered by the moratorium that is of vital interest to the

auto industry is EPA's approval of the petition submitted by the Northeast States

and the District of Columbia that would mandate the adoption of California's auto

emissions program in the Northeast States. The rule has been characterized by one

of my fellow panelists as "one of the most cost-ineffective, anti-competitive, and anti-

market rules ever issued by an agency." And EPA approved the rule despite the fact

that the auto industry has proposed a nationwide alternative that even EPA has
acknowledged is environmentally superior. This is exactly the type of regulatory ac-

tion that would have benefited from more careful review and analysis.

I would also like to comment briefly on EPA's enhanced monitoring rulemaking,

which would also be covered by the moratorium. The Clean Air Act requires EPA
to develop rules requiring certain stationary sources periodically to submit compli-

ance certifications. The Act also provides that EPA require "enhanced monitoring,"

when necessary, to support these certifications. EPA has leveraged the two-word ref-

erence to "enhanced monitoring" into one of the lengthiest and most complicated

regulations ever proposed. The proposed rule would impose substantial additional

monitoring requirements without regard for cost, technical feasibility, or environ-

mental benefit. In addition, enhanced monitoring could be imposed without regard

for its effect on the stringency of existing substantive emission standards. In other

words, substantive emission standards that were developed by national rulemaking
may be made more stringent at individual sites by the imposition of enhanced mon-
itoring. Industry and the States have been working with EPA to improve the pro-

posal. The moratorium would permit these discussions to continue by extending the

court-imposed deadline for EPA action.

In closing I would like to emphasize that the auto industry believes that the time

has come to rethink the regulatory process and we believe the moratorium is a use-

ful step toward that end. I will be happy to try and answer any questions you may
have.
Thank you Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee.

Chairman RoTH. Thank you.
Mr. Hawkins?

TESTIMO^fY OF DAVID G. HAWKINS, SENIOR ATTORNEY,
NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL

Mr. Hawkins. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Senator Glenn, Sen-
ator Levin.
Thank you very much for inviting the Natural Resources Defense

Council here today. We also oppose moratorium bills, including S.

219, and we do so because we believe these bills will prevent adop-
tion of needed protections. We also oppose them because they are

the wrong tool for improving regulation, whether new or old.

I would like to submit my statement and just try to make three

points, briefly.

The first is that these moratorium bills will delay important,
needed public protections. There is a temptation to assume that a
6- or a 9-month delay really can't do that much harm, but consider

the case of the Consumer Product Safety Commission's rules re-

quiring child-resistant packaging. CPSC estimates that about 200
kids' lives a year are being saved as a result of those packaging
changes, compared to what the poisoning rate was before those
rules were adopted. If that rule were adopted since November 9,

delaying it for 6 months would cause 100 deaths. Delaying it for

9 months would cause 150 deaths.
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This is the kind of effect that a moratorium can have. Its flaw,

its fundamental flaw, is that it prevents the adoption of beneficial

rules as well as the adoption of rules about which there may be
some question and reason to evaluate.

Let me address, quickly, how the revised draft would affect these
conclusions. In my view, the revised draft does not correct this fun-

damental flaw. The revised draft focuses on big rules, rules that

are significant under the Executive Order, but by focusing on big

rules, the revised draft also stalls rules with big benefits.

For example, EPA has rules which would be stalled by this bill

for municipal waste incinerator and medical waste incinerator toxic

air pollutants. Each of these costs more than $100 million, but to-

gether, they will cut harmful toxic air pollutants by over 200,000
tons a year. That is an enormous amount. It is an enormous
amount to continue to allow to be emitted into the air for the time
period that would be added by the moratorium.
The original S. 219 would have gone after all rules, much like

a hunter shooting at every bird in the air. The revision targets only

the eagles. That is not a reason to praise it for selectivity. It is

going to hurt the big rules with the big benefits.

I have mentioned seven rules in my prepared statement that
would deliver health, environment, and safety benefits. All of them
would continue to be snared by the revisions to S. 219. They are
all significant rules, under the Executive Order.
The second point about this change in focus, these significant

rules are the rules that undergo the best analysis. Why target a
moratorium on the rules that are the most carefully analyzed and
most carefully studied? These are the rules that agencies know will

be evaluated by 0MB review. They are the ones they know have
to be the most defensible and the most thoroughly analyzed and
have the best defined benefits. Why should those be the rules that
are stopped?

Third, targeting significant rules creates an incentive to classify

rules as not significant. It is important to realize that 0MB has
discretion in making decisions about whether a rule is or is not sig-

nificant. If the implication of classifying a rule as significant is that
it will be stalled for 9 months or more by the moratorium, then
there is an enormous incentive to call it not significant, and the re-

sult is that a rule that might otherwise have been analyzed, under
the moratorium bill will go forward without being analyzed because
it will be classified as not significant.

Let me turn to the health issue, because supporters of the mora-
torium have said that the imminent threat exception is adequate
to deal with the problem. In our view, it is not. The imminent
threat exception is a narrow exception. If it were not a narrow ex-

ception, why have the word "imminent" in there? It raises all sorts
of possibilities of challenge.
The Chairman has said that the President's determination on ex-

emptions should not be subject to review, which would be an im-
portant improvement, but it doesn't stop the fact that the President
is charged, under the Constitution, with faithfully executing the
laws, and if you pass a bill that limits the President's authority to

imminent threat, I think you have to assume that the President is

going to read some meaning into those words.



52

What it will mean is that programs which are designed to protect

against death and serious illness that occurs 1 or 2 years from now
and would be delayed for another 1 or 2 years may not be classified

as imminent threats, but those lives will be lost, and the fact that

they may be lost in 1996 rather than 1997 will be no comfort to

the families of those who suffer as a result of the moratorium.
On the judicial review, just let me mention briefly. Section 7 of

the revised bill prohibits a private right of action. It does not pre-

clude judicial review of the final agency rule, in our view, which
means that issues such as exemptions and other unauthorized ac-

tions could be raised in challenge to a rule when it was promul-
gated in final form. This has tremendous potential for creating un-

certainty and delay.

I mention in my testimony the fact that an agency, one of the

prohibited acts is issuing a proposed rule during the moratorium.
The moratorium relates back to November. Agencies have already

issued proposed rules. How do they cure that illegality? That is an
illegal action under the moratorium provision. When the rule be-

comes final a year or 2 or 3 from now, is there anything they can
do about it? Do they have to go back and repropose? What exactly

does the moratorium mean?
Also, the moratorium creates an extension, and I see my time is

up, but that extension creates a ripple effect through all sorts of

provisions of law that could affect contracts, could affect invest-

ments, and could affect public health protection.

Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Hawkins follows:!

PREPARED STATEMENT OF DAVID G. HAWKINS

Thank you for inviting NRDC to testify today on pending regulatory moratorium
bills, including S. 219, the Regulatory Transition Act of 1995. NRDC is a national

membership organization dedicated to environmental protection. In our work we
have sought to improve the effectiveness and responsiveness of all levels of govern-

ment in dealing with environmental threats to human health and enhancing the

quality of our environment.
The moratorium bills would bar federal agencies from taking any regulatory rule-

making action, other than specifically excepted actions, between now and the end
of the moratorium period: July 1, 1995 under S. 219 as introduced, and as late as

December 31, 1995 under the House companion bill, H.R. 450, as reported out of

committee. In addition the bills would suspend the effectiveness of regulatory rule-

making actions taken since November 1994.

The bills would halt not only final rules but also advance notices of proposed rule-

making, notices of inquiry, notice of proposed rulemaking and any other action taken
in the process of rulemaking (except a cost benefit analysis or risk assessment). The
bills would override deadlines in existing law and even attempt to override existing

court orders, setting the stage for one court ordering an agency to act while another
orders it not to act.

Mr. Chairman, NRDC respectfully opposes enactment of these bills. We oppose
them because they prevent the government from protecting the public against iden-

tified harms. We oppose them because they are the wrong tool to improve regula-

tion, new or old.

We acknowledge that anecdotes of apparently unneeded or unduly complex re-

quirements in existing rules abound. But the case has not been made that the
"peril" of scheduled rules is so great that it justifies a declaration of martial law
against programs to protect the public. A reality check is in order.

In many respects, America has the best environmental quality in the world and
it has achieved that status in large part because of rules; rules that cannot be fro-

zen without damaging their effectiveness. America also is in its fourth quarter of

economic recovery; strong evidence that the recent pattern of government rule-

making has not done the damage claimed by some of the moratorium's supporters.
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Congress did not act in haste in its decisions to attack remaining problems, like

toxic air pollution, ozone depletion, or drinking water contamination. For example,
reauthorization of the Clean Air Act consumed the attention of five Congresses be-

tween 1981 and 1990. Elected officials, including President Bush were persuaded
that additional actions by the federal government were needed to make progress on
clean air. Of the Members of this Committee who were in the Senate in 1990, all

but one voted for its passage. But the moratorium would, without analysis, counter-

mand the actions called for by Congress in 1990.

The supporters of the moratorium have not identified the particular problems it

is intended to address or described how the moratorium will solve or ameliorate
these problems. The impacts of the moratorium are unknown. Will Congress know
before it votes on these bills what desirable rulemaking actions would be delayed?
Will Congress know what adverse impacts such delays would cause?

Federal regulations serve important needs for which every opinion survey shows
continued strong support. Clean drinking water, food that is fit to eat, lakes and
streams where it is safe to swim, boat and fish, air that we can breathe without
harm, workplaces where employees are free from discrimination and unreasonable
risks of physical injury—these are just a few of the qualities of daily life that Ameri-
cans depend on their governments to help them secure.

DELAYING BETTER PUBLIC PROTECTION

The moratorium bills would do harm by delaying needed protections. There is a
temptation to assume that a 6-month or 9-month delay in implementing a new rule

cannot cause that much harm. But consider the case of child-resistant caps on medi-
cines and poisonous household products. According to the Consumer Product Safety
Commission, this rule is saving about 200 kids' lives per year, compared to poison-

ing rates before the caps were required. Delaying a rule like this for 6 months would
result in 100 deaths that were avoidable; a 9-month delay would cost 150 lives.

I will provide a few examples of important protections that would be delayed. But
members should ask themselves and be prepared to answer, how many other impor-
tant actions would be affected by this sweeping bill that have not even been identi-

fied.

Cryptosporidium Drinking Water Contamination—The Milwaukee Mauler.

Cryptosporidium is a parasite that has caused several major waterborne disease
outbreaks in the U.S. including a 1993 outbreak that made over 400,000 people sick

and killed over 100 people in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. This parasite has been found
in 80 to 90 percent of the surface waters used for drinking water tested in the Unit-
ed States, and is currently not regulated.

Under a negotiated rulemaking, representatives of State and local governments,
the water industry, and public health and environmental organizations agreed in

1994 to the issuance of an "information collection rule" that will require nationwide
testing for Cryptosporidium and certain other dangerous contaminants. The purpose
of the rule is to gather enough data to inform policy makers and the public about
the extent of the problem, so that final controls can expeditiously be adopted for this

waterborne menace. EPA is now working to put its 1994 proposal in final form.

The moratorium would bar EPA from taking any interim steps to complete this

rulemaking (e.g. sending a draft final rule to the reg neg participants or to 0MB
for review) and would delay EPA's final rule, resulting in water systems missing the
early 1996 testing cycle. This would cause a year or more delay in issuance of final

rules to protect the public from Cryptosporidium, which is widely agreed to pose a
serious public health threat. This rule likely would not be allowed to go forward
under the "imminent threat" exemption of the moratorium bills.

Already the private sector recognizes public concern about Cryptosporidium is

great enough to warrant prompt action. Recently a bottled water distributor ran a
half-page ad in the New York Times, urging people to drink its product to avoid the
threat of Cryptosporidium.

Is this the brave new world of better government? Should we just post a sign at

EPA: "Let them drink designer water, the government's closed until further notice"?

Unfortunately, there are many families who have not and cannot plan to make
room in their budgets for the expense of bottled water. They have paid their taxes
and expect something in return from their government; at the very least, tap water
that's safe to drink.

Meat and Poultry Inspection

Two years ago, in response to the deaths of four children from eating meat at a
fast food restaurant, USDA began a review of its meat and poultry inspection sys-
tem. Proposed rules were published several weeks ago to implement:
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(1) Basic sanitation requirements
(2) Short-term interventions to reduce contamination (such as rinsing and

samphng).
(3) Hazardous Analysis and Critical Control Points Identification and

Plans to require each processing plant to identify hazards in their oper-

ations (chemical, physical and microbiological bacteria), identify points

where these hazards might be controlled, and create plants to control the
hazards.

(4) Microbial testing and monitoring.

If implemented, these rules would help prevent or reduce the 20,000 illnesses a
year and 500 deaths a year from E. Coli. But this important rule would be delayed
by S. 219.

Medical Waste Incinerator Toxic Air Emissions

Currently medical waste incinerators, if regulated at all, are subject only to a
patchwork of state and local rules that fail to cover important toxins. This impor-
tant rule would result in large reductions in dioxin, lead, mercury, soot, and carbon
monoxide. Dioxin is a pollutant that is persistent in the environment and causes
adverse reproductive and developmental effects. This proposed rule was signed Feb-
ruary 1, 1995 but its protections would be delayed by S. 219.

Municipal Waste Incinerators

Municipal waste incinerators also have spotty requirements for control of air pol-

lution. EPA has proposed a rule to reduce dioxin, mercury, cadmium, lead, and soot

from these large sources. EPA's final rule is scheduled for September 1995 but
would be delayed because S. 219 bars EPA from taking the steps needed to meet
that schedule.

Petroleum Refinery Air Toxics

Refineries release large quantities of toxic air pollutants and smog-forming com-
pounds. This rule will substantially reduce those dangerous pollutants. The final

rule is scheduled for June 1995 but would be stalled by S. 219.

Municipal Landfill Emissions

Municipal landfills are large sources of smog-forming and other toxic air pollut-

ants. To the extent rules for these sources are delayed States may have to regulate
other smaller sources more strictly. EPA's final rule is scheduled for publication in

the next 2 to 3 months.

Community Right to Know
The Toxic Release Inventory—an EPA database documenting pollution discharges

to air, land, and water—has been hailed by industries, state governments and citi-

zen groups as a useful vehicle to promote voluntary prevention and control of pollu-

tion. On November 30, 1994, EPA issued final rules to ease reporting requirements
for small emissions sources, and to require reporting of some 286 additional toxic

chemicals, including pesticides, water pollutants, and air contaminants. The final

rules would provide communities with basic information about discharges of chemi-
cals to the air residents breathe and the water they drink, while reducing the re-

porting burden on industries that release only small quantities to the environment.
S. 219 would suspend the public's right to receive this information.

THE INADEQUATE "IMMINENT THREAT" EXEMPTION

The supporters of the moratorium bills claim that the exemption for "imminent
threat to health or safety" will allow certain health-based rules to go forward. In
fact, the bills will delay these rules too. S. 219 (and H.R. 450 as introduced) contains
a narrow and unworkable provision requiring a Presidential Executive Order to ex-

empt a rule based on an "imminent threat." The term is undefined but suggests a
high threshold for exemption; and the Executive Order procedure is unreasonable.

In response to examples of food inspection and drinking water rules that could
be delayed, the House Committee has substituted an 0MB finding for the Executive
Order and has added a definition that defines "imminent threat" to include an ex-
pectation of human death, serious illness, or severe injury "during the moratorium
period." These changes do not solve the fundamental flaws of the moratorium.

First, the requirement that the harm be expected to occur "during the moratorium
period" means that rules which are intended to prevent deaths, serious illness, and
severe injury after the close of the moratorium will not be exempt. For example, a
rule intended to prevent 100 accidental deaths per year, scheduled to be proposed
in May 1995 and made final in May 1996, would not be exempt. But because the
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moratorium bills define rulemaking action to apply to nearly all preparatory action

in the rulemaking process, this final rule would be delayed for at least the length

of the moratorium; thus, the avoidable deaths would continue for another 6 to 9
months in 1996 or later because of the moratorium.

Second, the 0MB finding raises the prospect of wasted resources and logjams as
nonexpert paperpushers review agency conclusions that a rule should be exempt.
How many 0MB analysts are qualified to judge whether an illness is "serious" or

an injury "severe"?

Third, the terms "serious illness" and "severe injury" are an invitation to legal

hairsplitting; how bad must an illness be to be "serious"? The House Committee's
attempt to shed light on this issue is not encouraging. In the Report on H.R. 450
the majority opines that rules to prevent repetitive motion injuries would not be ex-

empt while rules to address bacterial contamination of food would be. H. Rep. No.
104-39, Part 1 at 24. The majority doesn't share the basis for its apparent conclu-

sion that repetitive motion injuries are not severe. To make things clearer still, the
majority then mentions rules relating to labelling of irradiated meat and announces
it "reserves judgment" on whether these rules would be eligible for an exemption!
Ibid. Just when will the House Committee render judgment on this and other ambi-
guities?

Fourth, lawsuits are allowed to challenge any violation of the moratorium, includ-

ing the exemption of a rule. This is explicit under S. 219 and also appears to be
permitted under H.R. 450 as reported. In H.R. 450, §7 expressly preserves legal

remedies otherwise available under any other law. Thus, when a final rule is issued,

a person can challenge the rule not only on its merits, but based on a claimed viola-

tion of the moratorium legislation; i.e., that the rule should not have been exempted.
The possibility that an exempted rule could be overturned long after the moratorium
ends is likely to cause agencies to be excessively conservative in applying the "immi-
nent threat" test. Some may argue this is good. But it is bad because it is likely

to cause agencies to delay issuing rules that could have prevented deaths, illness,

and injury.

Fifth, even if the meaning of "imminent threat", exemption were clear, the test

is unreasonably narrow. Why should government be prevented from addressing
harms that fall outside these boundaries if a need for action has been documented?
Why should taxpayers have to wait an additional 6 to 9 months or more for protec-

tions from "mere" injury, consumer fraud, discrimination, rules requiring disclosure
of pollution releases, or other needs that Congress has authorized?

FOMENTING LITIGATION AND UNCERTAINTY

The prospect of litigation is not limited to the imminent threat exemption. The
bills will cast a cloud of uncertainty not only over exempted rules but over all rules

on which any work is performed during the moratorium period. Both S. 219 and
H.R. 450 define a rulemaking action to include preliminary actions like an advance
notice of proposed rulemaking and "any other action taken in the course of the proc-

ess of rulemaking (except a cost benefit analysis or risk assessment, or both)". S.

219, § 6(3)(A)(ii). The breadth of this definition of prohibited actions combined with
the opportunity for later judicial review, creates a potential for innumerable chal-

lenges to rules based on a claimed transgression of the moratorium.
As you know, the rulemaking process for a particular rule can often consume 2

to 5 years. In the typical industrial pollution case, initial steps may involve the let-

ting of contracts to collect information about a hazard, followed by an assessment
of the causes of the problem, and the industrial and other sources contributing to

the harm. Then the industrial processes that release the pollutant are analyzed;
methods for reducing releases are identified, and costs of adopting different methods
are estimated and compared. These initial steps may take 2 or more years. After
completing this stage of data collection and evaluation, the agency is ready to begin
the development of regulatory and nonregulatory options.
Are all of these actions prohibited during the moratorium period? Or are some of

them within the intended exemption for cost benefit analyses and risk assessments?
The House Committee Report on H.R. 450 seems to limit the exemption to evalua-
tions of rules that are already proposed: "Obviously, such an analysis or assessment
would not be conducted where a regulation has not yet been issued or pro-
posed. . .

." H. Rep. at 20. While this statement is factually incorrect, it suggests
an intent to bar all preproposal activities.

The bills' broad definition of rulemaking action means that courts years from now
will be faced with challenges to a rule based on a claim that back in 1995, the agen-
cy violated the moratorium by conducting some prohibited action (perhaps limited
to writing an internal memo setting a revised schedule for carrying out data collec-
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tion). To assess these claims the courts will have to pore over poorly documented
histories of agency activities to determine what they were, whether they are prohib-

ited, whether they are linked to the rule under challenge, and a variety of other
issues that will emerge after passage of this hastily drafted legislation. Then the

courts will have to decide the remedy for a prohibited action; is the entire rule va-

cated? What steps would the agency have to take to reinstate the rule? Would the

agency have to redo a data collection; republish a report?

Or suppose an agency issues a proposed rule during the moratorium period based
on a conclusion that the rule is exempt. What are the consequences if a court re-

viewing the final rule some years from now concludes the exemption was incorrectly

granted? Will the final rule be invalidated? If so, would the agency have to repeat

the proposed rulemaking?
Section 3 of S. 219 and H.R. 450 prohibits agencies from taking any regulatory

rulemaking action during the moratorium period and the "moratorium period" ex-

tends back to November 1994. Thus, agencies who have issued advance notices or

proposed rules since November 1994 would be in violation of the law immediately
upon enactment. What does this mean about the ultimate legality of the rules that

are tainted by such "violations"? Assuming the agency immediately calls a halt to

further actions on a rule, how does it cure the violations that have already occurred?

The bills' provisions for extending deadlines also will create broad confusion and
uncertainty stretching far into the future. Section 4 extends by 5 months any dead-
line "relating to" any regulatory rulemaking action authorized to be taken before the

end of the rulemaking period. Because nearly all agencies are currently "authorized"

to take the actions covered by the bill's definition of rulemaking, this provision po-

tentially affects every deadline in every statute, regardless of how far in the future

the deadline occurs. Maybe this won't cause any problems but who has analyzed its

impacts? For example, under § 407 of the Clean Air Act EPA is authorized to revise

certain emission limits for electric utility plants but it must complete any revision

by January 1, 1997. Utility companies must meet the original or revised rules by
January 1, 2000. Since EPA is "authorized" to issue a proposed rule for this revision

during the moratorium period does this fact mean the agency need not complete the
revision until May 1997? Would this provision also change the utilities' January 1,

2000 compliance date or not?
Clearly some of these problems could be cured by better drafting and some cannot.

Given the hasty schedule for this legislation (House floor action February 23 and
markup in this Committee on February 28, just a few days after the only Senate
hearing on the bill) it is unlikely that the flaws in the bills can be corrected even
if the attempt were made. New problems are certain to be discovered but unless
more time is taken, the moratorium may be law before its other adverse effects are
understood.

DELAYING RULE REFORMS

Ironically, S. 219 would also suspend and delay adoption of rules that improve ex-

isting regulations. To exempt a rule from the moratorium an agency head must cer-

tify the rule is "limited to' repealing, narrowing, streamlining, or reducing regu-
latory burdens. However, many rules that on balance greatly streamline existing

rules, may also contain some provisions that create new or additional duties.

The bills' exemption for streamlining actions, while demonstrating the unbalanced
approach of the legislation, also provides fertile ground for litigation. What does the
phrase "limited to . . . streamlining a rule" mean? S. 219, §6(3)(B)(i) (emphasis
added). Does this mean only changes that eliminate obligations or can a rule replace
current duties with new, less onerous requirements and still be exempt? Can any
rule that contains a "streamlining" provision be exempt regardless of what else it

contains? If not, who is to do the "aggregate net burden" calculation to determine
whether the rule should be exempt? You guessed it—the courts.

The House Committee labors to mention in its report those rules that it appar-
ently believes should be covered by the bill's exemptions. H. Rep. at 21-24. Have
they found all the rules that the majority believes should receive special treatment?
Doubtful. While some special interests have already made their mark felt, many
others are still waking up and probably won't be beating on your doors until well
after the bills pass, given the intended speed for legislative action. If you pass this
bill you can be sure that someone you care about will show up completely exas-
perated because the agency it needs action from is citing the moratorium law you
passed as prohibiting action. Where action is taken, a competitor or other interested
person will be empowered to use the courts to challenge that action.

Since S. 219 allows any person to file suit for an alleged transgression of the mor-
atorium, even if all parties to the rulemaking, 0MB, and your Committee agree that
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the rule should go forward, a single individual can go to court to overturn it. Here
are a few examples of streamlining rules that might be challenged.

Revised Acid Rain Allowance Rules

EPA's initial acid rain rules were challenged by both the electric utility industry
and environmental organizations. In May 1994 all parties—industry, EPA, and envi-

ronmental groups—reached agreement on several key provisions for compliance
with the law's sulfur dioxide allowance requirements. EPA issued a final rule incor-

porating this negotiated agreement on November 22, 1994. While it contains some
streamlining provisions, it is not purely "deregulatory" and probably would be
snared by S. 219 and H.R. 450. Suspension of this rule could both increase pollution

and create costly compliance uncertainties for electric utilities.

Two additional acid rain settlement agreements have been reached between in-

dustry, environmental groups and EPA but the EPA rulemaking to implement these
agreements would be delayed by the moratorium bills.

Permits Applications for Sewage Treatment Plants

This revision to permit application forms would reduce the transaction costs of

state permitting programs, creating a "one-stop-shopping" information transmittal

system, to replace two or more un-coordinated ones (one for sludge, one for sewage,
another for combined sewer overflows).

States and POTWs have had significant input into the drafting process for these
revisions to the permit application. However, the rule cannot be styled pure
"streamlining" or burden reduction because it asks for certain new information on
toxics and other matters that will help to establish better permits. The proposal is

scheduled to be proposed about March 1995.

Definition of Wetlands

EPA plans to revise the definition of wetlands subject to Clean Water Act regula-

tion. The clarifications would exempt from CWA coverage certain artificial waters,
and non-tidal irrigation and drainage ditches that are excavated in uplands.
These clarifications will help to avoid regulatory confusion and battles over wet-

lands regulation. They cannot be characterized as "streamlining" exclusively, be-

cause they will be implemented through revised delineation procedures. But their

net effect will be a reduction in regulatory burden on those whose waters will be
exempted from current definitions. Scheduled to be proposed in March 1995, it

would be delayed by S. 219 and H.R. 450.

S. 219 AND H.R. 450: THE WRONG TOOL FOR THE WRONG PROBLEM

One of the themes of current political discourse is that Congress should legislate

when the case has been made that a new law is necessary and after due consider-
ation that the new law is appropriately designed to remedy the problem it address-
es. S. 219 and H.R. 450 are at odds with both these principles.

Let me touch on a few of the justifications we have heard for the moratorium.

Too Many Pages

Moratorium advocates say there are too many pages in the Federal Register. Let's

hope there are more reliable indices of the impacts of regulation, good and bad, than
this. As you know, the typical Federal Register is made up of three types of docu-
ments: notices of meetings. Presidential documents, and rulemaking documents.

In the rulemaking documents each agency explains why it is proposing or adopt-
ing a rule and responds to comments on its proposals (the "preamble") and then
prints the proposed or final rule.

I am not aware of any exhaustive survey that compares the length of the explana-
tory material in the Federal Register to the length of the rules themselves but the
rules I am familiar with almost always take more space to explain the rule, provide
information on which the rule is based, and respond to comments, than they do to

print the rule itself.

Counting Federal Register pages to prove an excess of regulation suggests that the
lengthier the government's explanation of its actions, the more abusive government
is. However, most of the regulatory reform initiatives of the past two decades have
encouraged or required the government to provide more information and analysis
to justify its decisions. A summary of those analyses and discussion of comments
appears in the Federal Register so it is no surprise that preambles have increased
in length. One can argue about whether this is good or bad—a long explanation is

not necessarily a good one—but it seems off the mark to assume that preamble page
length is a sign of an abusive rule.
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Wacky Rules

I have mentioned the tales of apparently stupid rules. Doubtless there are provi-

sions in existing rules that are not effective or are needlessly complex. We are being
treated to many examples by supporters of the moratorium and I do not propose
to debate these "horror stories." Rather, let me put a more fundamental question:

how will a moratorium on new rules help identify and fix defects in existing rules?

Some will point out provisions in pending new rules that they disagree with and
claim shoum be stopped or modified. But a moratorium on all new rules except pure
deregulatory actions (and rules the President finds are needed to address "imminent
threats") is a meat axe approach that is no model for good government.
For existing rule defects, the challenge is to come up with a reasonable and work-

able process to fix provisions that legitimately require change. A moratorium on new
rules simply is a distraction that makes actual reform more controversial and adver-
sarial than it needs to be. Past invitations to nominate rules that should be changed
have produced a feeding frenzy from regulated interests that lumped together criti-

cally important rules that the public supports with provisions that both agencies
and the public would agree could be changed. This approach has generated con-

troversy but not as much change as could have occurred.

For pending new rules, moratorium supporters have not made the case why exist-

ing regulatory comment and review procedures are inadequate to deal with their

concerns.
All rulemaking actions go through notice and comment procedures and important

rules are subject to executive branch review processes at both the proposal and final

rule stages. Judicial review of final rules is also available. Moratorium supporters
seem to argue that these safeguards are not good enough but they have not shown
why.

Sending a Message

The last argument for the moratorium is that it will send a message. The question
is whether it will be the one its supporters intend. NRDC opposes the moratorium
because it is bad policy. But others could just as easily oppose it as bad politics.

S. 219 and H. R. 450 would send a message that the new Congress can't be both-
ered with such niceties as an intelligent discussion of which new rules, if any, war-
rant more extensive review than that provided under current law. Based on claims
that some new rules may contain problems, S. 219 and H.R. 450 would lock up all

or most new protections against health, safety, and environmental threats; and not
only new final rules but also initial steps like proposed rulemakings.
The message the moratorium would send is that Congress is willing to call a 5-

month or 9-month halt to all efforts by the government to carry out existing laws
to protect the public, without knowing what important health, safety, food, drug,
and environmental protections may be delayed.
The moratorium is an easy target for critics of the new Congress. By design it

substitutes a sweeping edict for a reasoned remedy. Stories will continue to be writ-

ten about the unintended adverse consequences of the law: maybe the migratory
bird hunting season will be cancelled, maybe it won't. You can be sure if the law
does pass, it will not be the end of such examples. If the law passes. Congress will

be held responsible for its consequences but the size that liability will not be known
when you vote on the bill.

A moratorium is unnecessarily confrontational. Perhaps it is a way of showing
that Congress is under new management but why not explore paths that are less

destructive? Believe it or not, most groups like the one I represent are not seeking
the adoption of rules that are complex, intrusive and focused on trivia. We are inter-

ested in effective use of limited government resources to achieve protection of values
that generally require some action by government, whether through a traditional

rule, a "market-based incentive," or some combination. Needlessly complex rules not
only frustrate regulated firms, they also disenfranchise our members—the average
concerned citizen who cannot make the time to master the equivalent of a new lan-

guage that is found in some existing programs.
We want government actions to be workable and easy to follow. That is one rea-

son we have engaged increasingly in alternative processes like regulatory negotia-
tion to frame rules that meet everyone's needs. These efforts have produced impor-
tant successes. All of us should focus on building on those successes rather than re-

turning to the hardened positions of old battle lines.

There is ground where environmental, health, and safety groups can agree with
advocates for more efficient government but a moratorium distracts all from finding
that ground. Opponents of the moratorium regard it as a mindless exertion of power
without responsibility, that will do real harm. If the law passes only time will tell

how much harm in fact occurs. None of the real issues of better government will
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be solved if the debate is shifted to proving and disproving evidence of the damage
done by a moratorium once enacted. Why take hasty action that will polarize the
issue of regulatory reform?
By encouraging sweeping efforts that ignore the value of "good" rules, previous

regulatory relief campaigns have prevented attention from being focused in the right

place. Public attention and agency resources have been devoted to defending the
many important rules under assault, not to supporting changes in the rules that
make up industry's "horror stories." By being more discriminating, regulatory critics

will have a chance of hitting legitimate targets.

Enactment of a moratorium is exactly the wrong way to pursue reform objectives.

A law that tells government employees who are paid to protect the public to do
nothing for 5 to 9 months, rather than proceeding with important programs needed
to protect the public, will do little other than harm citizens, waste their tax dollars,

and burn bridges to cooperation.

Chairman RoTH. Thank you.
Mr. Risalvato?

TESTIMONY OF SAL RISALVATO, SMALL BUSINESS OWNER,
REPRESENTING THE NATIONAL FEDERATION OF INDEPEND-
ENT BUSINESS, RIVERDALE TEXACO, RIVERDALE, NEW JER-
SEY

Mr. Risalvato. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Senator Glenn, and
Senator Levin. Good morning.
My name is Sal Risalvato. I am the owner of Riverdale Texaco

in Morris County, New Jersey. I am here this morning on behalf
of the National Federation of Independent Business. I would like

to thank you for allowing me the opportunity to explain to you
about the need and effect for regulatory reform.
While no one expects this regulatory moratorium to be the ulti-

mate solution to the crushing regulatory burden facing small busi-

nesses every day, it is a first aid strongly supported by small busi-
ness owners that will reduce some of the bleeding until significant,

broad regulatory process reform, like strong judicial review of the
Regulatory Flexibility Act, and cost benefit analysis, and, of course,
a 5-year regulatory sunsetting, are enacted.
NFIB strongly endorses S. 219. I hope to make a few points here

this morning to give you an example of what a small business
owner like myself goes through with regulatory burdens.
The first point I would like to make is what regulation has cost

me and may cost me in the future.

The second is the benefits to both myself, my employees, and the
economy in general that would exist if regulations were better
thought out or, perhaps, never existed.

The third is how what seems to be an intelligent business deci-

sion can be rendered stupid by unforseen government regulatory
curve balls.

In 1986, the service station that I had been leasing for the pre-
vious 8 years became a victim of the real estate boom of the 1980s.
The value of the property was much greater as something else
other than a service station. The landlord evicted me and sold the
property, and I was left to look for a new location. Of course, I was
never going to lease again, so I wanted to purchase my own loca-
tion.

I spent approximately a year looking for a suitable site. One of
the selections was a piece of property that was run down, the build-
ing was inadequate, but had tremendous potential to expand. An-
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other great asset of the piece of property that I finally selected was
the fact that the underground storage tanks were brand new. They
had just been installed. I paid a premium for this property. I made
a $500,000 decision, based on the fact that my environmental con-

cerns should have been behind me, and I was wrong. That was an
intelligent decision that I thought that I had made that was ren-

dered stupid by the EPA.
Within 5 years, I had to spend $95,000 to make changes to the

underground storage system, not completely replace the tanks, but
make changes to the underground storage system. That $95,000
was $95,000 I didn't have. I was already in a position where I had
borrowed from family members to purchase this piece of property,

because I didn't sell my previous business, I lost my previous busi-

ness, and I was starting all over again.

That $95,000 was $95,000 that I would have liked to spend ex-

panding the facility. Now, I am faced with the possibility of spend-
ing between $40,000 and $100,000, depending on how the EPA
makes up its mind, based on the fact that they want the State of

New Jersey to implement new emissions control standards. I am in

the automobile inspection business.
We inspect cars for both safety and emissions standards. I have

a piece of equipment that cost $15,000. It works perfectly. It tests

emissions. It can tell whether a car is polluting the air or not.

The EPA is now telling the State of New Jersey, and, in fact,

holding a gun to my Governor's head, to my head, and to the head
of all of the motorists in my State, because they are saying we have
to invest in this new equipment to make new standards for auto
emissions. The Governor is in a very precarious position, because
if she doesn't conform with EPA standards, the State of New Jer-

sey stands to lose over $200 million in highway funds.

These regulations are not being thought out properly. A morato-
rium on present regulations would be very useful to rethink some
of the regulations we have already put in place and to possibly pro-

vide us time to come up with new laws that would provide for bet-

ter thought-out regulation in the future.

What could I have done with the money that I have already
spent plus the money that I may have to spend in the very near
future? A quick calculation, that total is between $135,000 and
$200,000. My dream, when I purchased my location, was to add on
three more service bays, an employee room, service room, and an
office.

The office is a big priority with me. Since I have gone into my
location, I have housed my offices in an office trailer. This does not
sit well with the town fathers. In fact, it is prohibited in my town.
I was given a temporary variance because I had taken some of my
own money, put it into the property to spruce it up a bit. The place
that I bought was a junkyard. It was dilapidated, and I had every
intention of fixing this place up. But the money that I have spent
on government regulation has prevented me from expanding my
business.

Recently, the town asked me to come before the Board of Adjust-
ment again to get another temporary variance to keep the office.

They have given me 2 years, and they did that on the basis that
I proved to them what government regulation forced me to spend.
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At the time, I knew full well that government regulation may cost

me another $40,000 to $100,000, but I did not have the heart to

tell them. Now, they have given me these 2 years, and I am hoping
that, some way, somehow, I will be able to come up with the kind
of money that I need and that I will be able to expand my facility.

I see my time is up, but very quickly, I would like to just add
that if my facility were expanded, I would be employing at least

four more full-time employees and probably some part-time em-
ployees, and that includes office help as well as technicians. This
was my dream when I purchased this location, and, again, what
seemed like an intelligent decision at the time has been rendered
a stupid decision, based on government regulation.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Risalvato follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF SAL RISALVATO

Good morning. I am Sal Risalvato, owner of Riverdale Texaco, a gasoline service

station in Morris County, New Jersey and a member of the National Federation of

Independent Business (NFIB), where I currently serve as Chairman of the NFIB/
New Jersey Guardian Advisory Council. I have been in the service station business

since 1978 and have been affected by many government regulations. These regula-

tions have touched every aspect of my business from the sale of petroleum products
to the service we provide in our repair shop.

Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to explain to you about the need and
the effect of regulatory reform. On behalf of NFIB, I am pleased to endorse S. 219,

the Regulatory Transition Act of 1995, which temporarily suspends certain signifi-

cant regulatory actions taken by Federal agencies until December 31, 1995, unless
exempted by the President or because of an imminent threat to human health or

safety. NFIB will actively fight for passage of this important legislation.

While no one expects the regulatory moratorium to be the ultimate solution to the
crushing regulatory burden facing small businesses every day, it is a first-aid,

strongly supported by small business owners, that will reduce some of the bleeding
until significant, broad regulatory process reform—like strong judicial review of the
Regulatory Flexibility Act, cost benefit analysis and 5-year regulatory sunsetting

—

are enacted.
Although we are here today to discuss only a moratorium on any regulatory rule

making, the net result may be to alter future burdensome regulations. I would like

to accomplish two things today. First I would like to tell you about the most costly

regulations Congress imposed on me and the negative effects they have had on me.
Second I would like to describe to you a positive scenario that would likely exist

if these regulations had not been imposed upon me. I would also like to point out
to you how a decision that seem intelligent at any point in time, can be rendered
a stupid one, by government regulatory curve balls, that cannot be detected with
anything less than a crystal ball.

In 1986, the service station that I had been leasing for the previous 8 years was
lost to the real estate boom of the 80's. My lease was up with the landlord and the
property was too valuable to remain as a service station and the owner evicted me
and built a group of retail stores. I lost my business. I spent the next year along
with my brother Vinny, who had become my partner, looking for a suitable and af-

fordable location. Of course there wasn't any way I was going to lease again. After
looking at over 100 locations in northern New Jersey, my brother and I finally found
a location that met our requirements. Due to rising environmental concerns, one of
our most stringent requirements was that the integrity of the underground storage
tanks at any location we investigated must not be compromised. Making what
seemed to be an intelligent decision, we purchased a location that had new under-
ground tanks installed 1 year prior to our purchase. We paid a premium price for

the location because it had new tanks. Our crystal ball was not working correctly
when we made that decision.

Within 5 years, unexpected government regulations altering the standards and re-

quirements for underground storage tanks, picked my pocket for $95,000. Please
keep in mind that after losing my business in 1986, I was left with virtually noth-
ing. At the time I lost my business I still had 6 months left to pay on the note that
I owed the bank when I purchased the business 9 years earlier. When I purchased
the second location in 1987, I had to borrow from family members and banks using
my dad's home as collateral. Finding $95,000 in order to meet new EPA regulations
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v/as aot going to be easy. Fortunately, between borrowing more money from family
meaobers, and funds advanced by Texaco in exchange for a supply contract, I ob-

taired the money to meet the new government regulations. This really amounted
to extortion, since I would not have oeen allowed to remain in business had I not

met these requirements.
In fact many service stations have been forced to close or have stopped selling

gasoline simply because they could not find the capital necessary to meet the EPA
requirements.

Or, 2 would think that the EPA has inflicted enough pain and torture on my busi-

nes.-N. Not so. The new regulatory agenda is now attempting to blackmail me, my
governor, the motorists of my State, and my fellow service station owners in New
Jorsey.
The State of New Jersey probably has the best motor vehicle inspection system

in the nation. Presently motorists must have their cars inspected on an annual basis

by either a State inspection facility or a licensed private repair facility such as mine.
Vehicles are inspected for safety items such as brakes, lights, tires, and mirrors. In-

spection of the vehicle emissions system are also conducted. Presently, New Jersey
is faced with losing its inspection system because the regulators at the EPA are de-

sixanding a tougher emissions test be performed on all vehicles.

What does this mean? It means that in order to meet EPA requirements, the
St-te of New Jersey will have to invest millions in new equipment at the State in-

spection facilities. It also means that if private facilities are to be permitted to con-

tinue performing inspections, they will nave to invest in new equipment valued at

$40,000 to $100,000. This decision making process has been in the making by EPA
for the past 2 years and has paralyzed the decision making of the owners of private

repair facilities. Once again, a faulty crystal ball that tries to unravel the logic of

the bureaucrats and regulators could prove costly.

One concern of the State is the length of time it will take to perform the new t5^e
cf ii-ispection. So far, estimates of the time needed to fulfill EPA requirements, will

cause far more lengthy lines at State run facilities. Also, due to the amount of time
required to perform the emissions tests, the safety inspection that is the class of the
Nation will have to eliminated.

Since there will obviously be a large number of private inspection facilities that
v'ili be unable to meet the capital requirements needed to purchase the new man-
d.'^ted equipment, more motorists will be forced to visit the State facilities, thereby
lengthening the already longer lines. The net result is this. Motorists will be far

more inconvenienced that they already are. They will be expected to pay more for

an inspection, including inspections at the State lanes which are currently free.

Their time and money will be rewarded with less value since now there will not be
a safety inspection. Small business such as mine will be forced to either give up an
iipportant profit center, or make purchases of equipment that are virtually

unaffordable. I am running out of family members that have any capital, and those
family members that do have it are running out of it, always loaning it to me.
The new Governor of New Jersey, Christie Whitman, has been negotiating with

EPA in order to lessen the burden on our State. Presently she is being forced to

irake a hasty decision because EPA is threatening to impose sanctions against the
State If the State does not adopt an inspection system that is suitable to EPA, then
the Department of Transportation will withhold $217 million of Federal Highway
funds. This decision is likely to harm businesses like mine and the motorists who
use our services.

Aside from the debate that is held trying to decide if the public interest is being
served by any of these regulations, there is an awful lot of good that can be had
wit^^out them. Let's assume that the previous regulations regarding underground
storage tanks were less stringent. Let's also assume that the current threat of EPA
regulations governing motor vehicle inspection are eliminated. A quick calculation
gives my business between $135,000 and $195,000 to expand. Make no mistake
about it, when we purchased this location, our dream was to add on three or four
seiT-ice bays and a sales room, employee room, sufficient storage space, and suffi-

cient office space. Presently in order to utilize space inside the main building, our
offices are housed in an office trailer on the side of my building. This has caused
great stress with the municipal fathers, and twice in 7 years we needed to receive
tesmporary variances from the local Board of Adjustment in order to keep our office.

Each time we appease the Board by promising to expand the existing building. We
explain to them that if not for costly government regulation, we would already have
had the expansion complete. Our most recent appearance before the Board was this

past November. We received temporary and final approval for another 2 years. I did
not have the courage to tell them the EPA was holding another gun to my head.
I pray a lot.
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If our physical facility was expanded to the size we wish, there would be employ-

ment for at least three more full-time technicians, and three part-time assistants.

There would also be a position for at least one full-time office person.

Please do not think that I have little regard for the environment. That would be

false. I drink the same water and breathe the same air as everyone else. I have no

desire to see the quality of either jeopardized. I do believe, however, that the down-

side of burdensome regulation must be properly evaluated relative to any benefits

that may be derived from it I am convinced that in my case the bad effect has out-

weighed the benefits.

Chairman ROTH. Thank you, gentlemen. We will now begin the

area of the questions.

Mr. Gray, all the examples in your testimony are, I believe, what
is called economically significant rules. Would many of the prob-

lems raised by my colleagues this morning be answered by limiting

the bill only to economically significant rules? Would that, in your

mind, be an improvement?
Mr. Gray. It could be, Mr. Chairman, but two of the examples

that are in the list, while they are economically significant, that is,

the two that I referred to in my oral testimony, the OTC petition

and the permitting rule, they are also environmental. They also

have an environmental underpinning. They are implementation of

the Clean Air Act. But at the same time, they do not involve immi-
nent or even remote threats to health.

I believe that you could achieve the objectives that I see impor-

tant in this legislation by limiting it, but I just wanted to point out

that if you redraft it, just to bear in mind that some of these, like

the permitting and California car, are implementations of an envi-

ronmental statute.

Chairman Roth. I would like to ask both you and David Haw-
kins, and anybody else that wants to answer, how much judicial re-

view of agency and Presidential determinations should there be

under the bill? If there is none, then the bill cannot be enforced.

If there is no limit at all on judicial review, we, of course, can get

mired down in litigation. I would like to know what your advice is.

Mr. Gray. My advice, Mr. Chairman, is that it should not be ju-

dicially reviewable, because I do not see how you can really get ju-

dicial resolution within the time frames that are involved with this

statute, namely, by the end of the year or the earlier of the passage

of the reform legislation.

I think that the enforcement must come from this Committee
and corresponding Committees in the House to hold the adminis-

tration's feet to the fire, to hold Sally Katzen to her job.

As much as I am in favor of judicial review, limited review in

connection with your legislation, and I don't want my comments to

be read as affecting that, for this purpose, given the short time
frame, I believe that enforcement must be limited to the court of

public opinion and to legislative oversight.

Let me quickly add that Presidential action is not reviewable.

David Hawkins may have a point, though, about the provision, the

civil action provision. I am not sure that eliminates all judicial re-

view that might otherwise be available under the Administrative
Procedures Act. I would have to do a little research, but I think
there is a valid point on that, that some of the determinations
would be made by 0MB and might be reviewable, notwithstanding
that provision.
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Chairman ROTH. Mr. Hawkins?
Mr. Hawkins. Yes, Mr. Chairman. I also think that judicial re-

view should not be provided. Having judicial review would add to

the harm.
However, precluding judicial review would not eliminate the

harm caused by this bill. As I said, one of the fundamental prob-

lems with the bill is that it prevents the executive branch from
going forward with bills that will demonstrably provide important
public health, safety, and environmental benefits, but they can't be
proven to meet the "imminent threat to health or safety" test.

Those are important benefits and they will be a casualty of any
moratorium bill, even if judicial review is completely precluded.

Chairman Roth. Mr. Donohue?
Mr. Donohue. Mr. Chairman, our written testimony raises the

question of judicial review, but let me say, I think, with or without
it, this bill ought to move forward and regulatory reform right be-

hind it.

I agree with Mr Gray that, in the optimum situation, that we
move forward on our business and the moratorium is then taken
away. There wouldn't be time for lawyers to begin to write their

briefs.

But I do think it is important for the Committee to consider the
judicial review question. As we move forward, simply keep in mind
that the actions of government ought to be considered by every
means possible to give some sort of relief to those that are being
regulated.
But I would suggest that, with or without it, this legislation

should be moved forward at a very quick rate.

Chairman ROTH. Would anyone else care to comment?
[No response.]

Chairman ROTH. Mr. Gray, the definition of moratorium period
provides that the period ends on the earlier of December 31, 1995,
or the date of enactment of comprehensive regulatory reform legis-

lation.

Suppose the reform bill has a delayed effective date. In that
event, suspended regulations might go into effect before the new
regime takes effect, and the purpose of the moratorium is frus-

trated.

To correct this, should the date of enactment be changed to the
effective date or the day after the effective date?
Mr. Gray. I think it should be the day after the effective date.

Chairman RoTH. My time is up.

Senator Glenn?
Senator Glenn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Those of you who oppose this, I agree with everything you have

said, every single one of you. I agree with everything you have
said. This bill doesn't do regulatory review. You want regulatory re-

view, and I have had hearing after hearing that I chaired before
we lost the management around here last fall. Senator Levin and
I have been on regulatory review matters. I have legislation in on
regulatory review matters. Senator Roth has legislation in. Senator
Dole has legislation in. That isn't what this is all about.
TMs throws out the baby with the bath water, as I said a while

ago. This legislation does not require anything. It doesn't give any
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new standards to apply. It doesn't give any new review criteria. It

just says it will be addressed.
The Chairman makes a very good point. What if regulatory re-

view doesn't pass and we have done a moratorium? All we have
done is back up a gridlock of legislation.

Another point I wanted to make, too, as Ms. Katzen said a little

while ago, they estimate that 80 percent of the regulations are
done pursuant to the way laws were written here on the Hill that
said, you will put so and so into regulation. Eighty percent of it is

our fault. If we want to see 80 percent of who the problem is hex e,

look in the mirror, and we don't do that.

We say, oh, it must be somebody else's fault. It couldn't be our
fault. We passed these things with all sorts of good intentions up
here and we passed them over to the agencies and then thay
thought they were carrying out what we wanted. Eighty percent of
what they did was what we required them to do. Then we niioe

cain and say, oh, now we are going to put a big moratorium in, as
though that was going to solve things. It doesn't. I just don't see
that it really solves much of anything at all.

So I agree completely with the need for regulatory review. This
Committee has addressed regulatory review in the past and will

continue to address it until we get something through, I am sure,

under Chairman Roth's leadership.

But this bill doesn't say that. We are faced with a different prob-
lem. Are you going to let the Alaskans hunt? Are you going to let

the bird hunting rules that generate $3.6 billion a year, is that
going to go? No, that is going to get knocked out.

And what about the meat inspection rules that Mr. Mueller ad-
dressed so eloquently here a while ago—he had trouble speaking
and I had trouble looking at him at that time. He feels very strong-
ly about this. Those are meat inspection rules. Are we going to hold
those rules up? You can't call these problems an imminent threat
to health and safety. That doesn't qualify for imminent, nec-
essarily, when you are passing a regulation for something in the
future.

Nuclear waste disposal, we have been wrestling with that issue
on this Committee for the last 15 years, literally. I am not joking
about that. I have been very much involved with that. Hazardous
material transportation, Mr. Donohue. You want to have your
truckers out there safe and we want those rules out there to say
that HAZMAT is carried according to rules and regulations that ev-
erybody abides by. It is going to protect your people as well as the
people whose highways are being used.
Air worthiness standards—we all fly on airplanes. We hold up on

rules like that? Immigration political asylum rules, FEMA, and so
on. These are the things that would be stopped dead in their tracks
for a year unless there is something new written about this that
is not in the legislation so far, as I understand it.

That is our problem. We agree with you on the regulatory review,
100 percent, and this Committee has taken action on this in the
past and had hearings on it. We have tried to be a leader in this
area. But what this bill does, this bill says there will be no regula-
tion. I don't think, with the things that we are talking about here,
I just don't see how we can do that.
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It is also very difficult to do this, when 80 percent of the problem
is our own fault here. We ought to go back through the laws on
the Hill, here, and have our own people plowing right through
them to see where we have gone wrong. That would do more than
anything else.

Mr. Gray, I know you, in your previous incarnation, have been
before the Committee before. I think, before, you wanted regulatory

review but you didn't want that in statute. You wanted to leave it

up to the President to administer that. Is that correct, or do I not

remember correctly? Did you want regulatory review required by
OIRA and 0MB, or was this something that you wanted the Presi-

dent to have the authority to do without it being in statute?

Mr. Gray. I think that the position I held when I was in govern-

ment was represented by S. 1080, the old Reagan-Laxalt regulatory

reform bill, which did have a schedule of reviews required by the

statute.

Senator Glenn. Were they required by statute?

Mr. Gray. I believe so.

Senator Glenn. I am glad you corrected me on that, then, be-

cause that wasn't the way I recalled it.

Mr. Gray. If I could make a comment. Senator Glenn, about the

discretionary versus non-discretionary, yes, many of these rules, es-

pecially in my own testimony, were required by the Congress, but
the way they have been written was not required by the Congress.
A moratorium would be a very useful device for holding hearings,

oversight hearings, on some of these measures, even if regulatory

reform legislation never passed.
Senator Glenn. You are Senator Gray now. How would you han-

dle bird hunting rules, zebra mussels, meat inspection, nuclear

waste, and all the rest of these things? Are you just going to let

those go for a year?
Mr. Gray. The hunting rules puzzle me, because, as I said, I ex-

perienced two moratoria and I never had any questions raised with
me, as the lawyer involved in both cases, with hunting or fishing.

Senator Glenn. Let us make it more serious, like Mr. Mueller's

problem with meat inspection.

Mr. Gray. But the nuclear example and the tragedy of the wit-

ness to my right, these are all imminent threat cases. Even if

David Hawkins says the threat is a year away, that is still an im-
minent threat. It may be delayed a year, but, if I were President,

I would have no difficulty whatsoever in letting those rules go
through.
Mr. DONOHUE. Senator Glenn, one other issue, if I might just ask

you to focus on, concerns OSHA. If the moratorium were in place

today, OSHA could not issue the ergonomic rules. If it were not in

place, they could issue them and then subsequent regulatory re-

form legislation very well may not be applied against the rules that
have now been issued.

There is a residual benefit here that I think we could agree on.

The moratorium can impede the agencies from pushing regulations
out the door because they are worried that cost-benefit tests will

affect their rules. I think we would agree that that is one very posi-

tive matter that we might find in a moratorium.
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Senator Glenn. My time is up. I agree with you on everything

you are talking about on regulatory review. I am with you on that

100 percent, and we have to get that through.

But, I think, these examples we have given this morning here

—

we didn't cover all of them this morning—of unintended results of

this moratorium concern me. I am sure that a more careful screen-

ing of rules by the agencies would result in a catalog full of exam-
ples of unintended results along the same lines as we have heard
this morning, and that is what concerns me.

I think we have to do regulatory review. We ought to look in the

mirror here and go back through these laws and correct those prob-

lems that are Congress-generated. We should take the responsibil-

ity for that. We have let stuff go through that we shouldn't le , go

through.
I think to just say, all the good and the bad goes out together,

to me, doesn't make any sense.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman RoTH. Thank you.

Mr. Levin?
Senator Levin. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Donohue, let me ask you about the drug and alcohol testing

rules. As I understand, the original rule was issued by the Depart-

ment of Transportation in 1988. Is that correct? That was for raiV

road, motor carrier, and airline personnel?
Mr. Donohue. Yes, for drug testing, sir. We pushed for thai ran-

dom, mandatory drug testing rule.

Senator Levin. Then in 1991, we passed a law, as I understand
it, requiring drug and alcohol testing and that they be expanded.
Is that correct, we had a new law in 1991?
Mr. Donohue. Yes, I believe at the end of 1991, yes, sir.

Senator Levin. Did your Association support that law?
Mr. Donohue. Yes. We support reasonable, cost-effective drug

and alcohol testing. Drug testing is very simple to do, because what
you basically do is use an outside contractor.

Senator Levin. I understand that. You supported the 1991 law?
Mr. Donohue. Yes.

Senator Levin. In 1992, as I understand it, the Department of

Transportation issued a rule implementing the 1991 law, is that

correct, with new guidelines for testing?

Mr. Donohue. I believe that is correct. It might be the end of

the year, again, yes. It was just a proposed rule.

Senator Levin. And they said that it was going to be effective to

big businesses in January of 1995 and to small businesses in 1996?
Mr. Donohue. That is the way it was finally promulgated.
Senator Levin. Are those the rules that you have trouble with?
Mr. Donohue. Yes, sir.

Senator Levin. So it is the 1992 February rules that you object

to?

Mr. Donohue. Yes, sir.

Senator Levin. Did you object to them at that time?
Mr. Donohue. Yes, sir.

Senator Levin. At that time, we had an Executive Order. Presi-

dent Bush was in office. Mr. Gray, I think, was there with him.
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The Executive Order required a cost-benefit analysis, is that cor-

rect?

Mr. DONOHUE. I would have to let Mr. Gray say exactly what the

Executive Order required. I don't know.
Senator Levin. Mr. Gray, did that require a cost-benefit analy-

sis?

Mr. Gray. It did.

Senator Levin. So we had an Executive Order, cost-benefit anal-

ysis, and the ATA opposed the rules at that time, and presumably
argued that the benefits weren't worth the costs?

Mr. Donohue. In the pre-employment, yes, sir, that is right, be-

cause it just doesn't do any good.

Senator Levin. I understand that, but you made your case to

what then would be the Department of Transportation, and there

were regulatory appeals to the 0MB at that time, were there not?

Mr. Donohue. Yes, that is right.

Senator Levin. Did you make your appeal?
Mr. Donohue. We continued to discuss this with the 0MB.
Senator Levin. And that was to Mr. Gray, wasn't it?

Mr. Donohue. It was to his administration.

Senator Levin. And they didn't agree with you?
Mr. Donohue. They left office, sir, and we kept right on appeal-

ing.

Senator Levin. But, apparently, they promulgated this in 1992,

is that correct?

Mr. Donohue. In 1992, the rule was proposed. In February of

1994, the final rule was promulgated. It was a different adminis-
tration.

Mr. Gray. This was not our rule.

Mr. Donohue. Nobody wants this rule. Senator.
Senator Levin. Whose rule was this?

Mr. Donohue. This legislation came out of the Senate Commerce
Committee. The present administration at DOT is operating under
an assumption, which they have articulated to us on numerous oc-

casions, that they have no choice under the statutory wording but
to require pre-employment testing. This is their position even
though many of them at DOT do not agree with the way the Con-
gress laid it out.

We are in Federal Court in Richmond asking the Court to ex-

plain to the DOT that, in fact, they are not mandated under the
wording of the legislation to act in the way in which they did.

Senator Levin. Let me just go back and get it chronologically.

Mr. Donohue. Yes, please.

Senator Levin. The rule you object to, however, is a 1992 rule,

is that correct, or not?
Mr. Donohue. It is a 1994 rule. In 1991, the legislation passed.

The final rule came out on February 15, 1994.

Senator Levin. Was the rule proposed in 1992?
Mr. Donohue. Yes.
Senator Levin. Do you have any problem with the way the cost-

benefit analysis was implemented under Executive Order?
Mr. Donohue. I have a very significant problem about cost-bene-

fit under Executive Order versus cost-benefit under statute.
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Senator Levin. As I understand this, my recollection is that
President Reagan promulgated an Executive Order that required a
cost-benefit analysis. President Bush also carried on that tradition,

and President Clinton has carried on that tradition, too. Are you
saying that that is inadequate?
Mr. DONOHUE. Yes, sir. It is inadequate for this reason. An exec-

utive order does not control language in a statute. We want cost-

benefit tests in statute, so we can go and pursue it judicially to pro-

tect our interests under the direction provided by the Congress.
Senator Levin. Did the 0MB let this rule that you object to be

issued as it was proposed in 1992?
Mr. DONOHUE. The proposed rule in 1992 had more options avail-

able to us, the Clinton Administration reduced the number of op-

tions.

Senator Levin. So the objections

Mr. DoNOHUE. One of the options that they had in 1992 was for

roadside testing, which, by the way, is the thing that makes all the
sense in the world. When they finally issued the rules, they took
away that option and gave us the responsibility to do what we are
not competent or legally allowed to do.

Senator Levin. Did you object to the 1992 rule, as it was pro-

posed?
Mr. DONOHUE. Yes. We continued to object, continued to point

out what made sense and what would work.
Senator Levin. So you objected to the 0MB in 1992, to the rule,

but it was proposed anyway?
Mr. DONOHUE. Yes, that is right. The final rule was worse than

what was proposed.
Senator LEVIN. You objected to it as it was proposed?
Mr. DoNOHUE. Yes.
Senator Levin. Mr. Gray, is it your understanding that the regu-

latory review, when we adopt it, will be prospective or retroactive?
Mr. Gray. I think there are two parts to that question. The first

part, as I understand the discussion that you had earlier, retro-

activity would include, in your understanding, these rules that
would be caught by this legislation.

Part of the reason for this moratorium is to stop rules so that
if and when the new legislation is passed, it can be applied to these
rules.

Senator Levin. But this legislation also applies to rules which
have now taken effect, which are in effect right now.

Mr. Gray. That is correct. It reopens them, in effect, if they were
promulgated after whatever the date is.

Mr. DONOHUE. The 30th.
Mr. Gray. The 30th of November, or whatever.
Senator Levin. No, November 9.

Mr. Gray. November 9.

Senator LEVIN. Which is, just coincidentally, the day after the
election.

Mr. Gray. There is a different date in the House, yes, sir.

Mr. DoNOHUE. They moved the date in the House, sir, to accom-
modate some particular rule.

Senator Levin. You got it. You put your finger right on it, to ac-

commodate a particular rule. Then there may be a rule on Decem-
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ber 2 that everybody likes, and so then it is going to be changed
over to December 3. You put your finger right on it, which is that

if you want to play by a set of rules, we ought to play by a set of

rules. We have that set of rules. It is an Executive Order. It has
a cost-benefit analysis. We ought to change it, put that cost-benefit

analysis into law. I am all for it.

Mr. DONOHUE. Good.
Senator Levin. But to make that retroactive and to undo rules

which have taken effect is to change people's expectations after

they have played by the rules, and that is the part that I have the

most trouble with in this legislation, the retroactivity. I have trou-

ble with other parts of it, but this legislation is retroactive to rules

which are in effect right now, that people have had their say on,

that people have invested money in the implementation of

Mr. DONOHUE. Senator, I very much understand that and have
a lot of concern for that, as well. There are some pretty good rules

that we have that would be very helpful such as hazardous mate-
rials and others.

The point I made to Senator Glenn, I think, is very, very impor-
tant. The value of the moratorium, is it says to OSHA—just for an
example—fellows, don't rush to publish that new rule. You can't

put that up until we get the new cost-benefit rules in place. That
is our major concern, because we are talking about tens and tens

of billions of dollars to our industry. That ergonomics rule alone

would cost the United Parcel Service $3 billion in California.

Mr. Gray. Senator Levin, the OTC petition rule would impact
your State in a very direct, material way, and I don't think anyone
would be really surprised to see that reopened in the event you
pass the reform legislation.

Senator Levin. My time is up. Thank you.

Chairman ROTH. Gentlemen, thank you very much for being here
today. We appreciate your testimony.
The record will remain open through Friday, if there are addi-

tional questions.
Thank you again. The Committee is in recess.

[Whereupon, at 12:37 p.m., the Committee was adjourned.]
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Calendar No. 33

S.219
[Report No. 104-15]

To ensure economy and efficiency of Federal Government operations by estab-

lishing a moratorium on regulatory rulemaking actions, and for other

purposes.

IN THE SENATE OF THE UNITED STATES

January 12 (legislative day, January 10), 1995

Mr. NiCKLES (for himself, Mr. Bond, Mrs. HUTCHISON, Mr. DOLE, Mr.

Grassley, Mr. AsHCROFT, Mr. CovERDELL, Mr. Abraham, Mr.

Thompson, Mr. Burns, Mr. Shelby, Mr. McConnell, Mr.

Faircloth, Mr. Thomas, Mr. Smith, Mr. McCain, Mr. Craig, Mr.

Coats, Mr. Santorum, Mr. Mack, Mr. Gregg, Mr. Murkowski, Mr.

LoTT, Mr. Kyl, Mr. THURMOND, Mr. Hatch, Mr. Helms, Mr. Inhofe,

Mr. Simpson, Mr. Gramm, Mr. Frist, Mr. Grams, Mr. Bennett, Mr.

Kempthorne, Mr. D'Amato, Mr. Stevens, and Mr. Cochran) intro-

duced the following bill; which was read tvnce and referred to the Com-

mittee on Governmental Affairs

March 16, 1995

Reported by Mr. ROTH, v«th an amendment

(Strike out all after the enacting clause and insert the part printed in italic]

A BILL
To ensure economy and efficiency of Federal Government

operations by establishing a moratorium on regulatory

rulemaking actions, and for other purposes.

(71)
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2

1 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-

2 tives of the United States ofAmerica in Congress assembled,

3 SECTION ir SHORT TITLE.

4 ¥his Aet mety ht cited as the "Rcg^lator^^ Transition

5 Aetof 1095".

6 SE€t fc FINDING .

7 ^%e Congrcaa finds that effective steps let* impro\ing

8 the efficiency aad proper management ef Government op-

9 orations wiH be promoted if ft moratorium oft ftew «iie

10 making actions is imposed aftd aft inventory ©f such ae-

11 tions is conducted.

12 SEGt 8. MORATORIUM ON REGULATIONS .

13 (a) Moratorium.—During the moratorium period, a

14 Federal agency fm^ «ot take miy reguIator}'
'^ rulemaking

15 action, unless permitted under section ^ Beginning SO

16 days after the date of enactment of this Aetj the effective -

17 ness of any regulatory rulemaking action taken during the

18 moratorium period h«t before the dftte of the enactment

19 shall be suspended until J«ly ^ 1995, unless an exception

20 is pro\idcd under section §7

21 {b> I>fVTi:?vTORY OP RuLEiViAiQyo.—Not later than SO

22 days after the date of enactment of this Aetj the President

23 shall conduct aft inventor^^ aftd publish ift the Federal Reg

24 ister a hst of ah regulator}'
'^ rulemaking actions covered

25 by subsection (tt) ftn^ pending on the date of enactment.

•S 219 RS
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3

1 SEG. 4. SPECIAL RULE ON STATUTORY, REGULATORY ANP

2 JUDICLVL DEADLINES.

3 {ft) in General.—Ar^ deadline fe^ relating ^ or

4 invoking a^y action dependent upon, any regulator}^ pulc -

5 making action authorized ©r required to be taken before

6 the end of the moratorium period ie extended.

7 {b> EXTEXOION Period.—A«y deadline covered by

8 subsection -fa) shall be extended for § months or until jkriy

9 ^7 1995, whichever is later.

10 (e> Deadllne Defl\ed.—5%e term "deadline''

11 means any date certain fer fulfilling any obligation or ex-

12 ercising any authority established by or under any Federal

13 statute or regulation, or by or under mty court order «n-

14 plcmenting any Federal statute or regulation.

15 {4> Identification ep Pootponed Deadlineo.—
16 Not later than ^ days after the date of enactment of tbie

17 Aet^ the President shall identif>^ aftd publish m the Fed-

18 era! Register a hat of deadlines covered by subsection (a)?

19 SEGt 5t emergency EXCEPTIONS ; EXCLUSIONS.

20 (a) Emeroenoy Exception.—Section S{a) or 4(a>7

21 or both, shall not apply to a regulator)^ rulemaking action

22 if—

23 -(4) the head of a Federal agency othenvisc a«-

24 thorized to take the action submits a wTittcn request

25 to the President, mi^ a copy thereof to the appro-
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1 priatc committees ©f eaek house ©# the Congress;

i& ctllQ

3 -fS) the President finds, by Executive Order,

4 that ft waiver fer the action is

—

5 {A) nccessar^'^ because of an imminent

6 threat to health or safety or other emergency;

7 ©r

8 {j&) necessary" fer the enforcement of crimi -

9 ftftl laws; a«4

10 -fS) the Federal agency head publishes the find -

11 mg ftn4 waiver m the Federal Register.

12 {b> EXCLUGIONG.—¥fee head of an agency shatl pab-

13 hsb «* the Federal Register a^iy action excluded because

14 of a certification under section 6(3)(B).

15 SE€, 6. DEFINITIONS .

16 For purposes of this Aet

—

17 {^ Federal agency.—The term "Federal

18 - agency" means any "agency" as that term te defined

19 ift section 661(1) of title ^ United States Code -fre-

20 lating to administrative procedure).

21 - -^ Moratorium period.—5%e term "morato

22 rium period" means tbat period of time beginning

23 November ^ i#947 and ending ^««e SO7 409&7

24 i%} Regulatory RULEM^yaNO action.—
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1 {A> fe^ 0E\EIL\L.—?%e te«« "rcg:iilator

2 nilcmaking action" means any fale making -fa

3 defined ift section 551(6) of titfe ^ Unitc (

4 States Code) oft Ofty f»ie normally published «

5 #ie Federal Register, including—

6 (*) the issuance of any substantive

7 firie; interpretative yater statement of agen

8 ey policy, notice of inquir}'^, advance notice

9 of proposed rulemaking, or notice of pro-

10 posed rulemaking, aftd

11 ^^ any other action taken m the

12 eottfse of the process of rulemaking (except

13 a cost benefit analysis or risk assessment,

14 or both).

15 {B> EXOLUDIOXO.—The term "regulator^'^

16 rulemaking action" does aot include—
17 '

(i) afty agenc}^ action that the head of

18 the agency certifies is limited to repealing,

19 narro^^^ng, or streamlining a rule, regula

20 tioft7 or administrative process, to issuing

21 or promulgating a ruie required to make

22 effective tax relief pro\ided fey statute, or

23 othenxase reducing regulator^^ burdens; or

24 («) ftffy action that the head of the

25 agency certifies 4s limited to matters relat-
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1 iftg to military or foreign affairs functiona

2 or agency management, personnel, or pufe-

3 lio property, loans, grants, benefits or eoR-

4 tracts.

5 {4> Rule.—T4^ term ''mle" means tke whole

6 or a part of an agency statement of general or por-

7 ticular applicability an4 future effect designed to m^

8 plcment, interpret, or prescribe law or policy. Such

9 term does not include the approval or prescription,

10 o» a case -by-case or consolidated ease basis, for the

11 future of rates, wages, corporate or financial struc-

12 tares or reorganization thereof, prices, facilities, ap-

13 plianccs, services or allow^anccs therefor or of valu-

14 ations, costs, or accounting, or practices bearing oft

15 any of the foregoing. Such term also does not «*-

16 elude the granting of an application for a license,

17 . registration, or similar authority, granting or ree-

18 ognizing an exemption, granting a variance or peti -

19 tioft for relief from a rcgulatoi^^ requirement, or

20 other action relieving a restriction, or adopting a

21 rale necessary to permit new or improved applica-

22 tions of technology.

23 SEG, 7. CIVIL ACTION.

24 in addition to asy remedy othen\ise available, who -

25 ever is adversely affected by any conduct of a Federal
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1 agency ift violation of section S or 4 fftoy m eivii action

2 against that agency obtain appropriate relief. 5%e court

3 may award ft prevailing plaintiff ift a» action under this

4 section reasonable attorney's fees.

5 SEC 8. SEVERABILITY^

6 {ft> ArrLiCiUJiLiTY.—¥feis Act sfeaH apply notwith

7 standing any other provision of tewr

8 {b> Se\T3IIADILITY.—M m^ pro\dsion of tbis Aet^ op

9 the application of ftay pro\i8ion of this Aet to afty person

10 or circumstance, is heid invalid, the application of such

11 pro\i3ion to other persons or circumstances, a«4 the fe-

ll mainder of this Aetj shall ttot he affected thereby.

13 SECTION 1. SHORT TITLE.

14 This Act may he cited as the "Regulatory Transition

15 Act of 1995".

16 SEC. 2. FINDING.

17 The Congress finds that effective steps for improving

18 the efficiency and proper management of Government oper-

19 ations will he promoted if a moratorium on certain signifi-

20 cant regulatory actions is imposed and an inventory ofsuch

21 actions is conducted.

22 SEC. 3. MORATORIUMON REGULATIONS.

23 (a) Moratorium.—During the moratorium period, a

24 Federal agency may not take any significant regulatory ac-

25 tion, unless permitted under section 5. Beginning 30 days
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1 after the date of enactment of this Act, the effectiveness of

2 any significant regulatory action taken during the morato-

3 rium period hut before the date of the enactment shall he

4 suspended until the end of the moratorium, unless an excep-

5 tion is provided under section 5.

6 (h) Inventory of Rulemaking.—Not later than 30

7 days after the date of enactment of this Act, and on a

8 monthly hasis thereafter, the Administrator of the Office of

9 Information and Regulatory Affairs within the Office of

10 Management and Budget shall conduct an inventory and

1

1

puhlish in the Federal Register a list of all significant regu-

12 latory actions covered hy subsection (a), identifying those

13 which have heen granted an exception as provided under

14 section 5.

15 SEC, 4. SPECIAL RULE ON STATUTORY, REGULATORY AND

16 JUDICIAL DEADLINES.

17 (a) In General.—Any deadline for, relating to, or in-

18 volving any action dependent upon, any significant regu-

19 latory action prohibited or suspended under section 3 is ex-

20 tended for 5 months or until the date occurring 5 months

21 after the end of the moratorium period, whichever is later.

22 (h) Deadline Defined.—The term "deadline" means

23 any date certain for fulfilling any obligation or exercising

24 any authority established by or under any Federal statute

•S 219 RS



79

9

1 or regulation, or by or under any court order implementing

2 any Federal statute or regulation.

3 (c) Identification of Postponed Deadlines.—Not

4 later than 30 days after the date of enactment of this Act,

5 the Administrator of the Office of Information and Regu-

6 latory Affairs within the Office of Management and Budget

1 shall identify and publish in the Federal Register a list of

8 deadlines covered by subsection (a).

9 SEC. 5. EXCEPTIONS.

10 (a) In General.—Except as provided in subsection

1

1

(b), section 3(a) or 4(a), or both, shall not apply to a sig-

12 nificant regulatory action if—

13 (1) the head of a Federal agency otherwise au-

14 thorized to take the action submits a written request

15 to the President, and a copy thereof to the appro-

16 priate committees of each hou^e of the Congress;

17 (2) the President finds, in writing, the action

18 is—

19 (A) necessary because of an imminent

20 threat to human health or safety or other emer-

21 gency;

22 (B) necessary for the enforcement of crimi-

23 nal laws;

24 (C) related to a regulation that has as its

25 principal effect fostering economic growth, re-

S 219 RS 2



80

10

1 pealing, narrowing, or streamlining a rule, regu-

2 lation, administrative process, or otherwise re-

3 ducing regulatory burdens;

4 (D) issued with respect to matters relating

5 to military or foreign affairs or international

6 trade;

7 (E) principally related to agency organiza-

8 . tion, management, or personnel;

9 (F) a routine administrative action, or

10 principally related to public property, loans,

1

1

grants, benefits, or contracts;

12 (G) limited to matters relating to negotiated

13 rulemaking carried out between Indian tribes

14 and the applicable agency under the Indian Self-

15 Determination Act Amendments of 1994 (Public

16 Law 103-413; 108 Stat. 4250); or

17 (H) limited to interpreting, implementing,

18 or administering the internal revenue laws of the

19 United States; and

20 (3) the Federal agency head publishes the finding

21 in the Federal Register.

22 (b) Inapplicability of Exceptions.—The authority

23 provided under subsection (a) shall not apply to any action

24 described under section 6(B) (ii).
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1 SEC. 6. DEFINITIONS.

2 For purposes of this Act—
3 . (1) Federal agency.—The term "Federal agen-

4 cy" means any "agency" as that term is defined in

5 section 551(1) of title 5, United States Code (relating

6 ' to administrative procedure).

7 (2) Moratorium period.—The term "morato-

8 rium period" means that period of time beginning

9 November 9, 1994, and ending on December 31, 1995,

10 unless an Act of Congress provides an earlier termi-

1

1

nation date for such period.

12 (3) Significant regulatory action.—The

13 term "significant regulatory action" means any ac-

14 tion that—
15 (A)(i) consists of the issuance of any sub-

16 stantive rule, interpretative rule, statement of

17 agency policy, guidance, guidelines, or notice of

18 proposed rulemaking; and

19 (ii) the Administrator of the Office of Infor-

20 mation and Regulatory Affairs within the Office

21 of Management and Budget finds— -

22 (I) has an annual effect on the econ-

23 omy of $100,000,000 or more or adversely

24 affects in a material way the economy, a

25 sector of the economy, prvductivity, com-

26 petition, jobs, the environment, public
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1 health or safety, or State, local, or tribal

2 governments or communities;

3 (II) creates a serious inconsistency or

4 otherwise interferes with an action taken or

5 planned hy another agency;

6 (III) materially alters the budgetary

1 import of entitlements, grants, user fees, or

8 loan programs or the rights and obligations

9 of recipients thereof; or

10 (IV) raises novel legal or policy issues

1

1

arising out of legal mandates, the Presi-

12 dent's priorities, or the principles set forth

1

3

in Executive Order 12866; or

14 (B)(i) withdraws or restricts recreational,

1

5

subsistence, or commercial use of any land under

16 the control of a Federal agency, except for those

17 actions described under paragraph (4) (K) and

18 (L); or

19 (ii) is taken to carry out—
20 (I) the Interagency Memorandum of

2 1 Agreement Concerning Wetlands Deter-

22 minations for Purposes of Section 404 of the

23 Clean Water Act and Subtitle B of the Food

24 Security Act (59 Fed. Reg. 2920) (referred
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1 to in this clause as the "Memorandum of

2 Agreement"); or

3 (II) any method of delineating wet-

4 lands based on the Memorandum of Agree-

5 ment for purposes of carrying out subtitle C

6 of title XII of the Food Security Act of 1985

7 (16 U.S.C. 3821 et seq.) or section 404 of

8 the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33

9 U.S.C. 1344).

10 (4) RULE; GUIDANCE; OR GUIDELINES.—The

11 terms "rule", "guidance", or "guideline" mean the

12 whole or a part of an agency statement of general or

13 particular applicability and future effect designed to

14 implement, interpret, or prescribe law or policy. Such

15 term shall not include—
16 (A) the approval or prescription, including

17 on a case-by-case or consolidated case basis, for

18 the future of rates, wages, corporate or financial

19 structures or reorganization thereof, prices, fa-

20 duties, appliances, services or allowances there-

21 for or of valuations, costs, or accounting, or

22 practices bearing on any of the foregoing;

23 (B) any action taken in connection with the

24 implementation of monetary policy or to ensure

25 the safety and soundness offederally insured de-
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1 pository institutions, any affiliate of such an in-

2 stitution, credit unions, the Federal Home Loan

3 Banks, or Government sponsored housing enter-

4 prises, or to protect the Federal deposit insur-

5 ance funds;

6 (C) any action taken to ensure the safety

7 . and soundness of a Farm Credit System institu-

8 tion or to protect the Farm Credit Insurance

9 Fund;

10 (D) any action taken in connection with the

11 reintroduction of non-essential experimental pop-

12 ulations of wolves before the date of the enact-

13 ment of this Act;

14 (E) any action by the Environmental Pro-

15 tection Agency that would protect the public

16 from exposure to lead from house paint, soil, or

17 drinking water;

18 (F) any action to provide compensation to

19 Persian Gulf War veterans for disability from

20 undiagnosed illnesses, as provided under the Per-

il sian Gulf War Veterans' Benefits Act (title I of

22 Public Law 103-446; 108 Stat. 4647) and the

23 amendments made by that Act;
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1 (G) any action to improve aircraft safety,

2 including such an action to improve the air-

3 worthiness of aircraft engines;

4 (H) any action that would upgrade safety

5 and training standards for commuter airlines to

6 the standards of major airlines;

7 (I) the promulgation of any rule or regula-

8 tion relating to aircraft overflights on national

9 parks by the Secretary of Transportation or the

10 Secretary of the Interior pursuant to the proce-

11 dures specified in the advanced notice of pro-

12 posed rulemaking published on March 17, 1994,

13 at 59 Fed. Reg. 12740 et seq., except that this

14 subparagraph shall not apply to any siich over-

15 flight in the State ofAlaska;

16 (J) any clarification of existing responsibil-

17 ities regarding highway safety warning devices;

18 (K) any action that establishes, modifies,

19 opens, closes, or conducts a regulatory program

20 for a commercial, recreational, or subsistence ac-

2

1

tivity relating to hunting, fishing, or camping, if

22 a Federal law prohibits such activity in the ab-

23 sence of agency action; or

24 (L) the granting of an application for or is-

25 suance of a license, registration, or similar au-
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1 thority, granting or recognizing an exemption,

2 granting a variance or petition for relieffrom a

3 regulatory requirement, or other action relieving

4 a restriction, or taking any action necessary to

5 permit new or improved applications of tech-

6 nology or allow manufacture, distribution, sale,

7 or use of a substance or product.

8 (5) License.—The term ''license" means the

9 whole or part of an agency permit, lease, certificate,

10 approval, registration, charter, membership, statutory

1

1

exemption, or other form of permission, including any

12 such form of permission relating to hunting and fish-

1

3

ing.

14 (6) Public property.—The term "public prop-

15 erty" means all property under the control of a Fed-

16 eral agency, other than land.

17 SEC. 7. EXCLUSIONS.

18 This Act shall not apply to any significant regulatory

19 action that establishes or enforces any statutory rights that

20 prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, religion, sex,

21 age, national origin, handicap, or disability status.

22 sec. 8. CIVIL ACTION.

23 No determination under this Act or agency interpreta-

24 tion under section 6(4) shall be subject to adjudicative re-

25 view before an administrative tribunal or couri of law.

•S 219 RS



87

17

1 SEC. 9. SEVERABILITY.

2 (a) Applicability.—This Act shall apply notwith-

3 standing any other provision oflaw.

4 (b) Severability.—If any provision of this Act, or

5 the application of any provision of this Act to any person

6 or circumstance, is held invalid, the application of such

7 provision to other persons or circumstances, and the re-

8 mainder of this Act, shall not he affected thereby.

O .
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